
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Thursday 25 January 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Declarations of Interest  

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2017  (Pages 5 - 14)

5. Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update Report: 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, 
Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans - Verbal update of Chief 
Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer,  
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group  

6. Local Maternity System Prevention Priorities - Report and Presentation 
of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council  (Pages 15 - 22)

7. Area Action Partnership Links - 6 Month Update Report - Report of 
Area Action Partnership Co-ordinator, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 23 - 30)

8. Healthy Child Programme Board Update -  Report and Presentation of 
Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council  (Pages 31 - 38)



9. Health Protection Assurance 2017/18 - Joint Report of Director of 
Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council, Deputy Director of Health Protection, North East 
Public Health England and Consultant  in Health Protection, North East 
Public Health England  (Pages 39 - 102)

10. Working Towards a Healthy Weight in County Durham - Report of 
Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council  (Pages 103 - 148)

11. Prevention at Scale - Joint Report and Presentation of Corporate 
Director Adults and Health Services and Head of Partnerships and 
Community Engagement, Transformation & Partnerships, Durham 
County Council  (Pages 149 - 150)

12. Fast Track Plan - Transforming Care for People with a Learning 
Disability - Report of Commissioning and Delivery Manager, NHS North 
Durham CCG & NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG   
(Pages 151 - 156)

13. North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group and Tees Esk 
Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust - Partnership for Learning 
Disabilities and Mental Health -Report of  Director of Corporate 
Programmes, Operations and Delivery, NHS North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group  (Pages 157 - 162)

14. Winter Pressures - Verbal update of Chief Clinical Officer, Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group  

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

16. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services



County Hall
Durham
17 January 2018

Councillors L Hovvels, O Gunn and J Allen

J Robinson Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council

M Whellans Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council

A Healy Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council

N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust

C Martin Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

C Harries City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham
S Lamb Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust
L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

A Reiss

C Bage

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704

To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board,
 
Durham County Council



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, 
Durham on Monday 27 November 2017 at 1.00 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman) 

 

Members of the Board: 

Councillors J Allen and O Gunn, J Gillon, C Harries, A Healy, B Jackson, L Jeavons, J 
Robinson, J Chandy, G Curry and P Scott 
 
 

 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Dr S Findlay, N Bailey, S Jacques, S 
Lamb, C Martin, A Reiss, Dr D Smart, Dr J Smith and M Whellans 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
G Curry for S Jacques, J Chandy for DDES and North Durham CCGs and P Scott 
for C Martin. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

5 Membership of Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
The Board considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, 
Resources, Durham County Council that sought views on inviting County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority to become an additional voting member 
and that advised of additional changes to the membership of the Board (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
That a representative of County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 
becoming an additional voting member of the Health and Wellbeing Board be 
agreed. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
The Chairman welcomed Colin Bage, Deputy Chief Fire Officer to the meeting. 
 
 

6 Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update - Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear and North Durham and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plans  
 
The Director of Primary Care and Engagement, DDES CCG advised the Board that 
the STP workstreams were continuing to progress the 14 areas of work.  
 
The Interim Chief Executive of North Tees and Hartlepool NHS FT added that Alan 
Foster was leading on the governance arrangements for all three local STPs and he 
was actively talking to all stakeholders. 
 
Resolved: 
That the update be noted. 
 

7 Children and Young People's Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Local Transformation Plan  
 
The Board received a report of the Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and 
Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief 
Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group that gave a background to the development of the nationally required 
children and young people’s mental health, emotional wellbeing and resilience local 
transformation plan (CYP MH LTP), how the CYP MH LTP feeds into the County 
wide strategic mental health plan on a page and to describe the current governance 
arrangements for the plans (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Primary Care and Engagement, DDES CCG highlighted the key 
priorities and challenges. 
 
Councillor Gunn had met with the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and they would like to be assured that the right people were 
involved to inform of the development of the plan at an early stage and to ensure it 
was co-produced with young people. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the information provided in the report regarding the assurance of the 
transformation plan being progressed at a local level be noted. 

(ii) That the priorities for 2017/18 be noted and agreed. 
(iii) That the refreshed plan and priorities for action be endorsed. 
(iv) That to receive an updated children and young people mental health local 

transformation plan in March 2018 be agreed. 
 

8 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report  
 
The Board considered a report of the Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council that described the progress being made 

Page 6



against the priorities and outcomes set within the County Durham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Corporate Scrutiny & Performance Manager, Durham County Council 
highlighted the performance against the six objectives.  Smoking at the time of 
delivery remained high in the area compared to the national and North East 
average.  Although breastfeeding had improved the figures were still below the 
national average and teenage conceptions had continued to decrease. 
Performance was being closely monitored in relation to health checks and although 
above the national average, cancer waiting times were still below target.  A new 
provider would take on the role of Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service from 
February 2018.  With regards to suicide rates the authority were 5th out of the 12 
regional authorities and the board were advised that Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee were completing a piece of work about suicides. 
 
The Chairman asked how we were reaching those people affected by the change in 
the Drug and Alcohol Provider.  The Corporate Director of Adults and Health 
Services advised that there was a real focus on communication before the service 
goes live and she assured the board that this would be closely monitored. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the performance highlights and areas for improvements identified 
throughout the report be noted. 

(ii) That the actions taking place to improve performance be noted, and any 
additional action planning required be agreed. 

(iii) That performance against the 2016/17 Quality Premium Indicators be noted. 
 
 

9 Draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 - Consultation  
 
The Committee received a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that presented the draft 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 for comments before the statutory 60 day 
consultation which runs from 28th November until 26th January (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Public Health Pharmacist advised the Board that they would be asked to 
approve the final version of the PNA in March 2018 before publication on the 
Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) website by 1st April 2018.  She added that the 
PNA considers the health needs of the population and the provision of 
pharmaceutical services and a judgement would be made if there was sufficient 
services or potential gaps.  The Board were informed that the conclusion of the 
PNA said that there were sufficient services across County Durham. 
 
The Public Health Pharmacist thanked Healthwatch for their involvement and the 
number of good public responses received.   
 
Mr Jackson was advised that online pharmacies were exempt from this. 
 

Page 7



The Public Health Pharmacist added that the PNA was a live document that would 
be backed up by supplementary statements as and when changes in pharmacy 
services occurred. 
 
The Director of Public Health County Durham thanked the Public Health 
Pharmacist.  She said that this was really positive for County Durham and she 
advised that we would be involved in assessing other local authorities PNA’s when 
on the border of County Durham. 
 
Resolved: 
That comments on the current draft PNA 2018-21 before it begins the statutory 60 
day consultation in preparation for publication of the final PNA 2018-21 on the INA 
website by 1st April 2018 be noted. 
 

10 Public Health England Child Health and Health Profiles 2017 for County 
Durham  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that introduced the Public 
Health England (PHE) Child Health and Health Profiles 2017 for County Durham, 
and compared indicators against the previous profile (2016) (for copy see file of 
Minutes).  
 
The Director of Public Health advised that the indicators used in the profile did not 
necessarily represent the most recent performance data, as it was not a 
performance management tool. It presented a snapshot in time, and all indicator 
time periods were dated. She highlighted the key findings and reported that there 
was a focus on the areas where performance was worse than the previous period. 
 
Councillor Gunn was pleased to see the areas being addressed but was concerned 
that the number of children living in poverty was 23.9%. 
 
The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services said it would be useful to have 
an update to a future board meeting to show what had been done with regards to 
poverty.  Councillor Gunn said that it was important to bring all aspects of work 
together.  The Director of Public Health said that health and wealth go together and 
that it was crucial to have an update on the Health and Wellbeing Board forward 
plan.  She added that tobacco control was a success area which we could look to 
emulate across other programmes.  
 
The Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement said that it was important to 
share best practice through the AAPs with regards to the prevention agenda and by 
encouraging people to help themselves.  He added that every contact counts and 
volunteering opportunities should be taken up where possible. 
 
Following on from this the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services said that 
a wider approach to tackling poverty in the school day was needed. 
  
Resolved: 

(i) That the information within the health profiles be noted. 

Page 8



(ii) That the health profiles form part of a wide range of information drawn 
together in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment be noted. 

(iii) That the profiles were being used as a key data to inform the refresh of the 
Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy and other partnership plans be 
acknowledged. 

 
11 County Durham Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Framework (0-19 years) 

2017-2020  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that presented a revised 
delivery framework for the prevention of unintentional injuries in children and young 
people (0-19 years) in County Durham 2017-2020 (Appendix 4), following 
consultation. The action plan was also included as part of the framework towards 
the end of Appendix 4 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the amendments to the framework following consultation be noted.  
(ii) That final comments be provided and sign off on the revised unintentional 

injuries delivery framework be agreed. 
 

12 eXtreme Group - Children's and Young People's SEND 'Promise' for County 
Durham  
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Manager SEND and Inclusion, 
Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council that provided an 
overview of the content and recommendations for the Children and Young People’s 
SEND (Special Education Needs and Disability) ‘Promise’ developed by the 
eXtreme Group (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Chairman welcomed to the meeting Chris Affleck, Project Worker for Investing 
in Children together with E and J from the eXtreme Group. 
 
Chris explained that E and J were young people from County Durham with a 
disability and that they were part of the eXtreme Group that looked at how to make 
lives better and that gave the opportunity to talk about issues that affected them. 
 
E and J gave a presentation to the Board about the SEND promise.  They gave 
details about an event that they had arranged and the feedback taken from that.  
They were in the process of arranging a further event and they were asking 
organisations to sign up to the promise.  The event gave young people the chance 
to find out information of what was available to them.  They hoped to be able to talk 
to people about the transition into jobs and apprenticeships and the event also 
offered activities such as sport and entertainment. 
 
The Board and its partners were asked to adopt the principles set out in the SEND 
‘promise’. 
 
The ‘Promise’ includes the following themes:  
 

Page 9



• Education  
• Health  
• Activities/Leisure Provision  
• Respite Opportunities  
• Transport  
• Children in Care  
• Employment  
• Access to information  
• Having a Voice 
 
The Chairman thanked E and J for their presentation and said that it was evident 
that they enjoyed what they did.  She said that it was important that their voices 
were heard and were responded to.  She asked if they would return to a future 
meeting to give a further update. 
 
Chris thanked the Board for the opportunity to attend the meeting and said that E 
and J were great advocates for the group.  He asked the Board to promote the 
SEND promise. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the Children and Young People’s SEND ‘Promise’ as the children and 
young people with SEND charter for the Local Area be recognised. 

(ii) That the ‘Promise’ as it relates to the Health and Wellbeing Board and its 
partners be approved. 

(iii) That the ‘Promise’ throughout the Health and Wellbeing Board and its 
partners be cascaded. 

 
13 Oral Health Update  

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that gave an update on the 
possibility of implementing water fluoridation in response to the poor levels of oral 
health and associated harms locally (for copy see file of Minutes).   
 
The Chairman welcomed Peter Kelly, Regional Director for Public Health England 
to the meeting. 
 
The Director of Public Health said that oral health was very important for general 
health and wellbeing and she reported that there were inequalities throughout the 
County with regards to tooth decay in children.  She went on to highlight the 
benefits of fluoridation. 
 
The Regional Director for Public Health England explained how evidence had 
shown where there was natural occurring fluoride or from schemes where fluoride 
had been introduced, tooth decay was a lot less than areas without it.   He added 
that Public Health England had found no evidence of any adverse effects. 
 
The Board were advised of the 3 options and the preferred option identified at 
paragraph 1 of the report would also benefit residents in Sunderland and South 
Tyneside and would therefore require agreement and joint working:- 

Page 10



 

 Option 1. According to Northumbrian Water the simplest and most 
economic method of fluoridating a water supply is to construct the 
fluoridation plant at all the water treatments works supplying County 
Durham.  These Water Treatment Works also supply water to properties 
within Sunderland and South Tyneside Council boundaries. The capital 
cost is approximately £1,200,000.  

 
On answering a question from the Chairman about timescales, the Regional 
Director Public Health England said that it was important to get the process 
precisely correct and therefore timescales might longer than outlined.  He advised 
that the feasibility study would take 3-6 months once agreement had been reached 
to go ahead by Sunderland and South Tyneside.  A technical appraisal would then 
be carried out followed by a consultation in the autumn of next year.  Public Health 
England would support the local authorities with any subsequent consultation. 
 
The Chairman commented that it was important to get the consultation phase right 
and she believed that this would help to give young people the best start in life.  
The Regional Director of Public Health England said that Durham were leading on 
this and agreed that the evidence was overwhelming and he believed that this was 
a very strong proposal. 
 
Councillor Gunn asked how long it would take to see the benefits of this scheme 
and was informed that once water was fluoridated this had an immediate effect on 
children and if based on the current timeline this would be after 2020. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That option 1 involving the construction of a fluoridation plant at all water 
treatment works in County Durham be adopted as the preferred option be 
agreed. 

(ii) That the progression to a full technical appraisal of fluoridation of County 
Durham (the central supply area) be agreed. 

(iii) That a further report would be submitted to the Board following completion of 
the technical appraisal be noted. 

 
 

14 Integration Update  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Integration, North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
Durham County Council that provided progress with regard to Community 
Hubs/Teams Around Practices (TAP) (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Referring to the BCF funding the Chairman asked what the consequences would be 
of not meeting the delayed transfer of care target. The Corporate Director of Adult 
and Health Services explained that there may be a financial risk if the delayed 
transfer of care target was not met. 
 
The Director of Primary Care and Engagement reported that the DDES CCG had 
welcomed the TAP approach and could see the co-ordination of community nursing 

Page 11



working well.  North Durham CCG colleagues were enthusiastic about the 
integration arrangements and he confirmed that both CCGs were supportive around 
the TAP development. 
 
Councillor Allen asked what difference would be seen by members of the public.  
The Director of Integration said that activity was being managed better and 
therefore time was freed up to enable work to be carried out.  In terms of 
assessment she explained that this would not be duplicated by lots of different 
professionals, and for the older person care would be centred where possible in the 
home rather than in hospital. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the content of the report be noted. 
(ii) That to receive further updates in relation to Health and Social Care 

Integration on a six monthly basis be agreed. 
 

15 Refreshing Durham's Mental Health and the Work of the Mental Health 
Partnership Board  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that presented the draft 
priorities for mental health into a single plan on a page that asked for agreement for 
wider consultation (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The report also highlighted a number of crosscutting themes, and provided an 
update on the current governance arrangements. 
 
Councillor Gunn was pleased to see so much emphasis on schools. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the draft strategic mental health plan (Appendix 2) on a page for wider 
consultation be agreed. 

(ii) That the consultation timeline for agreement of the strategic mental health 
plan on a page in March 2018 be noted. 

 
16 Exclusion of the public  

 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 

17 Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services Regulations 2013  
 
The Board considered a report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council that provided details in relation to the 
closure of a Practice Dispensary in accordance with the NHS (Pharmaceutical and 
Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013. 

Page 12



 
Resolved: 
That the recommendations contained within the report be approved. 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Local Maternity System Prevention Priorities 

 

 
 

Report of  Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council  

 
Purpose of the report 

 
1 To provide an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the local 

maternity system (LMS) plans for prevention and how the ambitions will be 
achieved. 

 
Background context 

 
2 The five year forward view for maternity care, Better Births, has been 

published with the ambition to improve outcomes for maternity services in 
England. The vision for maternity services across England is: 

 For them to become safer, more personalised, kinder, professional and 
more family friendly; where every woman has access to information to 
enable her to make decisions about her care and where she and her baby 
can access support that is centred around their individual needs and 
circumstances. 

 And for all staff to be supported to deliver care which is woman centred, 
working in high performing teams, in organisations which are well led and 
in cultures which promote innovation, continuous learning, and break down 
organisational and professional boundaries.  The scope of the prevention 
and early help pathway incorporates the universal and early help more 
targeted components of a larger mental health offer across County 
Durham.  Out of scope for this paper is the expansion and improvement of 
mental health treatment and recovery services.  

3 The key North East regional work streams to achieve this vision include:  

 Personalised care 

 Continuity of carer 

 Safer care 

 Better postnatal and perinatal mental health 

 Multi professional working (those who work together should train together) 

 Working  across boundaries (community hubs) 

 A payment system (fair and adequate funding to enable high quality care 
to be provided)  

 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 
What are Local Maternity Systems (LMS)? 
 
4 On a more local level, providers and commissioners should operate as local 

maternity systems (LMS), with the aim of ensuring that women, babies and 
families are able to access the services they need and choose, in the 
community, as close to home as possible.  It is envisaged that a LMS would 
be a population size of approximately 500,000 to 1.5 million, being 
coterminous with existing local neonatal networks where it makes sense to do 
so. In the North East there are two LMS boards established; North 
(Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham) and South (Durham, 
Darlington, Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby), reflective of 
the sustainable transformation plan (STP) footprints.  There is a third LMS 
board to cover North Cumbria and the plans for this LMS are closely aligned 
to the North East plans with the same recognition of the importance of the 
prevention workstreams. The LMS must deliver a shift in focus from individual 
organisations delivering components of maternity care to a whole system 
approach, embedded in the local community, with robust regional pathways to 
ensure the best possible care is available at the right time at the right place. 
 

5 The three LMS boards were required to submit LMS plans to NHS England in 
October 2017 which articulated the vision of how Better Births will be 
implemented locally by 2020/21.   The work of the LMS is running 
concurrently with the STP work on acute service provision.  

 
Prevention 
 
6 There is a clear mandate from NHS England to reduce England stillbirths by 

50% by 2030. The North East and Cumbria is currently in line with England for 
stillbirth rates which is 4.5 per 1000 births (2013 – 2015).  When reviewing the 
data there is a clear socio economic gradient with stillbirth rates with babies 
born into the most deprived deciles statistically significantly higher than 
stillbirth rates within the least deprived deciles.  The priorities for prevention 
must ensure they are working to address this reduction in stillbirths as well as 
reducing neonatal deaths (death within 28 days of birth). In addition to this 
there is an underlying commitment to minimise avoidable harm, unwarranted 
variation in health care and tackle persistent inequalities between women of 
different socio demographic backgrounds.  
 

7 Better Births makes explicit reference to the importance of improving 
prevention and reducing health inequalities. Most babies and children in 
England are healthy and well but there are significant variations and 
inequalities in health, education and social outcomes with children from 
poorer backgrounds more likely to have poorer outcomes. Too many children 
do not have the best start in life that they need to thrive. Maternity services, 
and the LMS more broadly, must recognise the leadership role they play in 
supporting parents of all backgrounds to maximise their own mental and 
physical health whilst also equipping parents with the skills, information and 
confidence to maximise their child’s emotional, physical and cognitive 
development. The maternity systems are in a position to identify need through 

Page 16



robust assessment procedures and either deliver an intervention themselves 
or refer on to relevant agencies.   

 
8 There is full acknowledgment that maternity services cannot improve 

prevention indicators in a vacuum and the implementation of successful 
community hubs, working through multi professional partnerships (including 
professionals such as health visitors, mental health nurses, housing teams 
and wider support from voluntary and community organisations), is integral to 
implementation of the prevention agenda. 
 

9 Improving prevention is everybody’s business and for that reason it is 
recommended that a standalone prevention work stream is avoided and 
instead opt to identify the priority areas of work and ensure they are 
embedded into the existing 7 work streams designed to achieve Better Births.  
It is hoped that this approach will raise the profile of prevention and ensure 
measurable indicators are tracked by designated work streams. Governance 
will come through the LMS boards and the maternity clinical advisory group.   

 
10 Whilst the two North East LMS boards have agreed the same prevention must 

do priorities as North Cumbria the implementation will be locally specific. 
 
Priorities for prevention 
 
11 The data/intelligence available, combined with a review of NICE guidance and 

the Chief Medical Officer’s (CMO) recommendations has enabled a short list 
of priorities to be pursued which can be measured and structured into 
challenging but achievable ambitions. 

 
Seven Prevention Must Do’s  
 
12 Table one in appendix two documents the prevention ambitions and interim 

ambitions: 
 
I. Reducing  smoking in pregnancy; 

 
II. Increase vaccination uptake in pregnancy; 

 
III. Improve perinatal mental health; 

 
IV. Reduce  alcohol consumption in pregnancy; 
 
V. Increase breastfeeding  initiation  rates and rates of ongoing 

breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks; 
 
VI. Promoting healthy weight and supporting women who are obese pre-

conceptually, antenatally and postnatally.  This would include promoting 
a healthy pre-pregnant weight as well as ensuring full implementation of 
national guidance for women with a BMI of 30 or more at booking and a 
postnatal referral for structured weight management support referral in 
those women who have a BMI 30 or above at the 6 – 8 week check; 

Page 17



 
VII. Increase making every contact count. 

 
13 The prevention must do areas will have measurable indicators and will be part 

of the regional maternity dash board.   
 
Progress to date 
 
14 The first part of implementation is to ensure there is a robust baseline 

understanding of where all maternity care pathways are at in relation to the 
seven prevention must do’s. An audit is currently being completed which will 
provide baseline by March 2018. 

 
15 Funding has been secured from the two LMS boards to support the 

prevention work. This funding will be spent on workforce development with a 
focus on perinatal mental health.  There is also the need to raise awareness 
of the LMS prevention must do’s beyond NHS partners so there is to be a 
north east symposium in June 2018 inviting local authority children’s services, 
primary care and Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) partners to understand 
their roles and responsibilities within the maternity pathway. 

 
16 2018/19 funding will support robust implementation across all eight maternity 

units as the interim prevention ambitions are being realised. 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
17 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is recommended to: 
 

(a) Ask all HWB partner organisations to actively support the successful 
implementation of the seven prevention must do areas of work at a 
County Durham level. 

 
 
 

Contact:  Gill O’Neill, Public Health Consultant  
Tel: 03000 267696 

Page 18



 
Finance - LMS: non recurrent funding available from LMS boards to progress 
prevention work and awaiting confirmation on non-recurrent funding from Public 
Health England. 
 
Staffing - Existing staff working collaboratively at regional and local level. 
 
Risk - Risk will be assessed as part of individual plans and groups. 
 
Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty – LMS boards are working to 
reduce inequalities in outcomes. 
 
Accommodation - NA 
 
Crime and Disorder - N/A 
 
Human Rights - N/A 
 
Consultation - LMS boards have a robust parent voices group 
 
Procurement – N/A 
 
Disability Issues – N/A 
 
Legal Implications - Legal advice will be sought as relevant  
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 19



 

Appendix Two:  LMS prevention must do ambitions 

 
 

Must do Level of ambition 
 

Action required Implications 

Reduce smoking in pregnancy 
(SiP) 

 5% SATOD by 2025 in line 
with regional ambition 

 Interim ambition: 10% by 
2020  

 Implement NICE guidance 
systematically in every 
maternity unit 

 Audit baseline of pre/post 
SiP 

 Share good practice across 
region 

 Support STP work to 
encourage the NHS trusts to 
be smoke free 
 

 Organisational commitment to 
prevention 

 Professional standards – Co 
monitor essential equipment to 
carry out role 

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 Interdependencies and 
pathways 

 

Increase vaccination in 
pregnancy 

 95% uptake by 2025 

 Interim ambition: 90% by 
2020  

 Effective and clear 
commissioning of all 
maternity units in the LMS 

 Explicit remuneration to 
maternity services to deliver 
vaccinations in pregnancy 

 A change of commissioning 
directly with maternity 

 Organisational commitment 
and culture  

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 Ordering of vaccines 
 

Improve perinatal mental 
health 

 100% of women assessed 
during pregnancy by 2025 

 100% of women requiring 
specialist support being seen 
by 2025  

 Interim ambition: 90% of 
women 

 Standardised 
implementation of perinatal 
MH pathway implemented  
across LMS  

 Local pathways are aligned 
to wider offer of support in 
communities 

 Clarity of commissioning 
intentions 

 Workforce development and 
training (skill mix) 

 Understand baseline data and 
benchmarking 

 Interdependencies and 
pathways 
 

P
age 20



 

Reduce alcohol in pregnancy 
(AiP) 

 Less than 5% of women 
drink alcohol in pregnancy by 
2025 

 Interim ambition: Less than 
10% by 2020  

 Determine standardised 
assessment for alcohol 
consumption in pregnancy 

 Baseline data / intelligence 
using standardised 
assessment tool 

 Design, implement and 
evaluate brief interventions 
for maternity units / 
community 
 

 Support from FUSE to co-
design and evaluate AiP brief 
intervention and pathway 

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 Interdependencies and 
pathways 

 

Increase breastfeeding (BF) 
initiation and 6 – 8 weeks 

 100% maternity units / 
community settings at level 3 
Unicef UK Baby friendly 
accreditation by 2025 

 Interim ambition: 100% units 
at level 2 2020 

 BF rates for LMS at initiation 
and 6 – 8 weeks equivalent 
to or greater than rates for 
England by 2025 
 

 Implement Unicef 
accreditation requirements 
as an LMS 

 Share good practice and 
learning 

 Contribute towards changing 
the social norm in society 

 Organisational commitment 

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 Interdependencies and 
pathways 

 

Promoting healthy weight and 
supporting women who are 
obese pre-conceptually, 
antenatally and postnatally. 

 Pre conception: 100% 
women are given healthy 
weight / nutrition advice at 
contraception clinics and 
family planning in primary 
care by 2025 

 Pregnancy: 100% women 
with BMI > 30  are supported 
using NICE guidance 
recommendations by 2025 

 Postnatal (6–8 week check): 
100% women with BMI >30 

 Baseline data / intelligence 
using standardised 
assessment process 

 Implement NICE guidance 
systematically in every LMS 
(maternal and child nutrition 
and weight management 
before, during and after 
pregnancy) 

 Promote CMO guidelines for 
physical activity in 
pregnancy 

 Organisational commitment 

 Interdependencies and 
pathways 

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 Three elements of intervention: 
pre-conception, during 
pregnancy and postnatal all 
requiring differing stakeholder 
engagement P

age 21



 

signposted to structured 
weight management 
programme by 2025 

 Interim ambition: 80% 
women by 2020 

 Share good practice and 
learning to understand 
baseline activity 

 Contribute towards the wider 
STP work on obesity 

 

Increase making every contact 
count (MECC) 

 100% staff trained in MECC 
by 2025 

 Interim ambition: 80% staff 
trained by 2020 

 MECC and prevention 
training mandatory in all 
maternity units and 
community settings 

 HENE develop prevention 
accredited units  
 

 Organisational commitment 
and culture 

 Workforce development / 
training (skill mix) 

 

P
age 22



 

 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Area Action Partnership Links – 6 Month 
Update Report 
 

 

 
 

Report of Andy Coulthard, Area Action Partnership Co-ordinator, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in relation to the work taking 

place to enhance the interface between Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and 
the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the alignment of AAP developments 
and investments and the priorities of the Partnerships.  

 
Background 
 
2 The last report on the work of AAPs was presented to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board in June 2017. This report forms part of a regular update to the Board that 
reviews joint working between health and wellbeing partners and the 14 AAPs. 
 

AAPs and Delivery Partnerships  
 
3 The following section provides an update on several county wide partnerships 

and services in which the AAPs are involved. It has been agreed with the lead 
agencies responsible that progress summaries will be provided through this 
report. 

 
Community Wellbeing Partnership (CWP) 
 

4 The function and purpose of the CWP is currently under review and will need to 
consider the outcome of the corporate transforming partnerships and 
prevention programmes. Depending upon the outcome of the discussion the 
AAPs would see this Partnership or an equivalent as being the arena for county 
wide discussion on practical health and wellbeing delivery involving the 
county’s community sector and statutory service providers. 
 
Wellbeing for Life (WBfL) 

 
5 The WBfL service is being recommissioned. A service specification has been 

developed by a working group consisting of representatives from Adults, 
Children’s, Public Health, REAL, Transformation and Partnerships (AAP Health 
& Wellbeing lead) and the Clinical Commissioning Groups. The specification 
has been released and an evaluation of tender submissions will take place in 
January 2018 with an expected contract start date of 1st April 2018. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

County Durham Dementia Action Alliance (CDDAA) 
 
6 In the last report it was highlighted that the CDDAA had agreed their Terms of 

Reference and, with the support of the AAPs and partners, developed an Action 
Plan linked to their aims and objectives. Cllr Lucy Hovvels, Chairperson of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, is due to attend a CDDAA meeting in the next 
couple of months to establish further links between the CDDAA and the Board.  
Cllr Hovvels, as well as several other local elected members, is also at the 
heart of developing numerous Dementia Friendly Communities across the 
county in the next few years alongside partners and led by the Alzheimer’s 
Society. 

 
7 Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC), a key target for development within the 

CDDAA action plan, have been, or are being, developed in the following AAPs/ 
towns – East Durham, Mid Durham, Chester le Street, Derwent Valley and 
Stanley, along with the towns of Trimdon, Shildon, Spennymoor and Bishop 
Auckland. Further DFC work has been developed and implemented in Beamish 
museum which is seen by many museums as an example of good practice. 
Work with Dalton Park and Durham City Centre will commence in the New Year 
to make their shops, food outlets and cinemas dementia friendly. From 
February, three Housing Associations (County Durham Housing Group, Karbon 
and NorthStar) have linked in with four of the AAPs to put in place a two year 
DFC Coordinator to support local communities to implement DFC across their 
geographical patches. 

 
8 Work is also underway to promote existing support services and improve 

resident’s awareness and knowledge of Dementia with an aim to improve 
earlier diagnosis. A recent planning report was taken to Cabinet which focused 
upon how future planning policy and procedures need to be developed to take 
into consideration dementia and other similar diseases. 

 
AAP Health and Wellbeing Focus Areas 
 
9 As highlighted in June’s report there are 11 AAPs who have Health & Wellbeing 

as a key priority, each of these operating a task and finish group whose remit is 
to use the 2016/17 AAP resident’s survey and service partner knowledge to 
identify the key issues they wish to address in their locality. During 2017 each 
AAP Board agreed to keep their priority themes for a period of two years to 
allow longer term focus on key areas of work. 

 

10 In summary, the resident’s survey for the Health and Wellbeing theme 
highlighted mental health, access to health services and physical health as their 
top three issues or causes for concern.    

 
11 What should also be noted is that all 14 AAPs have ‘Children, Young people 

and Families’ as a priority theme and eight have ‘Support for older people’ as a 
theme, both of which have mental health and emotional wellbeing as key 
issues/areas for concern.  

 

Page 24



 

 
 

12 Mental health and emotional resilience is an area that several AAPs have been 
exploring over the past few years with projects linked to men’s CREES, suicide 
prevention, children’s bereavement support and Buddy Befriending services.  
Due to this the AAPs are represented on the Mental Health Partnership Board 
as well as the Suicide Prevention Alliance and featured strongly in the 
December Suicide Prevention conference. 

  
13 Links with Active Durham and the Physical Activity agenda have been formed 

with AAP representatives linked to a number of working groups currently 
examining how to get residents more active.  The ‘Beat the Street’ pilot 
programme which was delivered in conjunction with Chester le Street and 4 
Together AAPs won Durham County Council’s ‘Great Staff, Great Stuff’ award 
for Innovation. Whilst another piece of physical activity work via the ‘Active 30’ 
group will see the development of a primary school support website which will 
be part of a ‘push’ to get more primary school children regularly active. This 
also links to a scheme being developed for local businesses to encourage staff 
members to be more physically active. 

 
14 One key health and wellbeing issue that will be examined by all 14 AAPs will be 

social isolation. From April 2018, each AAP will manage a Social Isolation Fund 
which will support community led initiatives that meet local needs, impact on 
County and AAP priorities as they relate to improving outcomes for older 
people who are socially isolated and encourage participation in activities and 
projects that provide opportunities for them to contribute positively to their local 
communities. Each AAP will receive £25,000 for the next three years and has 
been allocated through the Improved Better Care Fund to enable local 
preventative measures.  

 
15 Age UK County Durham in partnership with Mid Durham AAP have used their 

allocation of social isolation funding in an attempt to lever in funding from the 
Social Action Fund (Lottery and Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport led). A ‘place based’ intergenerational programme that will seek to bring 
residents of all ages together to examine such issues as physical, social and 
welfare wellbeing has been chosen by Durham County Council to be their 
‘flagship project. Only one project from each local authority can be entered with 
20 projects from around the country being chosen for the first phase of this 
Funds programme. It has the potential to be a seven year programme with 
£500,000 of funding available. Details of this will be announced in February.    

    
Summary of AAP Health and Wellbeing Projects for 2017/18 
 
16 Relevant Health and Wellbeing Partners continue to support and advise the 

AAP’s task and finish groups to avoid duplication and ensure that projects 
developed locally compliment and contribute to the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy priorities.  

  
17 An overview of the number of AAP supported Health and Wellbeing projects for 

2017/18 and the funding amounts approved and ‘levered in’ as matched will be 
provided in our next report to the Board. The following sections will provide a 

Page 25



 

 
 

brief overview of some of the AAP projects in either in development or recently 
approved during 2017/18. 

 
18 4 AAPs (Chester le Street, Durham, Mid Durham and Stanley) are working with 

the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service to develop a pilot 
project to address issues over winter deaths (cold related). A gap in provision 
was recognised by the Severe Weather Plan group when housing and social 
care partners highlighted schemes previously delivered by partners to provide 
vulnerable residents with heaters and winter warmth supplies had ceased. The 
AAPs have funded the pilot project which is based on a 24/7 service model of 
provision which has been in existence in Cleveland for eight years and is 
delivered by their Fire and Rescue service. The pilot will operate until March 
2019 with an ongoing evaluation being fed back into the Severe Weather Plan 
group. 

 
19 Several AAPs (East Durham Rural Corridor, GAMP, Mid Durham and 

Spennymoor – possibly Chester le Street) have funded the ‘Durham Savers’ 
Project which is delivered through Durham County Council’s REAL service, 
NEFirst and Prince Bishop’s Community Bank. The service will seek to educate 
children and young people about finance (budgeting, planning and saving).  
The project will seek to tackle financial naivety and provide a new generation of 
residents with the knowledge to be more financially astute in the future.  

 
20 Neighbourhood Budget funding has been used to extend the delivery of 

Buddies Befriending Service to individuals aged 50+ who live in the GAMP 
area. The aim of the project is to support older residents, specifically those who 
are isolated and lonely via a volunteer befriending project. The Neighbourhood 
Budget will build upon the AAP’s Area Budget allocation which saw 20 
volunteers trained and supported by the PCP to deliver befriending 
relationships of up to three months per client – enabling support to up to 57 
older residents over the last year. 

 
21 AAPs are being encouraged to consider food and nutrition with any school 

holiday activity programme they support to build upon the good work they have 
supported in the past. 

 
Shared and Supported Work 
 
22 As highlighted earlier in this report the AAPs continue to input into the Severe 

Weather Plan, Physical Activity, Mental Health and Suicide Prevention 
Partnerships/ Groups. The AAP representative responsible for connecting AAP 
work with that of the Health and Wellbeing Board partners is also part of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy working group and linked closely with the 
delivery of the ‘Big Tent Event’. AAP representatives, partners and their 
delivery programmes figured strongly at the Big Tent event with dementia, 
mental health and physical activity being a key focus for the workshops. 
 

23 The AAPs have also been involved in the Student Voice Survey Action Plan 
which is currently in development. Similar to the previously mentioned AAP 
Resident’s survey the Student Voice Survey (5,640 respondents from primary 

Page 26



 

 
 

and secondary schools) has identified key areas of concern that the plan 
intends to tackle. Areas of work that link to the Health and Wellbeing agenda, 
as well as that of the AAPs include the implementation of the ‘Durham 
Resilience’ and the ‘Youth Aware of Mental Health’ programmes; School nurse 
drop in sessions; the ‘Stamp It Out’ Mental Health Anti-Stigma and 
Discrimination Campaign; the ‘Just Simply Ask’ website and helpline; alcohol 
educational sessions; the ‘Hyper’ energy drink awareness campaign; school 
holiday activities linked to the provision and preparation of food; Get safe online 
and the ‘Active 30’ campaign. 
 

24 The AAPs supported the Local Government Association’s Prevention Matters 
Workshop on 12th December. The event provided elected members with an 
insight into the national and local context in relation to health improvement and 
health inequalities. It also provided the opportunity for members to examine the 
health issues and statistics for their local communities alongside supporting 
them to think about how they could become local health champions. Each AAP 
provided those present with an overview of their previous, current and future 
work on this agenda and used the Public Health’s ‘A walk through the life 
course’ infographic to provide the current health statistics for their AAP. A copy 
of the 3 Towns AAP information can be found in Appendix 2 (if you require a 
copy for any other AAP then please contact Andy Coulthard). 

 
Recommendations 

 
25 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to note: 

 
(a) The work that is taking place; 
(b) The improved alignment of work of the AAPs to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board; 
(c) The work by the AAPs during 2017/18 on addressing the Health and 

Wellbeing agenda; 
(d) The shared work that AAPs and partners are currently working on. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board Sponsor: Gordon Elliott 
  
Contact:  Andy Coulthard, Area Action Partnership Coordinator, Durham 

County Council   
Tel:  07818 510370  

 
 

Page 27



 

 
 

 
 

Finance                       
The finance highlighted within this report is linked to budgets provided to the AAPs 
via Durham County Council and Durham County Council’s Public Health with the 
Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 
contributing funding to the AAPs relevant to their delivery geography. 
 
Staffing         
Not applicable 
 
Risk          
Not applicable 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty    
Not applicable 
 
Accommodation        
Not applicable 
 
Crime and Disorder        
Not applicable 
 
Human Rights        
Not applicable 
 
Consultation         
The AAPs engage with local residents and partners throughout the year and base 
their work on the contributions provided. They provide an opportunity for residents 
and partners to be part of the working groups tasked to examine, develop and 
evaluate the outcomes of the aforementioned contributions. 
 
Procurement         
Not applicable 
 
Disability Issues        
A number of the projects/programmes highlighted within this report will have a 
positive impact on the quality of life of those residents and their families that are 
impacted upon by certain disabilities. 
 
Legal Implications        
Not applicable 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 28



 

 
 

 
  

3 Towns Partnership’s – A Response to Local Health Issues 
 
Purpose: To provide a brief overview of the work of the 3 Towns Partnership regarding local 
health issues. This brief will focus on preventative work to address health and wellbeing 
related issues. 
 
3 Towns Partnership Priorities for 2017/18: Our 3 key priorities are Children, Young 
People and Families, Health and Wellbeing and Community Safety.   
 
Key underlying issues for priorities: The following issues for each priority have been 
identified via the recent AAP Residents Survey conducted between November 2016 and 
February 2017. There were 7,976 responses across the county of which 3,346 were young 
people (3 Towns had 601 responses).   
 
Children, Young People and Families: Risky Behaviour including alcohol, drugs, smoking 
and crime. Employment including work experience, careers advice, getting a job and 
apprenticeships. Children’s physical, emotional and mental health. Activities including things 
to do during school holidays and things to for families.  
 
Health & Wellbeing: Social inclusion including access to activities/facilities and access to 
health services. Physical health including access to activities which help make you physically 
active.  
 
Community Safety: Anti-social behaviour, safe places for children to play, substance 
misuse (drugs, alcohol, illegal cigarettes).  
 
Key partners that Mid Durham AAP are working with on this agenda: Durham County 
Council ‘s Culture and Sport, Public Health, Clinical Commissioning Groups, Job Centre 
plus, Citizens Advice, Wellbeing for Life, Advice in County Durham, NHS, Alzheimer’s 
Society, Durham Community Action, Fire and Rescue Service, Police, Northern Heartlands, 
and a wide variety of local voluntary and community groups including Jack Drum Arts, 
Mohan Martial Arts, Crook Community leisure and Tow Law Community Association.  
 
Examples of Elected Members projects linked to this agenda: Members have supported 
school holiday activities; capital projects to improve sports facilities, several projects to tackle 
speeding including one at a primary school; sustained and developed leisure and social 
activity and facilities for all ages. 
 
Projects being developed in 3 Towns in 2017/18: 3 Towns have developed a programme 
in schools looking at emotional wellbeing, following on from a pilot in 3 primary schools by If 
u Care Share foundation. They will deliver the project in the remaining primary schools. The 
success of the targeted holiday activities and holiday activity grants from summer 2017 have 
been noted and 3 Towns are looking to develop a similar offer for future school holiday, 
ensuring that the most deprived families do not suffer due to ‘holiday hunger’. The AAP have 
worked with ‘Prison, me, no way!’ too look at a programme of workshops in both primary and 
secondary schools to tackle the issues around actions and consequences. Wheels to work 
scheme and robotics workshops have also been allocated funding. The expected impact of 
the introduction of Universal credit has also developed a project to tackle this issue as the 
roll out starts in December 2017.  
 

Appendix 2:   

Page 29



 

 
 

 

P
age 30



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 

 
Healthy Child Programme Board Update 

 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1 The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) 

on the progress made and next steps for the County Durham Healthy Child 
Programme Board (HCPB).  

Background 

 
2 There is robust evidence1 and national policy guidelines2 that emphasise the 

importance of improving the life chances for children from conception, with a 
particular emphasis on the early years and reducing the gap in health and 
social inequalities. Moving through the life course to the age of 19, or 25 for 
Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) and care leavers, there is a 
drive towards closing the gap in outcomes for those young people who are 
disadvantaged such as looked after children, young carers or those who have 
a special educational need or disability3. The under pinning factors that impact 
on children and young people’s (CYP) outcomes are poverty, parental 
employment and quality of housing. All of these factors are considered in 
various partnership boards and plans with multi agency stakeholders 
contributing to improving outcomes. Reducing health inequalities and 
delivering towards improved health and social outcomes for children and 
young people are the primary goals of the County Durham Healthy Child 
Programme Board (HCPB).  

Purpose of the HCP Board 

3 The HCP is currently a sub group of the Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
HCP Board is providing a focal point for leadership and collaboration to 
improve life chances for children in County Durham. It has a system 
leadership function and sets a clear vision to ensure the co-ordinated delivery 
on system change priorities, to deliver improved outcomes for children, 
reduce duplication and ensure the most effective use of combined resources.   

4 All representative organisations have a shared commitment to deliver the best 
possible health, education and social care outcomes, at the earliest 
opportunity, for children and young people. To achieve this goal, collaboration 

                                         
1 Marmot (2014)  
2 NHS Five year forward view for maternity services, Better Births 2016 
3 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-overview/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-overview/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047


and new ways of working are needed between commissioners, providers, 
residents, carers, staff and wider partners at multiple levels. 

5 Health and social care integration is progressing for adults and there is much 
benefit in exploring what a collaborative delivery model for conception to 19 
years (25 years for SEND and care leavers) could look like and how that 
would work differently on the ‘front line’ to ensure every contact made has a 
positive impact for our children and young people.  

6 It is critical to recognise that the system is complex and delivering at the front 
line is where the difference in quality and efficiency should be maximised. A 
focus is on making the best use of collective resources, addressing health and 
social inequalities while supporting the development of resilience and 
resourcefulness of children and families.    

Work to date March to December 2017 
 
7 Since March 2017 the County Durham Healthy Child Programme Board 

(HCPB) has been in development with the aim of creating transformational 
change at the front line of delivery for children, young people (CYP) and 
families.  

8 Membership of the board includes: Durham County Council, Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG, North Durham (ND) CCG, Harrogate 
and District Foundation Trust (HDFT), County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT), Tees Esk and Wear Valley Foundation Trust 
(TEWV) and more recently Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 
representation. All member organisations have signed the HCPB charter 
declaring their intentions to support and endorse the work of the HCPB.   

9 The core ambition of the HCPB is to achieve a future state of joint planning, 
joint leadership and joint commissioning to ensure CYP and families receive 
services from health, education and children’s early help that are joined up 
from prevention through to treatment and recovery – end to end pathways in 
effect.   

The HCPB priorities and principles are: 
 
 Priorities 
 
10 The HCPB 10 priority areas are: 

 To develop a joint understanding of our collective priorities, those that we 

share and those individual to our individual services. 

 To develop, agree and deploy one integrated plan for the Healthy Child 

Programme. 

 To develop and implement a shared performance management framework 

focused on ensuring we deliver our vision and providing a single 

performance report that holds us to account for the progress of children 

and families. 

Page 32



 To make intelligence led, informed decisions. 

 To develop and deploy robust mechanisms for engaging with service 

users to co-produce services that are fit for purpose. 

 To integrate commissioning around ‘end to end’ pathways, which are fully 

aligned and easy to access. 

 To empower communities to determine what services and solutions will be 

provided and to sustain the required change. 

 To ensure families recognise what services are being provided, why and 

by whom. 

 To improve the sharing and use of data across the system. 

 To deliver bespoke support which is evidence based and optimises our 

positive impact on the child and family. 

 
 Principles by which the HCPB will work together 
 
11 We will make all decisions collectively in the best interest of Children and 

Young People: 

a) We will ensure no surprises, by being open, honest and transparent with 

each other; valuing each other’s contribution. 

b) We will co-produce our services with children, young people and families. 

c) We will deploy a systems approach to improve HCP efficiency and impact. 

d) We will take a collaborative, one team approach, to supporting children, 

young people and families. 

e) We will develop solutions through encouraging constructive challenge and 

driving innovation. 

f) We will manage performance and make decisions based on single 

performance report that holds us to account for the progress of children 

and families. 

 
Transformational Route Map (TRM) (appendix 2) 
 
11 The HCP has developed a TRM which will support the drive to move from 

current state to future state. Current state being a one which has 
commissioners and providers of services working in silos which result in 
duplication in commissioning, gaps in pathway delivery and multiple ‘hand 
offs’ for CYP and families as they try to move through pathways of care and 
support. There is also not enough emphasis on prevention and earlier 
intervention to reduce the escalation of need into acute and specialist 
services.  
 

12 Future state is a ‘one team’ approach which offers services which are 
seamless at the point of contact for all CYP and families, working to close the 
gap in inequalities for our most vulnerable. The specific ambitions are yet to 
be set by the HCPB but the vision is clear. Future state will be achieved over 
the next two years through the work of the six identified work streams: 

Page 33



 Communication: internal and external for shared messages using common 
language e.g. what a collaborative one team approach means for children 
and families as well as stakeholders. 

 End to end pathway development: business processes, service delivery, 
prevention to treatment through to recovery e.g. autism pathway. 

 Planning: bringing together national, regional and local plans to reduce 
duplication and manage gaps – review and streamline groups progressing 
work. Work towards one strategic plan for child health. 

 Commissioning: Pooling of resources, commission something once and 
trust each other to fulfil requirements of each other. For example aligning 
commissions for 0–19 (25 for SEND and care leavers). 

 Leadership and people management: Measuring behaviours of staff so all 
have shared ethos no matter which organisation is the employer. 
Developing and embedding a behavioural maturity matrix which enable all 
staff from different organisations to work towards presenting the same 
shared values and behaviours. 

 Performance management, including information management and 
technology: Common set of Key Performance Indicators to reduce 
duplication, avoid gaps and measure what is fit for purpose.  A single 
version of the truth.  

 
Moving into action 
 
13 The HCP has had two operational board meetings in September 2017 and 

October 2017 (November cancelled due to SEND inspection). The HCP board 
members (as above) are defining the benefits to be realised from the work 
streams and creating clear plans to enable system change to happen by 
2020.   

 
14 Commissioning work stream: For the first time there is now a comprehensive 

list of all County Durham commissioned services from conception to 19 (25 
SEND and care leavers). This can then be reviewed for duplication and gaps 
and opportunities for collaboration. 
 

15 Leadership and people management work stream: A behavioural maturity 
matrix assessment tool has been developed which can assess how 
collaborative the HCP organisations and management teams are in their 
approach to front line delivery. This will enable a collaborative approach to 
workforce development. 
 

16 Planning work stream: There is now a comprehensive list of all plans 
(organisation specific and partnership) relevant to CYP and families and 
further work is underway to map all partnerships and sub groups that work on 
CYP and families agenda. This will provide an overview of gaps and 
duplication and the interface across the multiple groups. From there a single 
plan can start to be produced for County Durham and clarity of the task and 
finish groups required to progress change with a sense of urgency.   

Page 34



 
17 End to end pathways work stream: A prioritisation process is being 

established to provide a robust and transparent approach to determining 
which pathways are to be considered from an end to end journey. Work will be 
progressed on this at the January meeting. In the short term the HCPB has 
prioritised a focus on the autism end to end pathway. This work is 
commencing in January. 
 

18 Communications and engagement work stream: A draft communications and 
marketing plan has been developed for CYP mental health local 
transformation planning group. This plan is being considered more broadly 
now by the HCP board.  
 

19 Performance management work stream: Work has not commenced in this 
work stream as yet but now that all commissioned services have been 
collated onto one spreadsheet and all plans have been mapped work can 
begin on the review of the key performance indicators and outcomes. The 
level of ambition needs to be clearly articulated to be able to set measurable 
outcomes to demonstrate improvement.  
 

Next steps 
 
20 The HCPB has a clear plan to progress the actions within the six work 

streams and to establish ambitious targets to narrow the gap in outcomes for 
children and young people. 

 
Recommendations 
 
21 The health and wellbeing board is recommended to: 
 

(a) Acknowledge the progress made by the HCPB and give the mandate to 
continue the work to progress towards the defined future state as 
articulated in paragraph 11 and in appendix 2 of the transformational 
route map; 

 
(b) To consider how chief officers are best sighted on the work of the 

HCPB to ensure governance and accountability is transparent and work 
remains targeted to the most important priorities.  

 

Contact:  Gill O’Neill                Tel: 03000 267696  

Page 35



Finance - HCP: Working towards improved alignment of budgets across 
organisations to be able to undertake collaborative commissioning.   
 
Staffing - Existing staff working collaboratively at a local level. 
 
Risk - Risk will be assessed as part of individual plans and groups. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – HCPB is working to reduce 
inequalities. 
 
Accommodation - NA 
 
Crime and Disorder - N/A 
 
Human Rights - N/A 
 
Consultation - Ongoing dialogue with all staff, service users, stakeholders and 
wider community will be included as plans become more robust.   
 
Procurement - HCP board work will inform future procurement of services if the 
HCP board becomes embedded and fully established. 
 
Disability Issues - Work of the HCP will work towards addressing the inequalities 
faced by CYP with a disability. 
 
Legal Implications - Legal advice will be sought as relevant. 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 36



Appendix 2: Healthy Child Programme Board Transformational Route Map 

 

Workstream Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q5 Q6 Q7 Q8

DURHAM HCP - TRANSFORMATIONAL ROUTE MAP

WORKSTREAMS & IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS

LEADERSHIP  

PLANNING

PATHWAYS

CURRENT POSITION

PERFORMANCE 

MANAGEMENT - 

(INC. 

INFORMATION 

MANAGEMENT & 

TECHNOLOGY)

We develop the independence, wellbeing and 

resillience of Children and Young People - 

intervening at the earliest effective point

Focusing our resources on preventative rather than 

responsive services

We understand our collective priorities and those 

specific to individual organisations

We are narrowing the gap in relation to deprivation - 

targetting our resources on CYP less likely to thrive 

and achieve

Our commissioning is fully integrated and draws on 

best practice from within and outwith the sector

All our front line staff have a shared foundation skill 

set

We are coordinating support for CYP and families 

at the point of contact and they understand clearly 

the services available to them

We identify and overcome the barriers to achieving 

our vision and priorities

We understand our populations needs and make 

appropriate, evidence based, consistent strategic 

responses

Our pathways are 'end to end' and fully integrated, 

and support those who are most vulnerable - we 

have eliminated all duplication and optimised the 

impact of our collective resources

We are sharing information effectively across all 

partners, making intelligence led decisions and 

exploiting technology in the best interest of CYP

KPIs drive a focus on outcomes and provide a 

'single version of the truth

We facilitate equity access, inclussion and 

outcomes for all

We have multiple plans which are not fully aligned, 

owned or focused

KPIs are driving silo working - we are data rich but 

information poor

There is a strong performance culture, but it 

focuses on process over outcome

Decision making is not intelligence led - we do not 

know what we have, or use it.  We do not share 

intelligence efficiently

There is limited integrated commissioning; co-

production; learning from best practice - in or 

outwith sector

Services are fragmented and CYP and families are 

unaware of what is available

Services are unaligned - Too many entrance 

points; and are geographically focused.  Pathways 

are not 'end to end'

We are not using the technology available to us

We do not recognise what we do well and do not 

recognise where our assets are, e.g. our 

workforce

There are opportunities to improve efficiency and 

productivity - we do not know where our people 

are spending their time or how productive they 

are

We are duplicating activies and interventions with 

CYP and families - our services do not feel 'joined-

up' to CYP and families

FUTURE STATE

COMMISSIONING

COMMUNICATION 

& ENGAGEMENT

"End to End" process 
mapping (Value 
Stream Mapping)

Map 
Performance 
Management 
Arrangements

Mapping
Understanding Local 
Health Needs

Process 
ReDesign

Evaluation of 
Impact

Develop 
Communication & 
Engagement Strategy 
and Plan

Prioritisation Pathway 
ReDesign

Map Existing Plans

Develop overall HCP Plan, 
including collaborative 
priorities

Identify gaps in skills 
and knowledge

Visible Felt 
Leadership (VfL)

Deploy Collaboration 
Champions

Behavioural Maturity 
Development

Brief all staff on HCP 
and Collaborative 
approach

Implement 
Communication 
Plan

Evaluation of 
Communication 
Methods

Establish Shared 
Performance 
Management 
Framework

Implement Shared 
Performance 
Management 
System

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Health Protection Assurance 2017/18 
 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Paul Davison, Deputy 
Director of Health Protection and Deb Wilson, Consultant  in Health 
Protection 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 This paper sets out the means by which the Director of Public Health is assured that 

the health of the population is protected. In doing this, it lays out the statutory duty 
placed on Local Authorities for health protection and outlines the role of the Director 
of Public Health (DPH). It also presents the health protection plan on a page which 
draws together key health protection programmes and identifies where assurance 
has been sought in this area of key responsibility. Finally, the paper will identify 
areas where this assurance could be strengthened. 

 
Statutory Responsibilities 
  
2 Under the Health and Social Care Act reforms introduced in 2013, a range of public 

health functions and statutory duties were integrated within Local Authorities and 
are additional to the existing public protection duties. This move brought with it 
responsibilities across the three domains of public health – health improvement, 
health protection and healthcare public health. The health protection element of 
these statutory responsibilities and the mandatory responsibilities of the DPH are as 
outlined below (detailed in appendix 2). 

 
a) The Secretary of State’s public health protection functions. 
b) Exercising the local authority’s functions in planning for, and responding to, 

emergencies that present a risk to public health. 
c) Such other public health functions as the Secretary of State specifies in 

regulations. 
d) DsPH will be responsible for the local authority’s public health response as a 

responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, such as making 
representations about licensing applications. 

e) LA (DsPH) “will have a duty to ensure plans are in place to protect their 
population including through screening and immunisation’’. 

 
The key elements of health protection 
 
3 Health Protection can be viewed as falling into three main areas: 
 

 Prevention 

 Planning and preparedness 

 Surveillance 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



 

Prevention 
 
4 Local authorities have always had duties and powers to tackle environmental 

hazards. The move of local public health functions from the NHS into local 
government opened up new opportunities for joint working across the Council to 
tackle areas where there are potential threats, including food-borne infectious 
diseases and environmental hazards as well as preparedness for emergencies that 
have an impact on the public’s health. 

 
5 The local leadership of the DPH plays an important part in ensuring that the local 

authority and local partners are supporting preventative services that tackle key 
threats to the health of local people. 

Some examples of this preventative role include: 

 Ensuring that screening and immunisation programmes are quality assured 
and meet the needs of the local population. 

 Ensuring there are integrated services in place to prevent and control 
tuberculosis. 

 Commissioning measures to minimise drug-related harm, such as 
transmission of blood-borne viruses among injecting drug users. 

 Developing local plans to monitor and prevent transmission of sexually 
transmitted diseases, to control outbreaks and to foster improvements in 
sexual health. 

 Developing local initiatives to raise awareness of risks of infectious diseases. 

 Working with environmental health colleagues who regulate businesses 
providing tattooing, cosmetic piercing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, 
electrolysis and acupuncture so as to reduce risks of harm. 

 Preparing for extreme weather events such as heatwaves and flooding with a 
view to preventing and/or reducing the impacts on health, such as the impact 
on mental health and wellbeing of flooding. 

 Advising on preparation of cold weather plan. 

 Working with environmental health colleagues to improve local air quality. 
 
Planning and preparedness 
 
6 Effective planning is essential to limit the impact on health when hazards cannot be 

prevented. The legal duty under the NHS Act 2006 to protect the population will rest 
with the Secretary of State and will be discharged through Public Health England, 
which will provide the specialist health protection expertise to support local 
agencies in developing their plans to respond to public health emergencies and 
incidents. 

 
7 Upper tier and unitary local authorities have duties in relation to emergency 

planning as Category 1 responders. There is also a statutory requirement placed on 
them to take steps to protect the health of their geographical population from threats 
ranging from relatively minor outbreaks and health protection incidents to full-scale 
emergencies. 

 
8 The DPH will therefore provide advice, challenge and advocacy to protect the local 

population. Responsibility for responding appropriately to this advice (and 
accountability for any adverse impact if that advice is not heeded) rests with other 
organisations. 

Page 40



 

 
9 However, local authorities have a key lever to improve the quality of health 

protection plans through the effective escalation of issues. This includes raising 
issues locally, with the partner concerned, or with the health and wellbeing board, or 
directly with commissioners if there are concerns about commissioning of 
prevention services. 

Surveillance 
 
10 Surveillance can be defined as “the continuing scrutiny of all aspects of the 

occurrence and spread of disease pertinent to effective control in order to inform 
and direct public health action”. The Local Authority receives this information from a 
range of sources including Public Health England and NHS England. This can be 
complex information at different times. The public health epidemiologist has drawn 
this range of information together into a health protection dashboard (appendix 3). 
This now provides assurance to the DPH of the wide range of information that is 
received including immunisation, screening, sexually transmitted infections, food 
borne infections and environmental information. The new dashboard also provides 
trend information enabling oversight of health protection and where action may be 
required.  

 
11 Public Health England ensures that an integrated national, regional and local 

surveillance capacity able to identify and track outbreaks across the country is 
maintained. Public Health England will ensure that all relevant partners, including 
DsPH and local public health teams, are kept fully informed of trends and possible 
threats. A summary of this work is outlined in the PHE annual report (appendix 4). 
Local authority public health and environmental health teams will play a vital role in 
local surveillance, for example, through bringing individual cases to the attention of 
Public Health England. Public Health England NE also produce an annual report on 
key health protection issues which adds to local surveillance data and ensures that 
the DPH has key intelligence on major issues of importance.  

 
Health Protection Plan on a Page 
 
12 The DPH and public health team regularly deal with health protection issues.  

These vary greatly in topic and scale, but all fall to the DPH’s assurance under the 
statutory responsibility to protect the health of the population of County Durham. To 
illustrate this, some of the issues this year have been: 

 

 Seasonal flu vaccination programme for DCC and commissioned care staff. 

 A complex HIV cluster amongst young heterosexuals where a claim of 
reckless transmission was considered.  It was the duty of the DPH to chair 
these meetings bringing together legal services, genitourinary medicine 
(GUM) and Public Health England (PHE). This work stretched over many 
months and involved liaison with the police and regional GUM services.   

 A case of multi-drug resistant TB in a prisoner refusing treatment in Durham 
prison.  The DPH worked with PHE and prison services to try to ensure the 
welfare of the prisoner and the health protection issues for staff, other 
prisoner and the wider public (on release).  

 An ongoing cluster of latent tuberculosis (TB) in a deprived community in 
County Durham. This resulted in a campaign of testing, treating and 
vaccinating, overseen by the DPH but led by PHE with CDDFT TB nurses. 

Page 41



 

 A scrap yard fire where the population health of the public health needed to 
be considered. It was identified that there was no major threat to population 
health in this case, but many such cases can result in protective measure 
being taken. 

 Three E.coli O157 cases. 

 9 school outbreaks. 

 28 care home outbreaks. 

 321 cases of Salmonella, Campylobacter and Cryptosporidium. 
 
13  In order to capture the breadth and complexity of these far ranging responsibilities 

and to ensure assurance, the DPH has brought together a plan on a page 
(appendix 5). The plan provides an oversight of health protection and Emergency 
Preparedness actions and assurance mechanisms. It includes a focus on: 

 

 Effective screening and immunisation arrangements are in place to support 
prevention, early detection and treatment of disease. 

 Prevention and management of outbreaks and communicable disease 
(healthcare acquired infections, TB, sexually transmitted infections and blood 
borne viruses). 

 Strategic regulation interventions including environmental hazards.  

 Effective emergency response and recovery arrangements are in place. 
 

14  The plan also identifies where assurance that key actions to protect health are 
reported to including: 

 

 Range of reports from Public Health Oversight Group for screening and 
immunisation programmes across the North East (NE). 

 Reports from NHS England on quality assurance and any incidents. 

 Outbreak control reports from PHE. 

 HealthCare acquired infection control group. 

 Health protection committee. 

 NE Prison Health Protection Group. 

 Emergency plans. 

 NE Local Health Resilience Partnership Annual Assurance Process. 
 

Health Protection Assurance 
 
Areas where assurance is strong 
 
 Screening and Immunisation 
 
15  Within the area of immunisation and screening, overall Durham performs extremely 

well with the vast majority of programmes performing significantly above the 
England average.  For example, all cancer screening and new-born screening rates 
are above both regional and national averages. For MMR, for example, Durham has 
a 97.5% coverage for two doses in five year olds compared with 94% regionally and 
88% nationally. In addition to this, the Local Authority has been successful in a bid 
for money from the Cancer Alliance to provide extra support to those communities 
where there are inequality of uptake for cancer screening. The DCC’s co-ordinated 
seasonal flu programme is another area of good practice. 

 

Page 42



 

 Communicable Disease Control 
 
16 Durham performs very well with its prevention and management of communicable 

diseases. There is very strong partnership working between a strong Public Health 
Team, a very dedicated Infection Control Team, an effective team of Environmental 
Health Officers and a highly professional local team at Public Health England. 

 
17 In addition, the commissioned sexual health service is taking part in the national 

trial of Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) which provides medication that protects 
against contracting HIV in vulnerable individuals. 

 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience, Response and Recovery 
 
18      In the area of Emergency Planning, Resilience, Response and Recovery, the Local 

Authority plays an active role in planning and exercising with all partners and has a 
valuable resource in the Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU).  There is also good co-
ordination across partner organisations through membership of the Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF). 

 
19 In addition, a lead DPH co-chairs the Local Health Resilience Partnership which 

ensures that the NHS have robust plans in place for emergency situations and is 
also the lead DPH in the region for health protection in prisons. 

 
20 These organisations and bodies provide a level of assurance to the DPH that the 

system is robust. This is particularly true working with external agencies. Further 
evidence of assurance is outlined in the health protection plan. 

 
Areas where further assurance is needed 
 
 Screening and Immunisation 
 
21 Uptake in cervical screening is declining nationally, partially due to the roll out of the 

HPV vaccination programme.  Nationally, rates have declined amongst 25-49 year 
olds from 74% in 2011 to 70% in 2016 against a target of 80%.  Locally rates are 
fairly stable at 77%. The HPV vaccination programme has prompted the NHS to 
look at redesigning the frequency of the screening test for those people who have 
been vaccinated. 

 
22 In addition feedback and early communication about key screening and 

immunisation issues could be improved. This will require NHSE providing the DPH 
with more specific Durham information of any concerns or actions. E.g. ante-natal 
and newborn screening and the recording of this. 

 
 Communicable Disease Control 
 
23 There are still shortages of Hep A and B vaccines which is impacting on services 

being able to provide this preventative measure.  It is hoped that this will be 
resolved in the New Year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

 Emergency Planning, Resilience, Response and Recovery 
 
24  Key issues where further assurance is need include: 
 

 Uptake of seasonal flu immunisations 

 Excess death plan 

 

25 These areas of further action and assurance are being addressed and form key 
actions in the health protection plan on a page 

 
Next Steps 
 
26 The implementation of the plan and the management of the assurance dashboard 

will form an important strand of public health priorities.  
 
Recommendations 
 
27 HWB Board is recommended to: 
 

(a) Note the report’s content and development of the surveillance dashboard and 
health protection plan on a page; 

(b) Acknowledge the areas of assurance and further action. 
 
 

Contact:  Nick Springham, Public Health Consultant, Durham County Council.                                     
Tel:  03000 267678 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance: None 
 
Staffing: None 
 
Risk: DPH needs to have full assurance that her statutory duties and the duties of the 
Local Authority are met. 
 
Equality and Diversity/Public Sector Equality Duty: None identified. 
 
Accommodation: Not applicable. 
 
Crime and Disorder: Not applicable. 
 
Human Rights: Not applicable. 
 
Consultation: Not applicable. 
 
Procurement:  Not Applicable.  
 
Disability Issues: Not applicable.    
 
Legal Implications: There is a statutory duty on the DPH and the Local Authorities to fulfil 
duties outlined in the 2006 Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 

Appendix 2:   Health Protection Statutory Duties  

 

Mandatory Responsibilities of 
the DPH 

Legislative origin  

1. Any of the Secretary of State’s 
public health protection or 
health improvement 
functions 

Section 73A (1) of the 2006 Act, inserted by 
section 30 of the 2012 Act.  These include 
services mandated by regulations made 
under section 6C of the 2006 Act, inserted 
by section 18of the 2012 Act. 
 

2. Exercising the local authority’s 
functions in planning for, and 
responding to, emergencies 
that present a risk to public 
health 
 

Section 73A(1) of the 2006 Act, inserted by 
section 30 of the 2012 Act 

3. Such other public health 
functions as the Secretary of 
State specifies in regulations 
 

Section 73A(1) of the 2006 Act, inserted by 
section 30 of the 2012 Act 

4. DsPH will be responsible for 
the local authority’s public 
health response as a 
responsible authority under 
the Licensing Act 2003, such 
as making representations 
about licensing applications 

 

Through regulations made under section 
73A (1) of the 2006 Act, inserted by section 
30 of the 2012 Act.  This function is given to 
local authorities by sections 5(3), 13(4), 
69(4) and 172B (4) of the Licensing Act, as 
amended by Schedule 5 of the 2012 Act. 

5. LA (DsPH) “will have a duty to 
ensure plans are in place to 
protect their population 
including through screening 
and immunisation 
 

National screening and immunisation 
programmes.  Letter from DH, 23.08.2012, 
p5. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



STP STP England

Count Value Value Count Value Value Value

All C. difficile rates by CCG and financial year 44 17.9 25.0* 61 22.2 29.0* 23.4

All MRSA bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year 4 1.6 1.7* 7 2.5 1.7* 1.5

CCG-assigned MRSA rates by CCG and financial year 1 0.4 0.36* 3 1.1 0.82* 0.4

All MSSA bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year 58 23.6 24.9* 78 28.4 28.3* 20.9

Trust-assigned MRSA counts by CCG and financial year 3 3 20 4 4 10 315

Third party-assigned MRSA counts by CCG and financial year 0 0 3 0 0 0 276

All E. coli bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year 165 67 89.9* 271 98.7 101.1* 73.9

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of C. difficile infection, by CCG and month 3 17.5 1.5* 7 22.2 2.9* 23.8

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of all MRSA bacteraemia cases, by CCG and month 0 2 0.1* 0 1.8 0.0* 1.6

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of MSSA bacteraemia cases, by CCG and month 7 24.8 2.1* 6 31 1.6* 21.5

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of E. coli bacteraemia by CCG and month 14 69.8 7.3* 17 96.2 8.0* 74.8

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of hospital-onset E. coli bacteraemia, by CCG and month 0 12.6 2.1* 2 18.2 1.3* 14.2

Counts and 12-month rolling rates of community-onset E. coli bacteraemia, by CCG and month 14 57.3 5.2* 15 78 6.8* 60.6

H
ea

lt
h

 C
ar

e 
A

cq
u

ir
ed

 In
fe

ct
io

n
Durham Dales, 

Easington And 

Sedgefield CCG

North Durham CCG
Indicator

North 

Durham 

recent 

trend

DDES 

recent 

trend

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft Health Protection performance dashboard v4 Durham County Council 13/11/2017

Significantly worse than England

Not significantly different to England

Significantly better than England

Measure

2.19 - Cancer diagnosed at early stage (experimental statistics) 53.3% 52.3% 52.4%

2.20i - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer 78.1% 77.3% 75.5%

2.20ii - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer 76.9% 75.2% 72.7%

2.20iii - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer 60.9% 59.4% 57.9%

2.20iv - Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Screening - Coverage 79.3% 77.6% 79.9%

2.20v – Diabetic eye screening - uptake  (%) - 85.2% 83.0%

2.20vii - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – HIV Coverage  (%) - 98.8% 99.1%

2.20viii - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Syphillis Coverage  (%) - 88.3% 97.4%

2.20ix - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Hepatitis B Coverage  (%) - 88.1% 97.4%

2.20x - Sickle Cell and Thalassaemia Screening – Coverage  (%) - 98.8% 99.1%

2.20xi - Newborn Blood Spot Screening – Coverage  (%) 97.9%* 97.9%* 95.6%*

2.20xii Newborn Hearing Screening – Coverage  (%) 99.1% 99.1% 98.7%

2.20xiii - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening – Coverage  (%) - 95.1% 94.9%

3.02 - Chlamydia detection rate (15-24 year olds) 1681 1836 1882

12 months          

3.03i - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (1 year old) 100%* * *

3.03iii - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (1 year old) 98.6% 96.8% 93.6%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03iv - Population vaccination coverage - MenC 98.7% 97.8% *

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03v - Population vaccination coverage - PCV 98.6% 96.9% 93.5%

<90%90% to 95% ≥95%

3.03i - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (2 years old) 100%* * *

3.03iii - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (2 years old) 99.1% 98.0% 95.2%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03vi - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / MenC booster (2 years old) 97.4% 95.5% 91.6%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03vii - Population vaccination coverage - PCV booster 97.6% 95.4% 91.5%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03viii - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (2 years old) 97.1% 95.0% 91.9%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

Significance not tested

No sub-regional data available

Recent 

trend

24 months          

2-4 years

England

County 

Durham

Sc
re

e
n

in
g

North 

East
Indicator

Im
m

s 
an

d
 V

ac
cs

P
age 49



Draft Health Protection performance dashboard v4 Durham County Council 13/11/2017

Measure

Recent 

trend
England

County 

Durham
Sc

re
e

n
in

g
North 

East
Indicator

3.03xviii - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (2-4 years old)    38.0% 39.5%* 38.1%

<40% 40% to 65% >65%

3.03ix - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (5 years old) 98.5% 97.3% 94.8%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03vi - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / Men C booster (5 years old) 97.7% 95.9% 92.6%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03x - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for two doses (5 years old) 97.5% 94.2% 88.2%

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

Im
m

s 
an

d
 V

ac
cs

5 years 

P
age 50



Draft Health Protection performance dashboard v4 Durham County Council 13/11/2017

Measure

Recent 

trend
England

County 

Durham
Sc

re
e

n
in

g
North 

East
Indicator

3.03xiii - Population vaccination coverage - PPV 70.8% 72.1 69.8%

<65% 65% to 75% ≥75%

3.03xii - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (females 12-13 years old)  93.6% 92.0% 87.0%

                                                       <80% 80% to 90% ≥90%

3.03xvi - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for two doses (females 13-14 years old) 93.2% 90.1% 85.1%

                                                        <80% 80% to 90% >90%

Persons entering substance misuse treatment - Percentage of eligible persons completing a course of hepatitis B vacc 5.6% 5.7% 8.7%

3.03xv - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (at risk individuals) 49.3% 49.5%* 48.6%

<55% ≥55%

3.03xiv - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (aged 65+) 70.4% 72.4%* 70.5%

<75% %≥75% 

3.03xvii - Population vaccination coverage - Shingles vaccination coverage (70 years old) 57.6% 57.1% 54.9%

<50% 50% to 60% ≥60%

Chlamydia detection rate / 100,000 aged 15-24 (PHOF indicator 3.02) 1681 1836 1882

<1,900 1,900 to 2,300 ≥2,300

All new STI diagnoses (exc Chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000 573 648 795

Gonorrhoea diagnosis rate per 100,000 population 44.3 65.2 64.9

Syphilis diagnoses rate per 100,000 population 6.7 5.8 10.6

HIV late diagnosis (%) (PHOF indicator 3.04) 36.5 46.7 40.1

Legionnaire’s disease confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 0 0.95* 0.67

Typhoid and paratyphoid confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 0 0.27* 0.54

TB incidence (three year average)  1.9 5.5 11.9

Treatment completion for TB (%) * 80.3% 84.8%

Measles (reported cases confirmed) 0 0 -

Mumps (confirmed cases) 79 193 -

Whooping Cough (confirmed cases) 15 53 -

Rubella (confirmed cases) 0 0 -

Meningococcal Infection 2 14 -

Scarlet Fever 26.9 28.7 -

Haemophilus Influenzae Type B (HiB) 0 0 -

Salmonella Enteritidis 5.4 3.8 -

Salmonella Typhimurium 6.2 2.9 -

Salmonella other 5.4 5.6 -

Campylobacter 131.6 125.7 -

Cryptosporidium 17.7 8.4 -

Giardia 3.1 8.5 -

In
fe

ct
io

u
s 

d
is

e
as

e
s

Se
xu

al
 h

e
al

th
Im

m
s 

an
d

 V
ac

cs

Other Children and young people

Other   

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Protecting the population of the North 
East from communicable disease and 
other hazards 

 
Annual Report 2016/17 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  2 

About Public Health England 

Public Health England exists to protect and improve the nation’s health and wellbeing, 
and reduce health inequalities. We do this through world-class science, knowledge and 
intelligence, advocacy, partnership and the delivery of specialist services. We are an 
executive agency of the Department of Health, and are a distinct delivery organisation 
with operational autonomy to advise and support government, local authorities and the 
NHS in a professionally independent manner.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Paul Davison 
Deputy Director for Health Protection  
Public Health England 
North East Public Health England Centre 
Floor 2, Citygate, Gallowgate 
Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4WH 
paul.davison@phe.gov.uk  
Tel: 0300 303 8596 (Option 1) 
www.gov.uk/phe  

Follow us on Twitter @PHE_uk 

© Crown Copyright 2017 
Published: September 2017 

Page 54

mailto:paul.davison@phe.gov.uk
https://indigo.phe.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=8pfu6Y9VbkGlHug64AuHoflbBG8GCNAI0dTMaMfl77pKzI8Lhc_Cfb5-ADuPuzl07adDPDx-vog.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.gov.uk%2fphe


Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  3 

Content 

 

Contents 3 

Foreword 4 

1 Introduction 6 

2 Prevention – communicable disease 9 

3 Surveillance – communicable disease 12 

4 Control – specific diseases 14 

5 Control - responding to communicable disease outbreaks and incidents                            31 

6 Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR) 34 

7 Communications team     37 

8 Environmental issues   38 

9 Improving the quality of health protection services                                                              40 

Appendix 1:  Communicable disease cases reported in North East residents in 2016   42 

Appendix 2:  Schedule of routine PHE NE Surveillance Reports 45  

Appendix 3:  The PHE Public Health Laboratory Service in Newcastle upon Tyne and York    47  

Appendix 4:  Publications and presentations (HPT and FES)                                                    48 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 55



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  4 

Foreword 
Welcome to the seventh Annual Report produced by the North East Health Protection 
Team (HPT). 
 
As in previous years this report summarises the activity of the various health protection 
functions of PHE.  It also provides evidence to Directors of Public Health in support of 
their assurance role.  
 
The North East Health Protection Team is in a transitional phase. Since the completion 
of last year’s report Janet Robinson (Nurse Consultant) has retired, Jon Lawler (Senior 
Nurse) has joined the Public Health Training Scheme and Rosie Chapman (Nurse) has 
secured a job in school nursing. Dr Kirsty Foster is currently on secondment working 
with national colleagues at Colindale on sexual health and blood-borne viruses while at 
the same time providing local leadership on sexual health for PHE North East.  
 
In addition, Karen Lloyd, our Regional Communications Manager for many years has 
retired and as mentioned in Section 1.3 below, Dr Russell Gorton retired in August 
2017.  
 
Dr Gayle Dolan joined us in September 2016, Dr Simon Howard continues to provide 
locum cover and Dr Peter Acheson returned from secondment with Stockton Borough 
Council. We have also recruited Rachael Kain and Claire Stoker to the vacant Senior 
Nurse positions and have recruited three health protection nurses/practitioners to the 
vacancies created by the changes outlined above. Julie Kinsella-Shenton has been 
appointed to replace Karen Lloyd and Dr Petra Manley has taken up post as the Field 
Epidemiologist in September 2017.  
 
After many years of relative stability these are significant changes to the Health 
Protection Team. However, we are confident that the appointments we have made will 
ensure that the team continues to deliver safe and effective health protection services 
across the North East.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  5 

Summary of progress on 2016/17 priorities   
 
The HPT identified seven local high-level priorities for 2016/17, as detailed in table F1. 
 
Table F1: Summary of progress on 2016/17 objectives.  
 

 Priorities Outcome 
1 Continue to deliver effective health protection services in 2015/16. Achieved 
2 Evaluate the impact of HIV home sampling intervention.  Achieved 
3 Review the contribution of North East leads to the TB Control 

Board. 
Achieved 

4 Facilitate at least three ‘cross-system’ CPD sessions on TB, 
Health Protection for LA public health staff and ‘Learning from 
incidents and outbreaks’.  

Achieved 

5 Develop a local AMR action plan. Achieved 
6 Continue the work with the EA and the FRS to develop risk 

assessments and information sheets for high risk fire sites. 
Achieved 

7 Produce health protection annual report for 2016/17 Achieved 
 
Priorities for 2017/18  
 
The first function of Public Health England (PHE) is to protect local populations from 
infectious diseases and other hazards to health. It does this at a national level through 
its national functions and at a local level through health protection teams (HPTs). PHE’s 
high-level objectives for 2017/18 have remained the same for a number of years and 
therefore our objectives continue to be framed in the same way. They are:  
 
Table F2: Local priorities for 2017/18  
 

 Priorities 
 

1 Continue to deliver effective health protection services in 2017/18. 
2 Develop a North East TB Network vision statement and action plan to support the 

delivery of the national TB strategy. 
3 Convene two meetings of the newly formed NETB Network. 
4 Complete the work on developing a local AMR action plan and launch at a 

cross-system event.  
5 Conduct mapping exercise to understand current local patterns of prescribing to ensure 

effective local action planning.  
6 Conduct a review of EpiNorth3 (local health protection surveillance system) 
7 Produce health protection annual report for 2017/18 

 

 
 

  
Page 57



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  6 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report   

This is the seventh Annual Report compiled by the North East Health Protection Team and 
outlines the key health protection issues in 2016/17 whilst identifying the priorities for 2017/18. 
It follows the format of last year’s report in aligning the information with the four key 
components of health protection activity namely: prevention, surveillance, control and 
communication.  
 
1.2 Health protection arrangements   

Effective health protection is a collaborative activity across many different organisations and 
departments currently including local authority public health teams and environmental health 
departments, acute and mental health NHS Foundation Trusts, services within PHE regionally 
and nationally, NHS England, water companies, the Department for Environment Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA), the Environment Agency, prisons, universities, clinical commissioning 
groups and the independent sector, particularly care homes.  The success of health protection 
in the North East reflects the effective partnership working between all the agencies involved.  
 
PHE delivers the following health protection functions in the North East: 
 
• The North East Health Protection Team (NE HPT) delivers a 24/7 response to 

communicable disease incidents and other threats.  The consultants and senior nurses work 
on a patch basis in hours: North of Tyne; South of Tyne and Wear; County Durham and 
Darlington; Tees. 

• The Field Epidemiology Service (FES) collates information on communicable diseases from 
a wide variety of sources in order to give early warning of outbreaks, enable monitoring of 
interventions and trends and provide expert advice on epidemiological studies.  

• Emergency preparedness, resilience and response functions support the NHS, the Local 
Health Resilience Partnership and the three multi-agency Local Resilience Forums in the 
North East in planning, exercising and responding (24/7) to a range of threats as part of a 
national team. 

• The North East has a PHE communications team who are part of the national 
communications division and whose role includes the provision of proactive and reactive 
information on health protection issues. 

• PHE provides specialist laboratory services located in Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. Food, Water and Environmental Services are delivered from the York 
Laboratory. 

  

Page 58



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  7 

1.3 Field Epidemiology Services 

Field Epidemiology Services North East is one of eight teams that are nationally managed and 
co-ordinated but geographically dispersed. Its purpose is to provide specialist epidemiological 
expertise to support Health Protection teams in field epidemiological investigations and 
surveillance.  
 
In addition FES undertakes research and development of the evidence base for health 
protection to inform actions aimed at the control of infectious diseases and health effects from 
exposure to environmental hazards. 
 
The North East FES office works very closely with the HPT; jointly managing North East based 
surveillance systems and providing epidemiological components of incident investigations, in 
particular analytic studies. 
 
The most significant change in the FES Team has been the retirement of Dr Russell Gorton in 
September 2017. His departure will be a major loss to the health protection system in the North 
East and nationally. Russell’s work in establishing and developing the team, setting standards 
in epidemiological practice and in system design will be greatly missed. Dr Petra Manley has 
been appointed to replace Russell and we welcome her to the North East.  
 
1.4 The PHE Public Health Laboratory Service in Newcastle upon Tyne and 

York 

The Microbiology Services Division of Public Health England provides clinical microbiology 
services (diagnostic and specialist microbiology), food, water and environmental microbiology 
to the NHS and to the community at large.  For the North East, these specialist laboratory 
services are located in Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and Food, 
Water and Environmental Services are delivered from the York Laboratory. 
 
The laboratory works in close collaboration with the Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust department of microbiology and operates a number of joint services, notably 
enteric microbiology. It is linked to the network of PHE specialised laboratories across England 
and to major reference units in Colindale (London) and PHE Microbiology Research Services 
(Porton). Two handbooks are available about the work of the laboratory: 
 
Public Health Microbiology Services User Handbook 
Clinical Microbiology Services User Handbook  
 
The PHE Mycobacteria Reference Laboratory which had been previously located in Newcastle 
has now been consolidated within the PHE Laboratory in Birmingham. Since September 2017 
all remaining PHE Laboratory services have been transferred to Newcastle Hospitals NHS 
Foundation with effect from 1st September 2017. The TB diagnostic services will remain largely 
unchanged, but the molecular diagnostic platforms will be different. Further details will follow in 
due course. 
 
The provision of Public Health Microbiology Services (Laboratory and Professional support) will 
be put out to tender. Both Health Protection and Field Services have had input into the tender 

Page 59



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  8 

content and will be involved in the process of awarding the tender. It is hoped that the tender 
will be effective from 1st April 2018. In the interim arrangements are currently under negotiation 
with Newcastle Hospitals to support the Public Health Microbiology Service. 
 
Contact details for local laboratories are listed in Appendix 3. 
 
1.5 Education and Training 

The HPT and FES have a well-established track record in delivering teaching and training in a 
variety of settings. This includes formal support to the Public Health Training Scheme, 
delivering health protection elements of local post-graduate degrees in Public Health and 
supervised placements to a range of medical trainees. The HPT also contributes to training 
sessions at hospital trusts, local authorities and NHS England as well as formal presentations 
at conferences and seminars. Further details can be found in Section 10.  
 
1.6 Delivering health protection 

There are four key components to the work of PHE in protecting the health of the population in 
the North East: prevention; surveillance; control; communication.  Other agencies have major 
roles in all these components. Each of these themes is the subject of separate section in this 
report.  

 

  

Page 60



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  9 

2 Prevention – communicable disease 

2.1 Immunisation and vaccine-preventable diseases 

Immunisation remains one of the most effective public health interventions for protecting 
individuals and the community from serious diseases. The national routine childhood 
immunisation programme currently offers protection against 13 different vaccine-preventable 
infections. In addition to the routine childhood programme, selective vaccination is offered to 
individuals reaching a certain age or with underlying medical conditions or lifestyle risk factors 
 
Programme delivery 
 
NHS England is responsible for commissioning local immunisation programmes and 
accountable for ensuring local providers of services will deliver against the national service 
specification and meet agreed population uptake and coverage levels as specified in the Public 
Health Outcomes Framework and Key Performance Indicators.   
 
• Screening and Immunisation Teams (SITs) employed by Public Health England centres and 

embedded in NHS England provide local leadership and support to providers in delivering 
improvements in quality and changes in the programmes. The SITs are also responsible for 
ensuring that accurate and timely data is available for monitoring vaccine uptake and 
coverage. 

• Public Health England centres lead the response to disease outbreaks of vaccine-
preventable disease and provide expert support and advice to the SITs.  

• Local Authorities are responsible for providing independent scrutiny and challenging the 
arrangements of NHS England, PHE and providers.  

 
A summary of current vaccination programmes in England is included in table 2.1. Following 
advice from the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) there have been 
some changes to the existing programmes of England’s national immunisation programme for 
2016/17: 
 
Meningococcal B: Vaccination of babies against MenB will continue but paracetamol will no 
longer be centrally supplied and there will be no new catch up. 
 
Pertussis: From the 1 April 2016, pregnant women have been offered the single dose of 
DTaP/IPV vaccine between gestational weeks 16 and 32 in every pregnancy.  
 
Meningococcal ACWY: In addition to the routine programme opportunistic vaccination of 19-25-
year-olds is currently taking place.  
 
Meningococcal C: On the 1 July 2017, the 3-month scheduled MenC dose was removed from 
the childhood programme. 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  10 

Table 2.1 Current vaccination programmes in England, June 2017 
 

 
 
 
 

Programme  
 

Organism/disease protected against 

Routine programme  
Pre-school childhood programme (different 
components given on five occasions) 

 

Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio, 
haemophilus influenza type b, 
pneumococcal disease, meningitis C, 
meningitis B, measles, mumps and 
rubella and rotavirus  

Routine programme  
Annual for 2 to 6 year olds 
(and all children in school years 1 and 2 for 
winter 2016/17) 
 

Seasonal influenza 

Routine programme  
School-based programme  

Booster – tetanus, diphtheria and polio 
and MenACWY  

Routine programme  
School-based programme – girls only 

Human papilloma virus (HPV) 
 

At risk programme.  
Annual. Offered to all people over 65 and those 
in nationally defined clinical at-risk groups 

Seasonal influenza 

At risk programme.  
Offered to those over 65, usually on a one-off 
basis, and those in nationally defined clinical at-
risk groups 

Pneumococcal disease 

At risk programme. Offered to all people aged 
70  

Shingles 

At risk programme.  
Offered to all pregnant women who are 20 
weeks pregnant 

Pertussis (Whooping cough) 

At risk programme. 
Offered to all pregnant women during flu 
season, at any stage of pregnancy 

Seasonal influenza 

At risk programme. Offered to babies of mothers 
found to have Hepatitis B as a result of the 
antenatal infectious diseases screening 
programme  

Hepatitis B 

At risk programme. Offered to babies with a 
parent or grandparent who was born in a 
country where the annual incidence of TB is 
40/100,000 or greater 

Tuberculosis 

At risk programme. People in prison Hepatitis B, other vaccines that are 
indicated due to health or lifestyle factors, 
and any missed components of the 
childhood programme 

Page 62



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  11 

Coverage rates  
 
Uptake in the North East for the routine childhood programme remain among the highest in 
England:  In Quarter 4, 2016: (Jan–Mar17) 
 
• By aged 12 months, 96% of children in the North East (93% in England) had received a full 

primary course of diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, polio, haemophilus influenza type b 
vaccines. DTaP/IPV/Hib 

• By 12 months, 90.1% (84.7%) had received meningitis C vaccine. 
• By 24 months, 94.9% (91.2%) had received measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) vaccine 

(dose 1). 
• By 5 years, 92.5% (87.4%) had received two doses of MMR. 
• By 5 years, 92.4% (86.3%) had received diphtheria, tetanus, polio booster. (DTaP/IPV 

Booster) 
 
The vaccination programme 2017/18 
 
Further changes will be implemented in 2017/18: 
 
Hepatitis B: From autumn 2017, all babies born on or after 1 August 2017 will be eligible for a 
hexavalent vaccine which includes hepatitis B (HepB) for their primary immunisations. This 
vaccine, called Infanrix hexa®, will replace the pentavalent infant vaccines Infanrix®-IPV+Hib 
and Pediacel®. 
 
Childhood seasonal influenza: From Sept 2017 Four year olds are no longer included in this 
programme. They will be covered by the school programme.  
 
2.2 Planning 

The HPT works with local authorities, NHS organisations and a range of other agencies on a 
regular basis to develop and review plans for the prevention, surveillance and control of 
communicable disease.  Much of this work is undertaken at a ‘patch’ level (North of Tyne, 
South of Tyne and Wear, County Durham and Darlington, and Tees) and increasingly at local 
authority level.  Regular multi-agency meetings are held to share information, supported by a 
series of routine reports. 
 
PHE staff also attend a wide range of NHS planning and monitoring meetings and clinical 
networks and lead or attend task groups on specific diseases (such as TB or sexually 
transmitted diseases) or specific settings (such as colleges, universities or prisons).  More 
detail on some of these activities is provided in section 5. 
 
The HPT works closely with NHS England Cumbria and North East on planning for a range of 
serious and major incidents, developing joint response plans.  Further detail is provided in 
section 6.  

Page 63



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  12 

3 Surveillance – communicable disease 

3.1 Data flows 

Effective surveillance systems are essential to identify trends in, and outbreaks of, 
communicable diseases and to monitor the outcome of control actions. The HPT uses 
information from a wide variety of sources including: 
 
• Laboratory reports for a nationally determined list of organisms plus additional organisms 

agreed in the North East. 
• Formal notifications of suspected infectious diseases from registered medical practitioners 

and informal notifications from a range of healthcare workers. 
• Clinician reports of patients where urgent action may be needed to protect contacts. 
• Genito-urinary medicine clinics providing anonymised details of cases of sexually 

transmitted infections (STIs). 
• Hospital trusts on cases and incidents of healthcare associated infections (HCAIs). 
• Local authorities providing results of investigations into diseases which may be foodborne 

and intelligence about cases and outbreaks, usually of suspected food poisoning. 
• Prison healthcare staff reporting certain suspected diseases and possible outbreaks. 
• Care homes reporting illness in residents or staff, usually cases of diarrhoea and/or 

vomiting, but also respiratory disease outbreaks or other infections.  
• Reports from other settings such as schools and nurseries with concerns about possible 

outbreaks of flu-like illness, diarrhoea and/or vomiting, or illnesses with a rash. 
• Results of investigations by the NE HPT. 
• Other ad-hoc contacts. 
 
Case reports from notifications, laboratory reports and other sources are risk assessed by HPT 
staff and public health action taken as indicated.  All cases or incidents requiring public health 
action are entered on HPZone, the PHE case management system. 
 
Laboratory-confirmed cases, notifications of infectious disease and reports of certain other 
suspected diseases of local public health interest are entered on EpiNorth3, the North East 
surveillance system, which is used for cluster and exceedance detection, trend analysis and 
routine and ad-hoc reporting.  The outputs trigger and guide further investigations and assist in 
identifying outbreaks. 
 
Appendix 1 provides a summary of the main communicable disease cases reported in North 
East residents in 2015 and Appendix 2 a summary of the surveillance information which is 
routinely provided to local authorities and other partner organisations.    
 
Information is forwarded securely to national PHE surveillance systems for the production of 
national statistics and reports. PHE receives and processes identifiable personal information 
under specific legislation1 and the notification of infectious diseases legislation.2  All PHE staff 
                                            
 
1  Regulation 3.  The Health Service (Control of Patient Information) Regulations (2002) 
2  Health Protection (Notification)  Regulations 2010 

Page 64



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  13 

have a contractual requirement to protect the confidentiality of this information which is the 
same as that applied to NHS staff. 
 
3.2 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI) surveillance 

In England, it is mandatory for hospital trusts to report on the HCAI Data Capture System all 
cases of blood stream infection caused by meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) 
and methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA), E. coli, glycopeptide-resistant 
Enterococci (GRE) and infections with C. difficile (CDI). This is monitored by the local field 
epidemiology team who produce monthly reports. From April 2013 reports have been be sent to 
local trusts, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England area teams. Other infections 
(which make up the majority) are reported on a voluntary basis e.g. hospital norovirus 
outbreaks. 
 
Another health protection surveillance scheme is Surgical Site Infection, which helps hospitals 
monitor their own rates of post-surgical infection (mainly orthopaedic) and compare themselves 
with similar organisations. 
 
Additionally, PHE, in collaboration with the Department of Health, runs the Resistance Alert 
System, which tells microbiologists in the NHS about new and emerging resistance problems 
and how far they have spread. Enhanced Carbapenamase producing Enterbacteriaceae (CPE) 
surveillance was introduced in 2015. 
 
3.3 Surveillance of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) 

PHE collates anonymised information from genito-urinary medicine/sexual health clinics and 
non-specialist service on the number of infections and sexual health screening tests and 
treatments and produces national annual reports on STI in June / July each year. The quality of 
data reported from the North East remains high. 
 
PHE NE continues to produce quarterly and annual reports for in line with what was identified 
as useful by the review of stakeholder needs undertaken in 2014. These include locally 
produced reports, as well as the nationally produced annual local authority sexual and 
reproductive health profiles (LASERs) and the new Spotlight reports of STIs and HIV. 
 
The GUMCAD2 system collects information on STI testing and diagnosis in GUM and non-
specialist settings, including primary care. The HPT and FES team, together with the PHE NE 
Sexual Health facilitator (a shared post with Yorkshire and Humber), continue to work with local 
services to ensure completeness of reporting to this system. 
 
3.4 Surveillance of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) 

An enhanced invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) surveillance system was established by the 
NE HPT in 2006 to investigate the epidemiology of IPD. This project is funded to the end of 
December 2018.  
  

Page 65



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  14 

4 Control – specific diseases 

Early diagnosis by clinicians, prompt treatment of cases and early reporting by microbiologists 
and clinicians to the NE HPT are essential in enabling prompt public health action for diseases 
such as meningococcal infection.  For other diseases such as gastrointestinal infections, initial 
reporting may be through local authority environmental health officers. 
 
4.1 Meningococcal meningitis and septicaemia 

Meningococcal meningitis and septicaemia (blood poisoning) are serious illnesses that mainly 
occur in children and young adults and can sometimes cause long-term disability and death.   
 
Figure 4.1 Number of cases of invasive meningococcal disease (IMD) in the North East by age 
group and overall rate from 2008 to 2016 
 

 
 
 
The numbers above the bars show the overall rate of cases of IMD per 100,000 in the North 
East. Approximately 10% of adults carry meningococcal bacteria without developing illness.  
Meningococcal disease does not spread easily from person to person and is usually acquired 
from a very close contact that remains well.  Cases of meningococcal disease can result in 
considerable anxiety.   
 
HPT staff identify close contacts of each case to offer them advice, information and 
chemoprophylaxis (preventive antibiotics) if required.  They also support schools, colleges, 
universities and workplaces where a student or staff member has been diagnosed with 
meningococcal disease.  Linked cases and outbreaks of meningococcal disease are 
uncommon. 
 
  

Page 66



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  15 

Table 4.1 Number and rate of cases of meningococcal disease by local authority for 2016 
 

Local Authority Number of cases Rate (per 100,000) 

County Durham 19 3.7 
Darlington 3 2.8 
Gateshead 10 5.0 
Hartlepool 5 5.4 
Middlesbrough 6 4.3 
Newcastle upon Tyne 15 5.1 
North Tyneside 4 2.0 
Northumberland 13 4.1 
Redcar and Cleveland 4 3.0 
South Tyneside 4 2.7 
Stockton-on-Tees 4 2.1 
Sunderland 9 3.2 
North East Total 96 3.7 

      *Rate uses local authority population figures for 2015 
 
Meningococcal disease in the UK due to serogroup group C has reduced significantly since the 
introduction of group C vaccine in 2006.  Serogroup group B now accounts for the majority of 
cases nationally. The increased incidence of serogroup groups B and W seen during 2014 and 
2015 in the North East is consistent with a national trend. In 2015 67% (38/56) of North East 
laboratory confirmed cases were serogroup B and 23% (13/56) were serogroup W135.  
 
Table 4.2 Laboratory confirmed cases of meningococcal disease by serotype for 2008 to 2016 
 

Serogroup 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

B 83 68 53 62 48 31 33 38 39 
W135 2 1 1 3 3 4 12 13 23 
Y 3 1 3 0 4 3 4 4 5 
C 1 0 0 0 3 1 2 1 5 
Z 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Ungrouped 34 45 46 34 48 22 48 25 24 
North East 
Total 123 115 103 99 106 61 99 81 96 

 
Meningococcal disease can affect all age groups but the highest rates of disease are in 
children under five years of age, with a peak incidence in those under one year of age. There is 
a second peak incidence in young adults aged fifteen to nineteen years old. 
 
  

Page 67



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  16 

4.2 Invasive Group A streptococcal disease (iGAS) and scarlet fever 

Group A streptococcal (GAS) infections are very common and usually produce mild illness 
easily treated with antibiotics. 
 
Table 4.3: Scarlet fever notifications to NE PHE Centre, Quarter 1 2011/2017 
 

Year Quarter Total 
1 2 3 4 

2011 73 41 24 47 185 
2012 61 54 30 151 296 
2013 193 127 29 67 416 
2014 304 523 114 185 1126 
2015 464 243 84 162 953 
2016 491       367 127 146 1131 
2017 310     

 
Scarlet fever is a rash illness mainly of children caused by GAS.  It is notified by clinicians to 
PHE. Scarlet fever can occasionally lead to serious complications. These are to a large extent 
preventable by treatment of scarlet fever with antibiotics.  
 
Following the increase in notifications of scarlet fever observed in 2014, the number of 
notifications for 2015 dropped slightly, but remained above historical levels. In 2016, quarterly 
notifications of scarlet fever were higher than in 2015 for quarters 1- 3, but in quarter 4, there 
were fewer notifications than in the same quarter in 2015. Across 2016 as a whole, there were 
1131 notifications: about 20% more than in 2015 and an increase of five cases on the previous 
peak in 2014. In Q1 2017 notifications decreased for the first time since 2012, however the 
number remained above expected levels. 
 
Table 4.4:  Invasive Group A streptococcal disease reported to NE PHE Centre, Quarter 1 
2011/2017 
 

Year Quarter Total 
1 2 3 4 

2011 33 22 12 8 75 
2012 21 13 20 33 87 
2013 36 61 17 22 136 
2014 35 36 28 18 117 
2015 47 54 34 33 168 
2016 56 59 24 26 165 
2017 58     

 
Invasive Group A streptococcal (iGAS) infection is defined as the isolation of group A 
streptococci from a normally sterile site (for example in the bloodstream). It encompasses a 
range of diseases including necrotising fasciitis, septic arthritis, meningitis and pneumonia.  It is 
a serious infection with a case fatality rate of approximately 15-20% within one week of 
diagnosis.  

Page 68



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  17 

When cases of iGAS are reported by clinicians to the North East PHE Centre, the HPT 
undertake a risk assessment and provide advice and/or recommend treatment to close 
community contacts. iGAS infections have a seasonal pattern with the highest incidence from 
December to April. The Incidence of iGAS in the NE rose significantly in 2013 and has 
remained elevated with a peak of 168 cases reported in 2015 and a slight decrease to 165 
cases in 2016.  
 
4.3 Gastrointestinal infections including food poisoning 

A number of organisms can cause gastrointestinal infection of which campylobacter and 
salmonella are the bacteria most commonly identified by laboratories. A large number of viral 
gastrointestinal infections occur but most are never laboratory confirmed as symptoms are 
usually short-lived. Food poisoning outbreaks are described in Section 5. The majority of the 
NE HPT’s work on gastrointestinal infections relates to individual sporadic cases of infection.  
 
Vero Cytotoxin Producing Escherichia coli (VTEC) infection is caused by the consumption of 
contaminated food, milk and water or from contact with animals or their faeces. E. coli O157 
are the commonest bacteria causing VTEC infection. It is an important infection as only a small 
number of bacteria are required to cause illness and infection in young children and older 
people can result in serious complications including kidney failure and is sometimes fatal. The 
number of cases of VTEC infection in the North East each year is relatively small (39 cases in 
2016), but the prevention of cases remains very important due to the risk of severe illness.  
Every case of VTEC is rigorously investigated by the HPT and the relevant local authority 
environmental health officers. In 2016 there were no serious outbreaks of VTEC in the North 
East but there were a number of family clusters of cases. 
 
Figure 4.2: Reported cases of campylobacter, cryptosporidium, salmonella and VTEC infection 
in North East residents from 2007 to 2016 
 

 
 
 

2869 

359 

40 

395 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 N
um

be
r o

f C
am

py
lo

ba
ct

er
 c

as
es

 p
er

 y
ea

r 

N
um

be
r o

f c
as

es
 p

er
 y

ea
r (

Sa
lm

on
el

la
, 

Cr
yp

to
sp

or
id

iu
m

 a
nd

 E
. C

ol
i O

15
7)

 

YEAR 

CAMPYLOBACTER CRYPTOSPORIDIUM E. Coli O157 SALMONELLA

Page 69



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  18 

Campylobacter infection is by far the most common bacterial cause of gastrointestinal infection 
reported regionally causing more than 75% of all cases. Reducing the numbers of 
campylobacter cases requires actions at all stages of meat (particularly chicken) production 
and processing from the farm all the way to, and within, the home. There were more than 300 
fewer cases in 2016 compared to 2015 (2869 vs 3183 cases). It is not clear if this decrease will 
continue as numbers have fluctuated between 2772 and 3525 cases over the past ten years. 
 
Salmonella is the second most common bacterial cause of gastrointestinal infection.  All cases 
of salmonella are investigated by the HPT and the local authority EHOs. The trend in number of 
cases has been fairly unchanged in recent years with increases in some years associated with 
local or national outbreaks.  
 
Cryptosporidium infection is the most common protozoal gastrointestinal infection. Infection is 
often acquired from contact with contaminated animals or with animal faeces in the 
environment or from contaminated food or water. The incidence varies from year to year and in 
2012 and 2015 there were large national outbreaks including increased incidence in North East 
residents. In 2016 outbreaks of cryptosporidiosis in the North East were associated with using 
some swimming pools. 
 
Other less common causes of food poisoning such as Clostridium perfringens, Staphylococcus 
aureus, listeria and yersinia are also investigated.  The severity of illness which can be caused 
by some infections such as listeria means that there is a higher level of concern about even a 
small number of cases. 
 
4.4 Influenza 

This section should be read alongside the joint NHS England North / PHE seasonal influenza 
vaccination report 2016/17.  
 
Seasonal influenza.  
 
Moderate levels of influenza activity were seen in the community in the UK during the 2016-17 
season, with influenza A(H3N2) the dominant circulating virus.1 GP consultation rates for 
influenza like illness (ILI) exceeded the baseline threshold for approximately six weeks and 
peaked in the first week of 2017 Figure 4.3   
 
In common with previous H3N2 seasons (the last of which was 2014/15), the impact was 
predominantly seen in older adults with a high proportion of outbreaks (78%) occurring in care 
homes.1 The number and rate of hospital admissions for confirmed influenza cases peaked in 
week 05 2017 (161 admissions, 2.6 per 100,000 population trust catchment area).1 This peak 
was lower than the previous influenza season (2015/16) but higher than the last influenza 
A(H3N2) dominated season (2014/15). ICU/HCU admissions of confirmed influenza peaked in 
week 01 2017, the majority of which (95%) were due to influenza A.  ICU admission occurred in 
all age groups but just under half (44%) of admissions were aged 65+ years.1  
 
 
 
 

Page 70



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  19 

Figure 4.3: GP in hours consultation rates for ILI winter 2016 – 2017.  
 
 

 
 
 
Influenza A positivity peaked in week 01 2017 with the highest age-specific activity seen in the 
65+ year group. Low levels of influenza B were noted and occurred later in the season.1  The 
majority of circulating A(H3N2) strains were genetically and antigenically similar to the North 
Hemisphere 2016/17 (H3N2) vaccine strain.1  
 
Excess all-cause mortality was observed in all age groups for six weeks (week 52 2016 to week 
05 2017) and predominantly in the 65+ age group.1   
 
During the 2016/17 season 21 respiratory outbreaks in care homes were reported to the North 
East Health Protection Team (HPT) of which 12 had one or more confirmed influenza A cases.  
Antiviral treatment was advised for four of these outbreaks. 
 
Pandemic influenza  
 
A pandemic of influenza infection may occur when a new flu virus circulates to which few 
people have any existing immunity. In 2016 both the North East and national pandemic flu 
frameworks were tested during multi-agency exercises. 
 
Avian influenza  
 
Avian influenza is an infectious disease of birds caused by the influenza A virus.2 Human 
infections with avian influenza are rare although some strains such as H5N6, H5N1 and H7N9 
have been associated with human illness. 
 
In 2016, a significant number of EU countries reported identification of A(H5N8) in a variety of 
wild bird species, including migratory birds.3  In December 2016, the Chief Veterinary Officer 
declared a prevention zone in England to help protect poultry and captive birds from influenza 
A (H5N8).3  As of 20th March 2017, 10 confirmed outbreaks amongst avian species and 26 wild 
bird incidents were reported across the UK.3  Two H5N8 incidents were reported to the North 

Page 71



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  20 

East HPT in early 2017 (one affecting wild birds and the other a backyard poultry flock).To 
date, no human infections with this virus have been reported world-wide. 
 
PHE works closely with colleagues in the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA) and 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) to respond to outbreaks of 
infection in birds. People who have potentially been exposed to diseased birds or affected 
premises are monitored for 10 days since last exposure. 
 
Middle Eastern Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV)  
 
The World Health Organisation (WHO) first reported cases of MERS-CoV in September 2012.1 

MERS-CoV is a viral respiratory illness, characterised by fever and cough, progressing to 
severe pneumonia. It has been noted to cause large outbreaks particularly within healthcare 
settings. Most cases have occurred in the Middle East with some secondary transmission 
(including cases in the UK) following importation. No positive cases have been reported in the 
UK since February 2013, but PHE continues to monitor potential cases of severe respiratory 
disease in returning travellers.1 In 2016/17 6 possible cases of MERS-CoV were reported to the 
North East HPT. None of these cases were confirmed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 1 PHE.  Surveillance of influenza and other respiratory viruses in the UK: Winter 2016 to 2017.  Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/613493/Surveillance_of_influenza_and_other_re
spiratory_viruses_in_the_UK_2016_to_2017.pdf 
 
2 PHE.  Avian influenza: guidance, data and analysis.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/avian-influenza-
guidance-data-and-analysis 
 
3 PHE. Avian Influenza A(H5N8) in the UK: risk assessment.  Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/avian-
influenza-ah5n8-risk-assessment  
 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/613493/Surveillance_of_influenza_and_other_respiratory_viruses_in_the_UK_2016_to_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/613493/Surveillance_of_influenza_and_other_respiratory_viruses_in_the_UK_2016_to_2017.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/avian-influenza-guidance-data-and-analysis
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/avian-influenza-guidance-data-and-analysis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/avian-influenza-ah5n8-risk-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/avian-influenza-ah5n8-risk-assessment


Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  21 

4.5 Surveillance of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and HIV 

PHE collates anonymised information from genito-urinary medicine/sexual health clinics and 
infectious diseases services on the number of infections and sexual health screening tests and 
treatments and produces national annual reports on STIs (in June/July) and HIV (in November) 
each year. The quality of data reported from North East clinics remains high. 
 
PHE NE continues to produce quarterly and annual reports. These include locally produced 
reports, as well as the nationally produced annual local authority sexual and reproductive 
health profiles (LASERs) and the new Spotlight reports of STIs and HIV. Data are also 
available on the PHE fingertips tool, where stakeholders can review a number of indicators of 
sexual and reproductive health at a local authority level.  
 
See: http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/sexualhealth 
 
The HPT and FES team, together with the PHE NE Sexual Health facilitator, continue to work 
with local services and commissioners to ensure completeness of reporting to these systems. 
 
The most common sexually transmitted infections in the North East remain chlamydia, genital 
warts, herpes, gonorrhoea and syphilis. As noted in previous reports, STIs affect certain groups 
of the population more than others; infections in young people account for over 50% of all STIs, 
although young people only make up 12% of the population.  Higher rates of some STIs also 
occur in some minority ethnic communities such as black Africans.  These groups may also find 
it more difficult to discuss issues about sexual health or access services to diagnose and treat 
their infections. 
 
The main roles of PHE with regard to sexual health and HIV are surveillance of infections (see 
section 3.3), strategic work with partners to tackle the rising levels of sexually transmitted 
infections and HIV, and response to outbreaks.  
 
More detailed information about the patterns of infection is reported in the North East Annual 
Sexually Transmitted Infections and North East Annual HIV reports. Data presented in this 
section are from 2016, the most recent published STI and HIV figures. 
 
During 2016/17 PHE North East has continued to support the wider public health and 
commissioning system in the region through a series of workshops on sexual and reproductive 
health data, commissioning of services and workforce development & training including 
considering sexual health risks and challenges for vulnerable groups, joint work between 
sexual health and drug & alcohol services on Chemsex and a workshop on interpreting routine 
data to assess sexual health needs. 
 
Overall numbers of STIs in the North East in 2016 
 
There were 17, 645 new diagnoses (8574 M; 9055 F) of STIs in the North East in 2016, a slight 
decrease from 2015. The overall rate is 672 / 100 000 population (lower than the England rate 
of 762 / 100 000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 73

http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/sexualhealth


Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  22 

Chlamydia 
 
Chlamydia remains the most common STI in the region.  The number of chlamydia cases 
diagnosed in North East residents increased slightly in 2016 (5614 cases) compared to 2015 
figures (5282), the rate of infection (213 per 100,000 population) is lower than the overall 
England rate (369/100 000).  
 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework includes the diagnosis rate of chlamydia as one of its 
targets. This measure combines the coverage of screening programmes with the number of 
people diagnosed with the infection and has been designed to measure whether screening 
initiatives are reaching those most at risk. The target is 2,300 diagnoses per 100,000 
population (in 15–24 year olds). Achievement of this target has fallen over the past year; further 
work is taking place with commissioners, services and the sexual health team in PHE NE to 
understand the reasons for this decline. 
 
Approximately 5% of people who had chlamydia in 2015 had had a previous infection within the 
preceding 12 months, which is similar to previous years. 
 
Gonorrhoea 
 
Encouragingly, in 2016 figures across England the number of gonorrhoea cases decreased for 
the first time in recent years. However this was not the case in the North East where numbers 
increased by 11% from 1570 in 2015 to 1738 in 2016, a rate of 68 per 100,000 population 
(range across the 12 local authorities of 24 – 92 per 100 000), continuing the trend seen over 
the previous five years. 
 
The demographics of gonorrhoea cases have shown some changes, in keeping with the 
outbreaks that have affected young heterosexual adults in various parts of the region, with a 
decrease in the ratio of males/females from 3:1 in 2005 to 1.3:1 in 2014. Although the majority 
of cases were in young adults (<24yrs), over the last three years there has been a doubling of 
cases in men in the 35–44 year age group, highlighting the importance of reaching all groups 
with prevention and testing messages. 
 
Of interest from a public health perspective is that approximately 4% of cases of gonorrhoea 
had a previous infection within the preceding 12 months, highlighting the need for on-going 
campaigns to raise awareness and prevent transmission of infections.  The concerns about 
antibiotic resistance in gonorrhoea continue; there has been an outbreak of highly resistant 
gonorrhoea in England over the past year; three cases of this strain were seen in the North 
East in early 2017. Investigations did not discover any links between the cases, however 
clinicians and laboratories remain vigilant for further cases. 
 
Syphilis 
 
The number of syphilis cases in the North East remained stable at 156 in 2016, following a 
pattern of year-on-year increase since 2010. Although numbers of cases are much lower than 
chlamydia or gonorrhoea diagnoses, the potential long-term consequences of syphilis infection 
mean that this is a development that requires public health action. 
 
 
 

Page 74



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  23 

Public health concerns 
 
The increase in gonorrhoea and continuing high numbers of syphilis cases highlights the need 
to remain vigilant to the trends of infection in the population and the importance of surveillance 
and close networks with clinicians to identify changes in the patterns of infection in the 
community. 
 
The continuing priority for public health and health protection in the North East is to ensure that 
commissioners and providers continue to work together to identify common areas for action, to 
tackle the rise in STIs, in particular gonorrhoea and syphilis, in a consistent, collaborative and 
effective way across the region. 
 
HIV 
 
The North East has a relatively low number of cases of HIV infection. In 2015 (the latest data 
available) 122 people were newly diagnosed with HIV. This brought the total of people living 
with HIV in the North East to 1696. 
 
It is important that the focus on preventing infection is maintained along with improving rates of 
HIV testing in non-specialist settings to ensure that those who have HIV are diagnosed 
promptly and offered effective treatment and support and advice about reducing risks to others.   
 
As with other STIs, HIV infection affects some groups of the population disproportionately and it 
is important that services and prevention work reflect the pattern of infection in local 
populations. 
 
Key issues about HIV in 2016/17 include: 
 
• Thirty-nine per cent of newly diagnosed cases of HIV in 2015 were diagnosed ‘late’ or ‘very’ 

late’, which has a significant impact on long-term health outcomes. Late diagnosis remains 
an important challenge for the region, as well as for England as a whole and PHE is 
supporting work through the HIV Clinical Network to explore the reasons for late diagnosis 
and put in place actions to increase testing and improve early diagnosis. 

• Twenty-two per cent of people newly diagnosed with HIV in 2015 had acquired their 
infection within the preceding four to six months (classed as ‘recent’ infections) highlighting 
the need to continue the work to prevent transmission of infection 

• An increase in transmission amongst men who have sex with men (MSM), following several 
years where heterosexual transmission was greater than that in MSM. 

 
Over the past year, PHE has worked with clinical and laboratory colleagues to introduce 
enhanced surveillance of newly diagnosed HIV cases to help understand transmission patterns 
within the region and target prevention activities. 
 
PHE North East has also facilitated the roll-out of HIV Home sampling project in all 12 local 
authorities in the North East; this nationally coordinated project, with tests funded by local 
authorities and PHE, aims to increase testing in high risk, hard to reach groups and so aid 
earlier diagnosis of HIV in these groups.  By the end of the first year, almost 1500 HIV tests had 
been returned from NE residents; almost half of these responders had never had an HIV test 
before, thus meeting the aim of the project which was to increase testing and diagnosis in 

Page 75



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  24 

people who are unaware of their possible diagnosis.  Work is continuing to review in more 
detail who is using this service, how to target messages about testing in those most at 
risk/need and ensure services are meeting those needs.   
 
4.6 Hepatitis B and C infections 

Hepatitis B (HBV) infection  

The hepatitis B virus (HBV) causes hepatitis (inflammation of the liver) and can also cause long 
term liver damage. Many people have no symptoms while others experience a flu-like illness, 
tiredness, joint pains, and a loss of appetite. Other symptoms may include nausea and 
vomiting. Acute infection can be severe causing abdominal discomfort and jaundice. Mortality 
during the acute phase of infection is less than 1%.  

The virus may be transmitted by contact with infected blood or body fluids such as through 
household or sexual contact with an infected person. The virus can be spread by the following 
routes: 

• Sharing the use of contaminated equipment during injecting drug use. 
• Vertical transmission (mother to baby) from an infectious mother to her unborn child  
• Sexual transmission  
• Receipt of infectious blood (via transfusion) or infectious blood products (for example 

clotting factors)  
• Needlestick or other sharps injuries (in particular those sustained by hospital personnel)  

About 90% of cases recover fully from the acute infection and develop immunity.  The remaining 
10% develop chronic hepatitis B which is frequently asymptomatic and cases may be unaware of 
their infection.  Many chronic hepatitis B cases remain infectious and are at risk of developing 
cirrhosis and liver cancer in later years.  An effective vaccine is available that can provide pre and 
post-exposure protection against hepatitis B infection.  Where indicated, medical treatment of 
chronic infection may be effective in more than 50% of cases. 
 
The North East Health HPT provides direct public health advice in relation to cases of acute 
hepatitis B and their contacts.  In 2016 a total of 16 cases of acute infection were reported in 
the North East (see table below) compared to 8 cases in 2015, 16 cases in 2014 and 17 cases 
in 2013.  The median age of cases was 48 years. Sexual transmission, was the most likely 
route of exposure for 11 (69% of cases), with seven cases reporting sex between men and 
women as the most likely source.   
 

During 2016, 196 new diagnoses of chronic hepatitis B infection were reported across the North 
East.  Written public health advice is given for chronic cases and their contacts via the treating 
clinician. 
  

Page 76



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  25 

Table 4.5: Acute Hepatitis B cases reported to the North East Health Protection Team in 2016 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hepatitis C (HCV) infection 

It is estimated that around 160,000 people in the United Kingdom have chronic hepatitis C virus 
(HCV) infection, many of whom are unaware that they are infected.  HCV is transmitted mainly 
through exposure to blood, blood-contaminated equipment or much more rarely by sexual 
intercourse or from mother-to-baby.  Injecting drug use remains the most important risk factor for 
HCV infection in the United Kingdom.  Although most people with acute HCV infection do not 
have any symptoms, 80% develop chronic infection and may develop cirrhosis, liver failure or 
liver cancer 20-40 years later.  There is no vaccine to prevent HCV but people with HCV 
infection can benefit from the protection offered by hepatitis A and B vaccines.   

There have been major developments in hepatitis C treatments over recent years with the 
advent of highly effective and well tolerated directly acting antiviral drugs.  If diagnosed, most 
patients can be cured of their infection.  Hepatitis C treatment in England is now being 
delivered through NHS Operational Delivery Networks (ODNs) which were established during 
2015.  During 2016/17 approximately 400 patients across the North East and Cumbria received 
hepatitis C treatment. Written public health advice is given for hepatitis C cases and their 
contacts via the treating clinician. 

In England, the incidence of HCV-related end-stage liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma 
appears to have remained stable over the last five years and during 2016 there was an 8% fall 
in the number of deaths in England from these indications.  This may be relative to the 
availability of new treatments for those patients with advanced liver disease.  

Undetected HCV infection means that an individual cannot benefit from treatment and they may 
also continue to be a source of infection to others.   

As in previous years, key public health actions are to continue work on prevention and increase 
detection and treatment of hepatitis B and C, especially among high risk groups such as 
injecting drug users and prisoners.  An enhanced prison-based screening and referral pathway 
for HCV (and also HBV and HIV) has successfully been implemented in one North East prison 
and is now being rolled out to other prisons across the North East.  PHE North East continues 
to actively supporting the North East and Cumbria Hepatitis C ODN to ensure effectively 
delivery of treatment in the region. 

 Male Female Total 
Number (%) 9 (56%) 7 (44%) 16 
Median age (range) 48 (23-72) 46 (27-74) 48 (23-74) 
Ethnicity 
- White British 
- Unknown 

 
6 
3 

 
5 
2 

 
11 
5 

Most likely place of transmission 
- UK 
- Outside UK 
- Not known 

 
3 
1 
5 

 
3 
2 
2 

 
6 
3 
7 

Most likely Source 
- Heterosexual sex 
- Sex between men 
- Unknown/other 

 
4 
2 
4 

 
5 
0 
1 

 
9 
2 
5 

Page 77



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  26 

4.7 Tuberculosis   
 
There were 123 cases of TB reported to the Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance System 
(ETS) in North East residents for the calendar year of 2016 (provisional data). This gives an 
incidence of 4.9 cases per 100,000 population which is the same as for the finalised 2015 data.  
 
TB incidence in the North East is much lower than that for the UK as a whole, (10.5 cases per 
100,000 in 2015). Rates of disease vary across the North East, with rates typically higher in 
urban areas. In the finalised 2015 data, highest rates were reported in Newcastle and 
Middlesbrough local authority areas, with rates of 15.7 and 9.3 per 100,000 respectively, 
compared to less than 3 per 100,000 in North Tyneside, Northumberland, County Durham, 
Hartlepool and Redcar & Cleveland. 
 
In addition, while the national incidence has shown a sustained significant decrease for three 
consecutive years, incidence in the North East has remained relatively static (subject to 
expected year-to-year variation). If we are to eradicate TB as a cause of public health concern, 
as per the WHO ambition, then we need to do more in the North East despite our low 
incidence.  
 
In contrast to the national picture, almost half of cases of TB in the North East (43% in 2015) 
were in people born in the UK. In 2015, the incidence of TB in the most deprived quintile of the 
North East population was 9.1 per 100,000: more than thrice that in the least deprived quintile 
(2.7 per 100,000). In addition, 12% have social risk factors such as homelessness, 
imprisonment, and drug or alcohol misuse. Hence, the epidemiology strongly points us towards 
taking further action to find and treat TB in underserved groups. 
 
The completion rate for TB treatment is an outcome monitored as part of the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework. Treatment for TB is complex, and typically involves taking a number of 
antibiotics for a period of at least six months. In 2015, 82% of North East cases completed 
treatment within 12 months (excluding drug resistant, nervous system, spinal, miliary and 
cryptic disseminated TB cases, for which standard treatment regimens typically last longer than 
12 months). This figure rises to 87% when deceased cases are excluded. Considering the 
demographics of TB cases in the North East, this is testament to excellent work on the part of 
community TB teams, who succeed in engaging a typically ‘hard to reach’ cohort in prolonged 
continuous treatment. 
 
TB is one of PHE’s national priorities, as reflected in the Collaborative Tuberculosis Strategy for 
England 2015-2020. The North East and Yorkshire and The Humber TB Control Board 
oversees delivery of the TB Strategy across these two regions, and to help provide assurance 
that appropriate TB services continue to be commissioned and that the community TB nursing 
services are fully supported.  
 
In 2016, we re-established the North East TB Network, which brings together hospital 
respiratory teams, community TB nurses, local authorities, CCGs and PHE on a bi-annual 
basis. This allows us to think collectively about our approach to TB across the region, and to 
take collective action to ensure that TB cases in the North East are swiftly detected and 
effectively treated. 
 
 

Page 78



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  27 

4.8 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease (IPD)  

IPD is a serious infection caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae. The most common 
manifestations of IPD are bacteraemic pneumonia, septicaemia and meningitis. IPD 
disproportionately affects young children, older aged adults and individuals with a weakened 
immune system. Two vaccines protecting against common pneumococcal serotypes are 
currently licensed in the UK: the 13-valent Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV), which is 
included in the childhood immunisation programme, and the 23-valent Pneumococcal 
Polysaccharide Vaccine (PPV23), which is recommended to all individuals aged ≥65 years and  
clinically defined risk groups aged 2-64 years. 
 
Prior to 2014-15 the incidence of IPD in the North East had decreased from 12.1 cases per 
100,000 in 2006-07 to 6.5 cases per 100,000 in 2013-14. However, the incidence of IPD 
unexpectedly rose in 2014-15 and 2015-16 and plateaued in 2016-17 at 11.7 cases per 
100,000 population, a rate similar to that reported in 2006-07. 
 
Although the incidence of IPD caused by PCV13 serotypes has decreased dramatically since 
PCV13 implementation, non-PVC13 IPD has increased. In particular, serotypes exclusive to 
PPV23 have risen substantially since 2013-14. In addition, non-vaccine IPD has continued to 
rise since 2006-07 as a result of pneumococcal serotype replacement. The rise in the number 
of PPV23 exclusive and non-vaccine IPD occurred in all age groups but was highest in older 
adults.  
 
The proportion of individuals in clinical risk groups who developed IPD who were reported to 
have previously been immunised remains low - 40% in 2016-17. These findings highlight the 
need for continued surveillance of the distribution of pneumococcal serotypes and regular 
evaluation of national immunisation schedules in order to tackle the persistent burden of IPD. 
 
Figure 4.4: Number of IPD cases in the North East, April 20016 – March 2017 by serotype 
 

 
 

Page 79



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  28 

PCV13: 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine serotype cases; PPV23 Exclusive: 23-
valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine serotype cases, excluding those also captured by 
PCV13; Non-vaccine: non-vaccine type serotype cases; Not typed: cases of IPD with no 
pneumococcal serotype provided. 
 
4.9 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI)  

Prevention and control of healthcare associated infections (HCAIs) is the responsibility of 
provider organisations. PHE supports organisations in this work in a number of ways. 
 
PHE’s Field Epidemiology Service (FES) supports the collection of surveillance data on a 
number of commonly healthcare-associated infections using a number of systems, as 
discussed in Section 3.2.  
 
The data generated through these systems is then adopted by the NHS. For organisms such as 
MRSA and Clostridium Difficile, a complex set of rules and appeals are applied to this data, 
through which Trusts, CCGs and NHS England collectively ‘assign’ cases of infection to Trusts 
(implying that these are healthcare associated infections) or to communities (implying that 
these are community-acquired sporadic cases of infection). Typically, Trusts have targets for 
the number of ‘Trust assigned’ cases of these infections occurring in a given year with financial 
and other penalties should these targets fail to be reached. 
 
Nationally and internationally, there is an increasing focus on gram negative bacteria in 
healthcare settings. This is linked to the antimicrobial resistance agenda: there are fewer 
antibiotic options for gram negative organisms, and the proportion of gram negative organisms 
resistant to existing antibiotics is growing.  
 
As a result, new national targets are being introduced on the number of healthcare associated 
blood stream infections caused by gram negative bacteria. In addition, there is focus on all 
infections caused by carbapenemase-producing enterobacteriaceae (CPE). This is a large 
family of gram-negative bacteria which are able to break down carbapenem antibiotics, which 
are commonly used to treat gram-negative infections. Outside of the North East, there have 
been large hospital outbreaks of CPE organisms, and so all Trusts now have special infection 
control arrangements for CPE cases. The number of CPE cases is also carefully monitored by 
PHE’s Field Epidemiology Service on behalf of the NHS. 
 
The Health Protection Team (HPT) supports Trusts through providing expert guidance on 
outbreaks and incidents in Trusts, especially where these outbreaks involve pathogens more 
commonly associated with community outbreaks. For example, in 2016/17, the HPT supported 
Trusts with outbreaks of influenza, salmonella and Clostridium Difficile. 
 
4.10 Antimicrobial Resistance  

Antimicrobial resistance remains a growing threat to public health. It is not a new problem: the 
first bacteria resistant to penicillin were discovered the same year as the drug itself.  Yet as a 
result of a wide range of factors, including indiscriminate use of antibiotics in medicine and 
wider society, and few major developments in antibiotics over many years, antimicrobial 
resistance is now reaching a critical point.  
 

Page 80



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  29 

Antimicrobial resistance is not solely a human health problem: action needs to be taken in 
many different areas in order to effectively tackle the problem, including the farming and 
veterinary sectors. The UK’s Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy3 is intended to ensure that 
action is taken across government. NICE Guidance4 published in January underlines the need 
for action across the public and private sector in order to change AMR risk-related behaviours 
in the general population. 
 
There have been recent changes in the allocation of national responsibility for the health 
aspects of Antimicrobial Resistance, with NHS England having the primary leadership role.  
 
In the North East, PHE supports the antimicrobial resistance agenda through surveillance and 
expert microbiological advice.  
 
The majority of hospital Trust laboratories in the North East electronically report the results of 
antibiotic sensitivity tests from microbiological specimens. This data, along with clinical and 
pharmacological expertise, is used to allow microbiologists to refine hospital and community 
antibiotic formularies, ensuring that patients are given the most appropriate empirical antibiotic 
treatments before the sensitivities of their specific isolate are known.  
 
The North East Centre publishes a dedicated AMR report for microbiologists in the region, 
bringing together surveillance data and expert clinical commentary. This unique format of AMR 
surveillance reporting has been presented internationally as an example of good practice. 
 
In addition, the PHE Regional Microbiologist has established a regional antibiotic steering 
group with cross-system representation. This aims to co-ordinate practical action across 
organisations at a regional level. Its initial focus is on ensuring that urinary tract infections are 
appropriately assessed across the health economy, with antibiotics given only where 
necessary, and ensuring that the right antibiotic is given at the right dose for the right length of 
time. 
 

  

                                            
 
3https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-5-year-antimicrobial-resistance-strategy-2013-to-2018 
 
4 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng63 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-5-year-antimicrobial-resistance-strategy-2013-to-2018
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng63


Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  30 

5 Control - responding to communicable 
disease outbreaks and incidents  

 
5.7 Overview 

Outbreaks of infectious diseases are relatively common and community-based outbreaks are 
managed through an agreed local operational response by the NE HPT, local authorities and 
the NHS.  Considerable effort is also put into the prevention of outbreaks through activities 
such as the inspection role of environmental health officers, NHS and PHE roles in relation to 
immunisation and infection control and the monitoring actions of other bodies such as water 
companies. 
 
Some organisms are implicated relatively often in outbreaks such as norovirus (winter vomiting 
virus).  Outbreaks of norovirus are very common but the disease (vomiting and some 
diarrhoea) is almost always self-limiting.  Concern is higher in relation to an outbreak where 
more serious disease occurs, for example, E. coli O157 can cause serious illness including 
kidney damage.   
 
Risk assessment includes the organism (or probable organism), mode and ease of 
transmission, possible numbers exposed, setting and vulnerability of those exposed. The risk of 
an outbreak is higher in certain settings (e.g. prisons, schools, care homes) and among some 
groups (e.g. people who inject drugs, people who are homeless).  
 
The most common outbreaks are of vomiting/diarrhoea in care homes and outbreaks of food 
poisoning possibly associated with restaurants or catered events.   
 
Public health action is taken to control the outbreak by any combination of controlling the 
source of the organism (e.g. better hygiene in a food premises), ceasing exposure (e.g. 
withdrawing a food from sale, hygiene and cleanliness in care homes), breaking the chain of 
transmission (e.g. by treatment of cases, isolation of cases in hospital), reducing vulnerability 
(e.g. by immunisation or antibiotic prophylaxis). 
 
In addition to managing community incidents and outbreaks, the HPT supports the 
management of incidents in hospitals. 
 
5.8 Numbers and types of incidents 

In total, in 2016/17, the NE HPT was involved in investigating and where necessary managing 
132 community outbreaks, incidents and clusters (including non-GI care home incidents). There 
were also 250 outbreaks of gastrointestinal illness in care homes, compared with 275 in 
2015/16.  

 
This involved 19 incident /outbreak control teams being established by the HPT (22 in 
2015/16).   
 

 

Page 82



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  31 

Table 5.1: Community incidents/outbreaks led by PHE requiring an Incident/Outbreak 
Control Team arising in 2016/17  
 

Organism Type of setting or 
exposure  

Number 
distinct 
incidents or 
outbreaks 

Key issues 

Gastroenteritis 
 
 

Pub/catered event 
 
 
 
Care home 

1 
 
 
       
          1 

Probably viral person to person spread, noted 
that no formal Food Safety Management 
System in place. 
 
No obvious cause on sampling.  Minor hygiene 
issues identified. 

Clostridium 
difficile 
 

Care home 1 Infection control issues identified.  Training 
and remediation put in place. 

Hepatitis A School 1 Child with Hep A attended school whilst 
infectious. Multi agency response required to 
coordinate vaccination of children and staff. 

Cryptosporidium Community 2 One small outbreak linked to a swimming pool.  
No obvious precipitating incident or omission 
relating to pool management identified. 
 
One outbreak linked to two community pools.  
No obvious precipitating incident and minor 
improvements in pool maintenance suggested. 

Influenza Prison 1 Outbreak requiring multiagency response to 
arrange treatment and prophylaxis.  

Enteroinvasive E. 
coli 

Community – 
residential 
premises 
 

1 
 

              

Source not identified.  Food preparation and 
handling good. 
 

Norovirus Restaurant/ 
catered event 

3 One probable person to person spread, with 
illness prior to function. 
One probable contamination with norovirus at 
the premises. 
One no obvious source, minor hygiene issues 
identified. 

Salmonella Restaurant/ 
catered event 
 
Community 

1 
 
 
2 

Probable cross contamination within premises. 
 
 
One outbreak linked to a takeaway and supply 
chain.  Hygiene issues identified and 
improvement notice served. 
 
One outbreak no definitive source identified 
but likely to be linked to national issues and 
egg supply. 

TB incidents College/University  
 
 
 
Community 
 
Care home 

2 
 

     
 
          1 
 

1 

Multiagency risk assessments performed for 
all four incidents. Screening exercises 
undertaken as appropriate.  
 
 

TB case Community 1 Challenging patient non-compliant with 
treatment.  Required multiagency meeting and 
plan. 

 

Page 83



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  32 

5.9 Hospital incidents/outbreaks 

Incidents and outbreaks occurring in hospitals are the primary responsibility of NHS trusts and 
the response is led by the trust Director of Infection Prevention and Control.  However, the HPT 
provides advice and support, calling in national advice as needed.  In 2016/17 the HPT 
provided support in 19 significant incidents (compared with 19 in 2015/16, 16 in 2014/15, 21 in 
2013/14 and 11 in 2012/13). 
 
Norovirus  
 
Norovirus outbreaks impact on the capacity of acute hospitals as a consequence of ward 
closures.  This contributes significantly each year to ‘winter pressures’.  Since January 2010 a 
voluntary reporting system for Norovirus has been in place with local figures reported below.  
 
• 2010 - 79 outbreaks reported (under-reporting to new system) 
• 2011 – 123 
• 2012 – 240 
• 2013 – 104 
• 2014 – 90 
• 2015 – 72 
• 2016 – 83  
• 2017 – 25 up to 31/03/17 

 
5.10 Gastrointestinal illness in care homes 

In 2016/17 there were 250 outbreaks of GI illness in care homes compared with 275 in 
2015/16, 328 in 2014/15, 259 in 2013/14, 346 in 2012/13 and 284 in 2011/12 (based on date of 
report). 
 
The outbreaks comprised: 
 
• 211 probable/ confirmed Norovirus 
• 21  Rotavirus 
• 6 probable/confirmed Clostridium perfringens 
• 5 confirmed Sapovirus 
• 3 Astrovirus 
• 3 unknown 
• 1 Clostridium difficile 
 
When a care home contacts the HPT to report cases of vomiting and/or diarrhoea, an initial risk 
assessment is carried out to determine if further investigation is required to exclude a food 
source or other factors. If a viral outbreak is considered probable, then standard advice is given 
to follow the pre-circulated care home guidance. The local authority EHOs, hospital and 
community infection control nurses are informed routinely of outbreak occurrence and the 
closure of the home to admissions and discharges. 
 
If there are concerns about duration of the outbreak or an apparent lack of understanding on 
the part of the care home staff, then the HPT would liaise with the community infection control 

Page 84



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  33 

nurses to discuss further input. EHOs would become actively involved if there is thought to be a 
food source or other organisms are potentially involved.   
 
5.11 Overview of gastrointestinal infectious disease outbreaks 

As part of routine winter surveillance, FES provide a weekly report on gastrointestinal infectious 
diseases (figure 5.2 next page).  This shows all gastrointestinal infectious disease outbreaks 
across the North East, demonstrating the considerable reduction in outbreaks (mainly 
norovirus) in winter 2013/14 compared with the previous two years.  Since then both in winter 
2014/15 and in winter 2015/16, levels were similar to 2011/12 though again in 2016/17 the 
peak was not as pronounced.  
 
Figure 5.1: All reports of gastrointestinal infectious disease outbreaks (suspected or confirmed) 
by setting in North East week 1, 2012 to week 24, 2017 
 

 
 
 

Page 85



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  34 

6 Emergency preparedness, resilience and 
response (EPRR)  

6.1 Preparedness  
 
Structures and Processes 
  
PHE North East has internal systems for escalation of response to communicable disease and 
other hazards or threats. This enables progressive mobilisation of national specialist support 
and capacity. For some types of incident, in particular threats related to terrorism, national 
expert advice and rapid escalation will be immediate.  
 
The centre delivers these functions through the HPT and the emergency preparedness 
manager (EPM).  The HPT second on-call rota provides a senior level, 24/7, response to major 
incidents and emergencies in the North East, supported by the EPM on a 24/7 regional (North 
of England) rota. PHE’s national Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental Hazards 
(CRCE) provides 24/7 support to local response with detailed information available on the PHE 
website. 
 
The centre is represented on the three multi-agency Local Resilience Forums (LRFs) at 
strategic and sub group levels. The North East LRFs (Northumbria, Durham and Darlington, 
and County Cleveland) coordinate planning, training and exercising in relation to a range of 
threats identified in their community risk registers. During 2016/17 the NE LRFs have continued 
to develop cross LRF working in a number areas with full support from the PHE Centre who 
currently hold the positions of Chair of the NE Training and Exercising Chairs Group and Vice-
chair of the NE CBRN Group. 
 
In addition the centre is represented on and actively involved in the work of the North East 
Local Health Resilience Partnership and its two geographic Health and Social Care Resilience 
Groups (Northumbria and Durham, Darlington and Tees). 
 
PHE North East continues to maintain a strong collaborative working relationship with the NHS 
England Cumbria and the North East EPRR team including a joint work plan covering areas 
such as pandemic flu, communications and mutual aid. 
 
Plans 
 
The North East centre maintains internal plans for response to a range of incidents. These are 
linked to national plans and supporting materials. The most likely incidents to have a public 
health impact and require a significant multi-agency response are a large fire, chemical release 
or major outbreak of a communicable disease.   
 
The centre contributes to LRF plans for a range of incidents. There are a number of major 
industrial sites in the North East which are required to produce Control of Major Accident 
Hazards (COMAH) off-site plans. The PHE Centre continues ensure that COMAH plans for the 
NE are consistent with PHE response arrangements. 
 

Page 86



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  35 

The responsibility for the Science and Technical Advice Cell (STAC) plan, activation and 
management continues to rest with PHE. The North East PHE Centre STAC Activation Plan is 
in place and Directors of Public Health have agreed to continue providing the STAC chair role 
through an on-call rota with honorary contracts in place.  
 
The PHE centre has led on the delivery of a new NE Individual Chemical Exposure (ICE) 
Protocol and the review and delivery of an updated NE Pandemic Influenza Framework 
including NE wide consultations. 
 
Exercises and Training 
 
PHE Centre staff are actively engaged in supporting the planning and management of multi-
agency exercises across the region. In 2016/17, these exercises included a range of scenarios 
such as pandemic flu, chemical release, viral haemorrhagic fever (VHF) and cyber-attack. 
Exercises are at either tactical level or strategic level.   
 
The establishment of the Science and Technical Advice Cell (STAC) was tested during 
Exercise Ironstone, the Cleveland LRF Strategic Exercise which provided an excellent 
opportunity to test the delivery of a virtual STAC. The PHE Centre also led on the planning and 
delivery of Exercise Swan a NE LRFs strategic pandemic influenza exercise. 
 
Internally the North East has played into a national E-Coli outbreak exercise and was one of the 
host centres for the Command Post Exercise for (CPX) 2017 Exercise Typhon in which the 
Centre’s ability to respond to a locally identified case of VHF was exercised alongside our 
ability to stand up and run an Incident Coordination Centre (ICC) over two days. 
 
STAC awareness training continues to be offered to LRFs, particularly delivered prior to STAC 
exercises and annual updates provided to Directors of Public Health. 
 
Internally within the Centre training is regularly delivered on EPRR Awareness for all staff and 
on the establishment of the ICC, the PHE Centre is currently represented on a national working 
group aimed at the standardisation of EPRR training across PHE. 
 
6.2 Response  
 
The PHE Centre is informed about non-infectious disease incidents through a number of 
alerting mechanisms.  The main alerting protocol is from the North East Ambulance Service to 
the on-call EPM out of hours or the HPT in hours who triage the incident, calling the PHE 
Centre patch consultant in hours (second on-call out of hours) according to agreed triggers.  
There are also agreed protocols with the Fire and Rescue Services.  Certain incidents come 
directly to the HPT consultant on call. 

 
In 2016/17, the majority of alerts received by the EPMs required an initial risk assessment only, 
with no further action required to protect the population.  However, a number required both 
acute and follow-up response from HPT consultant staff and, for some, specialist support from 
PHE nationally. 
  

Page 87



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  36 

7 Communications team 

The PHE North East communications team is part of the national communications division 
but embedded within local services. The team serves PHE’s broader health and wellbeing 
remit as well as supporting colleagues within health protection and healthcare public health. 
 
During 2016/17 the team consolidated its strong relationship with communication colleagues 
in North East local authorities, NHS England and the North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit via the public health communications network. The network facilitates effective 
communications activity across the public health system and encourages joint working, 
particularly on social marketing campaigns and has co-ordinated North East campaigns 
around sexual health and physical activity. 
 
As well as supporting North East focussed campaigns, the communications team ensured 
that national campaigns and initiatives were effectively rolled out. Over the past 12 months 
this has included campaigns such as Be Food Smart, Start4Life’s Breastfeeding Friend, Be 
Clear on Cancer; Breathlessness, Stay Well This Winter, Act FAST and Health Harms. The 
team also engaged with stakeholders to promote the local launch of national campaigns on 
Sepsis awareness, Men ACWY vaccination for students, Health Checks and the push for a 
completely Smokefree NHS.   
 
In addition the PHE North East communications team continued to support the management 
of outbreaks and incidents and is a key member of outbreak/incident control teams. This 
has included support for incidents and outbreaks as varied as multi-agency Avian flu work, 
hepatitis A clusters, response to a large number of seasonal influenza outbreaks in 
community settings and to local and national outbreaks of foodborne disease due to 
salmonella, campylobacter and norovirus. 
 
The team has also played an active role in helping to disseminate public health messages 
during emergency situations and has worked closely with its communication colleagues in 
local resilience forums to respond to incidents such as fires and pollution. 
 
The communications team was also involved in a number of emergency response exercises 
including Exercise Cygnus, a large multi-agency exercise to test response to pandemic 
influenza. 

 

  

Page 88



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  37 

8 Environmental issues 

Public Health England supports stakeholders including members of the public in responding to 
both acute and chronic non-infectious environmental issues. This may require input over a 
number of months, usually with expert assistance from colleagues in the Centre for Radiation, 
Chemical and Environmental Hazards (CRCE) Environmental Hazards and Emergencies 
(EHE) Department and PHE communications staff.  
 
EHE is a front-line department within CRCE. It provides expert advice and support to a range of 
stakeholders during acute and chronic chemical incidents which have the potential to threaten 
people’s health. Such incidents could involve fires, chemical contamination of the environment, 
or exposure to chemical and poisons, including scenarios of deliberate release.  EHE reviews 
the evidence base and develops and updates position statements and resources for air 
pollution episodes, local and regional air quality, and sites and facilities which can prove 
controversial or benefit from national coordination such as:  onshore oil & gas (e.g. shale gas), 
long running fires, high risk waste sites, energy from waste (‘incinerators’) and hydraulic 
fracturing for shale gas. The EHE department covers all of England - the support listed below 
North East specific.   
 
In 2016/17 CRCE EHE and the HPT have for example: 
 
• Provided advice to both the Environment Agency and a member of the public in relation to 

long standing complaints arising from emissions to air from a local plastics manufacturer. 
• Provided support and advice to health protection colleagues in relation to health risks from a 

proposed gasification plant.  
• Provided support to the Environment Agency and Gateshead Council in relation to 

complaints regarding odour from a flooded landfill. 
• CRCE have provided nine consultation responses under environmental permitting, local 

planning and national significant infrastructure planning regimes.  Note that CRCE have a 
risk based agreement with the Environment Agency whereby only potentially significant 
bespoke permit applications are consulted upon. 

• Twenty-Four chemical incidents and enquiries required EHE input, on a range of subjects 
including water contamination, a number of fires at industrial premises, and chemical 
exposures in various settings.  Prompt advice regarding decontamination minimises health 
and health systems impacts. 

• CRCE have updated or provided new initial reference sheets for eleven COMAH sites, 
which provide initial site summaries and public health guidance for incidents at COMAH 
sites. As part of this work, CRCE has also worked closely with the North East Emergency 
Preparedness Manager to ensure that relevant emergency plans that involve chemical risks 
remain current and accessible to staff. 

• Supported the Health Protection Team and identified lessons-learned in formal incident 
debriefs including one relating to a fire at an industrial site in the North East. 

• Provided support to the Health Protection Team on Air Quality issues, such as co-hosting 
an Air Quality Awareness day in the North-East. 

• Developed scenarios for local and national exercises and supported the Health Protection 
Team in a recovery exercise hosted by Durham Local Resilience Forum.  

Page 89



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  38 

• CRCE has contributed to an awareness session for local authority Public Health Teams; 
showcasing both our acute and proactive work including discussion of contentious 
environmental public health issues. 

• Delivered training at local universities. 
• Provided orientation training to Health Protection staff, in particular Specialist Trainees. 
• Worked with NEAS to develop an experiment to provide better risk assessments for 

chemically contaminated patients. 
• Participated in the Exploring Novel Psychoactive Substances (NPS) conference hosted by 

PHE and Newcastle University and membership of the PHE NPS Network, thereby 
broadening CRCE’s experience in responding and referring drug enquiries that are received 
by the National Duty Desk. 

 
Figure 9.1: Chemical incidents by type: 2016-2017 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Chemical incidents by type: 2016-2017 

Chemical Exposure

Fire

Spill

Statutory/Regulatory

Water

Page 90



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  39 

9 Improving the quality of health protection 
services  

10.1  User satisfaction survey 
 
The HPT have routinely surveyed users of the service since 2012. Questionnaires are sent to 
one in every ten enquiries. A total of 207 questionnaires were posted in 2016 and 143 returned 
(69%). There was general improvement on percentages from 2015.  
 
A summary of the key findings are as follows: 
 
• 90% had contacted the HPT either once or twice in the previous 12 months. 
• 95% said they were given the appropriate amount of information.  
• 96% said that they had understood the advice given ‘a lot’ or ‘completely’. 
• 97% said that they had confidence in the response from the health protection 

nurse/practitioner.  
• 98% of responders rated their overall satisfaction as either good, excellent or above 

average. 
 

Comment from respondents are collected and the following encompasses the general themes 
returned; ‘Polite, prompt, efficient and proactive’  
 
 
10.2 Audits undertaken by the Health Protection Team  

The HPT has an audit programme with audit included as part of the appraisal/objective setting 
for all team members. In 2016/17 the following audits were undertaken:  

 
• Audit of Entamoeba histolytica cases notified to the HPT to review the management of 

cases and make recommendations for the future case investigation. 
• Audit of measles cases reported to the HPT to review the completeness of public health 

actions and the documentation of these, returns of oral fluid test kits and requirement for 
post exposure prophylaxis. 

• Audit of salmonella and cryptosporidiosis case investigations to review the completeness 
and timelines of collection of exposure information from cases. 

 
FES team members also contributed to a national audit of the epidemiology and management 
of clusters of meningococcal disease in order to inform future evaluations of the impact of 
vaccines on clusters. Findings of audits are reported internally and actions implemented 
through the unit management team. 
 

 

Page 91



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  40 

10.3 Research and Development   

As in previous years in 2016/17, HPT and FES staff have actively engaged in a number of 
research projects.  In addition staff produced reports, presentations and posters to disseminate 
the lessons from key incidents and outbreaks to professional audiences outside the North East. 
 
Publications in 2015/15 included: 
 
• Papers in peer review journals – 11 
• Oral presentations at national/international conferences – 4 
• Poster presentations at national/international conferences – 8 
• Audits - 3 
 
Further details of publications are included in appendix 4. 
 
 

Page 92



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  41 

Appendix 1:  Notifications and other Reports of Infectious Disease in North East residents in 2016 

Region Sub 
Region Local Authority 

Disease 

Measles1 Mumps1 Rubella1 Meningococcal 
disease1 Whooping cough1 

No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate 

North East 

County 
Durham & 
Darlington 

County Durham 22 4.2 68 13.0 7 1.3 19 3.6 96 18.4 
Darlington 3 2.8 14 13.3 6 5.7 3 2.8 5 4.7 
Total 25 4.0 82 13.1 13 2.1 22 3.5 101 16.1 

North of 
Tyne 

Newcastle upon 
Tyne 4 1.3 77 26.0 0 0.0 15 5.1 34 11.5 

North Tyneside 8 3.9 50 24.6 0 0.0 4 2.0 28 13.8 
Northumberland 7 2.2 45 14.2 1 0.3 13 4.1 53 16.8 
Total 19 2.3 172 21.1 1 0.1 32 3.9 115 14.1 

South of 
Tyne & 
Wear 

Gateshead 12 6.0 32 15.9 2 1.0 10 5.0 47 23.3 
South Tyneside 11 7.4 20 13.4 0 0.0 4 2.7 31 20.7 
Sunderland 8 2.9 36 13.0 1 0.4 9 3.2 106 38.1 
Total 31 4.9 88 14.0 3 0.5 23 3.7 184 29.3 

Tees 

Hartlepool 5 5.4 15 16.2 0 0.0 5 5.4 9 9.7 
Middlesbrough 12 8.5 25 17.8 2 1.4 6 4.3 9 6.4 
Redcar and 
Cleveland 7 5.2 34 25.1 0 0.0 4 3.0 7 5.2 

Stockton-on-Tees 11 5.6 40 20.4 0 0.0 4 2.0 14 7.2 
Total 35 6.2 114 20.2 2 0.4 19 3.4 39 6.9 

Total 110 4.2 456 17.3 19 0.7 96 3.6 439 16.6 

England & Wales Total 16372 3 51352 9 3432 1 17533 3.0 2,0612 4 
1 Data source: EpiNorth3, 2016 data.           2 Data source: NOIDS, 2016 data used. Local and national data are not comparable, only cases which have been notified by a registered medical professional are included in the national data. 
3 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only           4 SGSS, 2016 data. Includes cases confirmed by NHS laboratories only.           5 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only. Includes reported infections of hepatitis A, B, C and E.       6 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2016 data.          7 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2015 data for England only.          All rates are per 100,000 population, calculated using mid-year population estimates for 2016 from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
     

P
age 93



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  42 

Region Sub 
Region Local Authority 

Disease 

E. coli O1571 Salmonella1 Campylobacter1 Cryptosporidium1 Legionellosis1 

No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate 

North East 

County 
Durham & 
Darlington 

County Durham 12 2.3 93 17.8 577 110.5 86 16.5 3 0.6 

Darlington 3 2.8 13 12.3 94 89.0 24 22.7 0 0.0 
Total 15 2.4 106 16.9 671 106.9 110 17.5 3 0.5 

North of 
Tyne 

Newcastle upon 
Tyne 2 0.7 41 13.8 363 122.4 38 12.8 2 0.7 

North Tyneside 1 0.5 28 13.8 276 135.8 17 8.4 3 1.5 
Northumberland 1 0.3 26 8.2 360 113.9 42 13.3 0 0.0 
Total 4 0.5 95 11.6 999 122.5 97 11.9 5 0.6 

South of 
Tyne & 
Wear 

Gateshead 4 2.0 25 12.4 191 94.7 36 17.9 1 0.5 
South Tyneside 1 0.7 19 12.7 125 83.7 23 15.4 0 0.0 
Sunderland 4 1.4 57 20.5 176 63.3 36 13.0 1 0.4 
Total 9 1.4 101 16.1 492 78.2 95 15.1 2 0.3 

Tees 

Hartlepool 5 5.4 14 15.1 100 107.7 9 9.7 1 1.1 
Middlesbrough 2 1.4 20 14.2 166 118.2 9 6.4 3 2.1 
Redcar and 
Cleveland 4 3.0 26 19.2 187 138.1 22 16.2 0 0.0 

Stockton-on-Tees 1 0.5 30 15.3 251 128.3 17 8.7 1 0.5 
Total 12 2.1 90 15.9 704 124.8 57 10.1 5 0.9 

Total 40 1.5 392 14.9 2866 108.7 359 13.6 15 0.6 

England & Wales Total 14873 2.7 9,4604 16.2 53,8864 92.3 5,9744 10.2 2374 0.4 
1 Data source: EpiNorth3, 2016 data.           2 Data source: NOIDS, 2016 data used. Local and national data are not comparable, only cases which have been notified by a registered medical professional are included in the national data. 
3 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only           
4 SGSS, 2016 data. Includes cases confirmed by NHS laboratories only.           
5 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only. Includes reported infections of hepatitis A, B, C and E.       
6 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2016 data.          
7 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2015 data for England only.          
All rates are per 100,000 population, calculated using mid-year population estimates for 2016 from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
 
NB: some of the figures in these tables do not match Figure 4.2 because there were a small number of notifications that were not able to be linked to a specific Local Authority area.  
 
 

 

P
age 94



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  43 

Region Sub 
Region Local Authority 

Disease 

Hepatitis A Hepatitis B Hepatitis C Hepatitis E TB6 

No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate No. Rate 

North East 

County 
Durham & 
Darlington 

County Durham 4 0.8 20 3.8 54 10.3 7 1.3 8 1.5 

Darlington 0 0.0 6 5.7 24 22.7 2 1.9 7 6.6 
Total 4 0.6 26 4.1 78 12.4 9 1.4 15 2.4 

North of 
Tyne 

Newcastle upon 
Tyne 7 2.4 97 32.7 24 8.1 11 3.7 4 1.3 

North Tyneside 0 0.0 9 4.4 6 3.0 6 3.0 5 2.5 
Northumberland 1 0.3 18 5.7 18 5.7 3 0.9 37 11.7 
Total 8 1.0 124 15.2 48 5.9 20 2.5 46 5.6 

South of 
Tyne & 
Wear 

Gateshead 0 0.0 24 11.9 33 16.4 5 2.5 13 6.4 
South Tyneside 0 0.0 11 0.0 7 4.7 2 1.3 4 2.7 
Sunderland 1 0.4 12 4.3 19 6.8 8 2.9 8 2.9 
Total 1 0.2 47 7.5 59 9.4 15 2.4 25 4.0 

Tees 

Hartlepool 0 0.0 1 1.1 14 15.1 1 1.1 5 5.4 
Middlesbrough 1 0.7 5 3.6 25 17.8 3 2.1 15 10.7 
Redcar and 
Cleveland 1 0.7 4 3.0 6 4.4 1 0.7 14 10.3 

Stockton-on-Tees 0 0.0 6 3.1 12 6.1 3 1.5 4 2.0 
Total 2 0.4 16 2.8 57 10.1 8 1.4 38 6.7 

Total 15 0.6 213 8.1 242 9.2 52 2.0 124 4.7 

England & Wales Total 6185 1.1 55725 9.5 6,1665 10.6 9345 1.6 1,3487 10.1 
1 Data source: EpiNorth3, 2016 data.           2 Data source: NOIDS, 2016 data used. Local and national data are not comparable, only cases which have been notified by a registered medical professional are included in the national data. 
3 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only           4 SGSS, 2016 data. Includes cases confirmed by NHS laboratories only.           5 Data source: HPZone 2016 data for England only. Includes reported infections of hepatitis A, B, C and E.       6 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2016 data. 
          7 Data source: Enhanced Tuberculosis Surveillance (ETS), 2015 data for England only.          All rates are per 100,000 population, calculated using mid-year population estimates for 2016 from the Office of National Statistics (ONS)     

 
 
 
 

P
age 95



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  44 

Appendix 2: Schedule of routine PHE NE Surveillance Reports  
  Output1 Frequency  Dissemination  Email Recipients  

Reports sent to 
external partners  

SGSS Trust Feedback Report Weekly Email & FES NE website2 HPT, FES NE, RM, ATMs, others 
SGSS Regional Report & Exceedance 
Report Weekly Email& FES NE website HPT, FES NE, RM, ATMs 

Influenza Summary (during influenza 
season) Weekly Email HPT, FES NE, AT, CCGs, Acute Trusts, emergency 

planners, others 
Seasonal Respiratory Disease Surveillance Weekly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, RM, virologists, contributing ATMs 
HCAIs Monthly Summary (with package of 
charts) Monthly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, ICNs, RM, ATM, AT 

IPD Laboratory Audit Report Monthly Email FES NE, RM, ATMs 

Syphilis Monthly Report Monthly Email FES NE, GUM clinics 
Quarterly Antenatal Infectious Disease 
Screening Report Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, AS Leads, PCT Screening Lead, 

RASCO 
Local Authority EHO Report3 Quarterly Email & FES NE website LA EHO, SHA 

Local Authority DsPH Report3 Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, DsPH 

Quarterly Salmonella Report Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, ATM, RM, EHO 

Quarterly Campylobacter Report Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, ATM, RM,EHO 
Sexual Health Bulletin (GUMCAD, CTAD, 
HIV, local enhanced syphilis) Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, SH Leads, DsPH, ATMs, GUM 

consultants, ID physicians, AT 
TB Report (also annual supplement) Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, TB leads, TB clinicians, RM, ATMs 

Care Home outbreak report Quarterly Email HPT, FES NE, DsPH, 

Annual Sexual Health Report Annual - 
September Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, SH Leads, DsPH, ATMs, GUM 

consultants, ID physicians, AT 
Annual Antenatal Infectious Disease 
Screening Report Annual - October Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, DsPH, RASCO, AS Leads, AT/CCG 

Screening Lead 

HIV/AIDS SOPHID Regional Report 
Annual – 

Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, ATMs, SH Leads, DsPH, ID 
physicians, GUM consultants November 

Annual Hepatitis B & C Report Annual -August Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE, DsPH, ID physicians, virologists, 
Drug action teams 

 
IPD Annual Report 
 

Annual - 
November Email HPT, FES NE, RM, ATMs, ID physicians, GP via 

CCG 

P
age 96



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  45 

  Output1 Frequency  Dissemination  Email Recipients  

Reports for 
HPT/FES NE +/- 

RM  

EpiNorth3 Typing Coincidence Report Daily Email HPT, FES NE 

EpiNorth3 Postcode Coincidence Report Daily Email HPT, FES NE 

EpiNorth3 Exceedance Report Weekly Email HPT, FES NE 

EpiNorth3 Weekly Team Report Weekly Email HPT, FES NE 
CoSurv Regional Report & Exceedance 
reports Weekly Email & FES NE website HPT, HPT, FES NE, RM 

EpiNorth3Postcode sector report Weekly Email HPT, FES NE 

Exposures Report Weekly Email HPT, FES NE 

Space-Time Cluster report Weekly Email FES NE 

COVER data charts Quarterly Email & FES NE website HPT, FES NE 

IPD Trend Report Quarterly Email HPT, FES NE 

Reports produced 
by FES nationally  
& distributed  

LASER report (STI) Annual - October Email DsPH, HPT 

Spotlight Report STI Annual -August Email HPT, FES NE, SH Leads, DsPH, ATMs, GUM 
consultants, AT 

Spotlight Report HIV Annual-December Email HPT, FES NE, SH Leads, DsPH, ATMs, GUM 
consultants, ID physicians, AT 

1.       EXCLUDES  Internal communication reports, internal audit reports and forwarded national reports.  
2.       Items on the FES NE website are available to those with logins including microbiologists, DsPH, and EHOs.    
3.       Stakeholder reports contain data for the following organisms/diagnoses; Salmonella, E. coli O157, Campylobacter, Cryptosporidium, Meningococcal disease, other meningitis, measles, 
mumps, rubella, pertussis, HiB, Hepatitis A, B & C, Listeriosis, Legionella and PVL +ve Staphylococcus aureus. 
 
Abbreviation Description Abbreviation Description  
AS Leads Antenatal Screening Leads HPT Health Protection Team (PHEC NE)  
ATMs Acute Trust Microbiologist ICN Infection Control Nurses  
AT Action Team ID Infectious Disease  
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group RASCO Regional Antenatal Screening 

Coordinator   
CPs Chest Physicians RM Regional Microbiologist  
DsPH Directors of Public Health SH Leads AT and CCG and clinical network 

Sexual Health Leads  
 
 

P
age 97



 

 

Appendix 3:  The PHE Public Health Laboratory Service in Newcastle upon 
Tyne and York 
 
Location and contact details 
 
The laboratory is located at Freeman Hospital and the Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle. 
 
PHE Newcastle Regional Laboratory Direct line: 0191 282 1150 
Level 2     Or via:  0191 233 6161 (Hospital Switchboard) 
Freeman Hospital    On call: Request on-call scientist/medical officer 
High Heaton     Fax:  0191 213 7289 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE7 7DN 
 
Please note that food, water and environmental samples are examined in the:  
 
PHE FW&E Laboratory  
Block 10 
The National Agri-food Innovation Campus 
Sand Hutton 
York 
YO41 1LZ 
 
Tel: 01904 468948 
Fax: 01904 468082 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 98



Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  47 

Appendix 4:  Publications and presentations (HPT and FES) 
 
Papers published in peer review journals  
 
• Houseman C, Hughes GJ, Chapman KE, Wilson D, Gorton R.  Increased incidence of Invasive 

Pneumococcal Disease, North East England, 2015/2016.  Emerging Infectious Diseases, 2017; 
23 (1): 122-126 

• Hughes G, Wright L, Chapman K, Wilson D, Gorton R.  Serotype-specific differences in short 
and longer-term mortality following invasive pneumococcal disease.  Epidemiology and 
Infection, 2016; 144 (12): 2654-69 

• Freeman R, Dabrera C, Lane N, Adams L, Browning L, Fowler T, Gorton R, Peters T, Mather H, 
Ashton P, Dallman T.  Association between use of proton pump inhibitors and non-typhoidal 
salmonellosis identified following investigation into an outbreak of Salmonella mikawasima 
in the UK, 2013.  Epidemiology and Infection, 2016; 144 (5): 968-75 

• Dolan GP, Foster K, Lawler J, Amar C, Swift C, Aird H, Gorton R.  An epidemiological review of 
gastrointestinal outbreaks associated with Clostridium perfringens, North East of England, 
2012-2014.  Epidemiology and Infection, 2016; 144 (7): 1386-93 

• Foster K, Cole M, Hotonu O, et al.  How to do it: lessons identified from investigating and trying 
to control an outbreak of gonorrhoea in young heterosexual adults.  Sexually Transmitted 
Infections, 2016; 92: 396-401 

• De Silva D, Peters J, Cole K, Cole MJ, Cresswell F, Dean G, Dave J, Thomas DR, Foster K, 
Waldram A, Wilson DJ, Didelot X, Grad YH, Crook DW, Peto TE, Walker AS. Paul J, Eyre DW.  
Whole genome sequencing to determine Neisseria gonorrhoeae transmission: an 
observational study.  Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2016; 16 (11): 1295-1303 

• Mook P, Kanagarajah S, Maguire H, Adak GK, Dabrera G, Waldram A, Freeman R, Charlett A, 
Oliver I.  Selection of population controls for a Salmonella case-control study in the UK using 
a market research panel and web-survey provides time and resource savings.  Epidemiology 
and Infection, 2016; 144 (6): 1220-30 

• Jenkins C, Kanagarajah S, Waldram A, Dolan G, Ashton P, Carrion I, Davies R, Frost A, Dallman T, 
De Pinna E, Hawker J, Grant K, Elson R.  Whole genome sequencing reveals an outbreak of 
Salmonella enteritidis associated with reptile feeder mice in the United Kingdom, 2012-2015.  
Food Microbiology, 2017.  Available from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2017.04.005 [accessed 
11/08/2017]  

• Jenkins G, Waldram A, Dolan G, Ashton P, Dallman T.  Epidemiological analysis of Salmonella 
clusters identified by whole genome sequencing, England and Wales 2014.  Food 
Microbiology, 2017.  Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2017.02.012 [accessed 11/08/2017] 

• Meghji J, Simpson H, Squire SB, Mortimer K.  A systematic review of the prevalence and pattern 
of imaging defined post-TB lung disease.  PLoS ONE, 2016; 11 (8):e0161176 

• Jary H, Simpson H, Havens D, Manda D, Pope D, Bruce N, Mortimer K.  Household air pollution 
and acute lower respiratory infection in adults: a systematic review.  PLoS ONE, 2016.  
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167656   [accessed 11/08/2017] 

 
Presentations on research to conferences 
 
Oral presentations 
 
• Waldram A, Ashton P, Gorton R.  Examining genetic differences in epidemiologically identified 

Salmonella clusters to inform prospective outbreak investigation using whole genome 
sequencing.  Five Nations Health Protection Conference, May 2016 

• Foster K.  Investigation and management of a group B meningococcal cluster in an 
educational setting.  PHE Conference, September 2016 

• Henderson M, Howard S.  Screening for latent tuberculosis infection in clinical healthcare 
workers in an NHS hospital trust.  Five Nations Health Protection Conference, May 2016 

Page 99

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2017.04.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2017.02.012
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167656


Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards. Annual Report 2016/17 

  48 

• Henderson M, Howard S.  Latent TB among clinical staff in an acute NHS Hospital Trust: a 
retrospective screening exercise.  British Infection Association Spring Scientific Meeting, London 

 
Poster presentations 
 
• Wright LB, Chapman KE, Hughes GJ, Houseman C, Gorton R, Wilson D.  Interrupted time series 

analysis to assess the changing incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease in the North 
East of England during the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine era.  10th International Symposium 
on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD) Glasgow, June 2016 

• Wright L, Chapman K, Hughes GH, Houseman C, Gorton R, Wilson D. Interrupted time series 
analysis to assess the changing incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease in the North 
East of England during the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine era.  Five Nations Health 
Protection Conference, May 2016 

• Wright L, Chapman K, Hughes GJ, Houseman C, Gorton R, Wilson D. Interrupted time series 
analysis to assess the changing incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease in the North 
East of England during the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine era.  10th International Symposium 
on Pneumococci and Pneumococcal Diseases (ISPPD) Glasgow, June 2016 

• Simpson H, Saunderson P, van der Grinten E, Ampadu E, Kwakye C, Odoom S, Cano-Ortega J, 
Biritwum NK.  Mapping of routine surveillance data to plan integrated interventions against 
neglected tropical diseases.  PHE Early Career Scientist Conference, 2016 

• Simpson H, et al.  Does outbreak investigation practice explain spatial and temporal variation 
in the incidence of clostridium perfringens outbreaks in England?  PHE Early Career Scientist 
Conference, 2016 

• Houseman K.  Invasive pneumococcal disease in the North East of England: Rising incidence 
in 2014/15 and 2015/16.  FIS November, 2016 

• Henderson M, Howard S.  Screening for latent tuberculosis infection in clinical healthcare 
workers in an NHS hospital trust.  Annual Scientific Meeting of the Society and Faculty of 
Occupational Medicine, Stratford-upon-Avon, June 2016 

• Howard S, Dolan G.  Care beyond commissioning: is anyone ethically responsible for 
providing urgent prophylaxis to patients if no-one is commissioned to do it? Interprofessional 
Ethics Conference, Royal Society of Medicine, February 2017 

 

Page 100



• Work with NHS England to implement its plans to reduce inequity in uptake of screening.

• Ensure that the promotion of all current screening programmes are specified in all health and 

wellbeing contracts.

• Contribute to NHS England screening programme boards either in person or through a Public 

Health representative.

• Keep abreast of QA visits to screening programmes in County Durham and seek assurance that 

these meet quality standards and any improvement measures are completed.

• Review and establish effective and timely Public Health screening intelligence systems.

• Focus on the promotion and uptake of cancer screening programmes in line with Cancer 

Alliance funded work.

Inequity of 
Immunisation

uptake

Risks Desired FutureVision Strategies Measurable Outcomes

HEALTH PROTECTION– DRAFT PLAN ON A PAGE 

W
o

rk
 in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 t
o

 p
ro

te
ct

 a
n

d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h

e 
h

ea
lt

h
, w

el
lb

ei
n

g 
an

d
 q

u
al

it
y

o
f 

lif
e 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 a

d
u

lt
s

Robust surveillance and monitoring systems

• Improved Childhood 
immunization rates 
including MMR, HPV 
vaccination rates, DTaP 
booster 

• Improved influenza 
vaccine coverage 

• NHS England achieving its 

quality standards and 

targets across all 

screening programmes 

particularly focusing on 

increasing equitable 

uptake.

• Assurance that all 

screening programmes 

are being run in line with 

quality standards

• Establish immunisation governance and accountability arrangements.

• Develop strategy to maximise uptake and tackle inequalities in immunisation uptake.

• Establish immunisation public health intelligence feedback 

• Implement a seasonal flu immunisation plan for relevant DCC staff

• Implement new immunisation programmes.

• Ensure that 0-19 commissioned service contract enables emergency immunisation 

response to outbreaks.

• Respond to any outbreak with PHE internal plan.

Actions  

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ro
b

u
st

 
p

re
p

ar
ed

n
es

s 
an

d
 

re
sp

o
n

se
 t

o
 

in
ci

d
en

ts
 a

n
d

 
em

er
ge

n
ci

es

Im
p

le
m

en
t 

an
d

 
Q

A
 o

f 
Sc

re
en

in
g 

P
ro

gr
am

m
es

To ensure 

effective 

screening and 

immunisation 

arrangements are 

in place across 

County Durham 

to support 

prevention, early 

detection and 

treatment of 

disease

To ensure safe 

and healthy 

environment for 

the public

Assurance of robustness of 

multi-agency EPRR plans, 

• DCC to participate fully with PHE in following national guidelines and local outbreak 
plans in response to  incidents and outbreaks .

• Comprehensive EPPR plans in place and understood by all partners, link to the 
community risk register.

• Pandemic Influenza Response plans updated (all)
• Full participation in all tabletop exercise   
• Ensure full DCC participation in LRF programme of simulated major incidents in 

partnership locally
• Ensure full participation in development and exercising DCC’s recovery plans
• Provide assurance of NHS EPRR via LHRP

• Reports from each screening 

programme board

• NHS England’s Inequalities 

action plan 

• QA reports on local screening 

programmes

• Public Health contracts 

containing the promotion of 

screening

• Air Quality Strategy
• Contaminated Land 

Strategy
• Food Safety Plan
• Food Hygiene Plan
• Statutory 

returns/national 
regulations

• Annual enforcement 
programme

• Licensing and 
enforcement policies

• Disease contingency 
plans

•Reports from PHOG 

•NHS England’s Inequalities 

action plan 

•Reports on local 

immunisation  programmes

•Public Health contracts 

containing the promotion of 

immunisation

• Emergency Plans
• Business Continuity Plans 
• PHE Annual Report
• LRF and LHRP Minutes
• Reports from Exercises

Inequity of 
Screening uptake 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
re

gu
la

ti
o

n
in

te
rv

en
ti

o
n

s

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
an

d
 

Q
A

 o
f 

Im
m

u
n

is
at

io
n

 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e
s

• Reduce access and 
availability to age 
restricted products to 
children and young 
people

• Improve standards of 
food hygiene

• Better business 
compliance with safety 
standards

• Improve air, land and 
water quality

• Reduce housing 
health and safety risks

• Reduce anti-social 
behavior and nuisance

• Ensure DCC facilities 
meet health, safety 
and infection control 
standards. 

• Full participation in HCAI Group

• Attendance and active participation in TB Forum

• Participation in Outbreak Control Team meetings

• Ensure all work in this area takes account of disadvantaged community – prisons, 

GRT, LGBT

• Infection Control Team to provide community infection control in care homes

• Participate in Sexual Health Forum(s)

• Ensure STI/HIV prevention programme are in place through provider functions

• Ensure measures are in place to reduce levels of blood borne virus transmission 

Lack of surveillance

P
re

ve
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 
m

an
ag

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
o

u
tb

re
ak

s 
an

d
 

co
m

m
u

n
ic

ab
le

 
d

is
e

as
e

 (
H

C
A

I’
s.

 T
B

 
H

IV
 S

TI
’s

)

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

• Monitor progress against 
TB targets

• Maintain CCG targets in 
HCAI and Anti Microbial 
Resistance

• All Outbreak Control 
Meeting led by PHE in line 
with national guidance.

• Reduction in STIs and HIV
• Incidence of blood borne 

viruses 

• Deliver air quality implementation plan
• Risk  based interventions and inspections
• Intelligence led enforcement
• Community action initiatives
• Assess housing health and safety standards in private sector dwelling
• Take precautions in DCC and other public premises to protect the 

public from communicable diseases ( legionella, norovirus, crypto)

• Infection Control Team 

minutes

• Outbreak Reports

• Surveillance Reports 

(PHE)

• PHE Annual Report

• Minutes of TB Forum, 

HCAI Group and Health 

Protection Committee

• Infection Control Team 

report

Public Safety 
Hazards

Threats from
major incidents 
and emergencies

Threats from
communicable

diseases

Assurance to DCC/H&WB

To ensure 

effective health 

protection and 

emergency 

response and 

recovery 

arrangements 

are in place 

across County 

Durham

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Working Towards a Healthy Weight in 
County Durham 
 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council  

 
Purpose of the Report 

 
1 To present ‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham’ 2018. 

2 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on the work of The 
Healthy Weight Alliance which is accountable to County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board and to seek support for this document to be publicly available in 
hard copy format and electronically via Durham County Council website.  

Background 

Obesity – the national and local context 

3 The Health and Social Care Act (2012) gave statutory duties for local authorities to 
take appropriate steps to improve the health of the population. This included 
developing interventions focused on healthy weight. 

4 Obesity impacts upon people’s lives. Across generations it affects our physical and 
mental health, our quality of life and our risk of developing chronic diseases.  
Obesity levels are rising nationally and locally, without action, the health of 
individuals will continue to suffer, health inequalities will remain and economic and 
social costs will increase to unsustainable levels. This will have profound long term 
consequences for the health and wellbeing of communities in County Durham. 

5 The World Health Organisation regard childhood obesity as one of the most serious 
global health challenges of the 21st century. Whilst rates of excess weight and 
obesity in children in County Durham largely follow national trends our starting point 
was higher and our rates remain significantly worse than those of England. There is 
concern about the level of childhood obesity and the implications of such persisting 
into adulthood. Levels of overweight and obesity within child and adult populations 
across County Durham remain unacceptably high - doing nothing is not an option.  

6 Every year, as part of the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP), 
schoolchildren in reception (4-5 years) and year 6 (10-11 years) are weighed and 
measured to inform the planning and delivery of local services for children. Each 
year around 11,000 County Durham children are included in the programme.  

 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 

Figure 1: Excess weight in children, age 4-5 and 10-11, County Durham, 2016/17. 
Source: NHS Digital, NCMP. 

 

 

Figure 2: Prevalence of excess weight and obesity in children aged 4-5 years and 

10-11 years, County Durham and England, 2016/17. Source: NHS Digital, NCMP. 

 

 

 
 

 
Children aged 4-5 

 Almost a quarter of children in County Durham aged 4-5 (24.1%) were 

measured as having excess weight in 2016/17 (figure 1 and 2). That is almost 

1,400 children or 46 classrooms. Over 10% were measured as obese. That is 

almost 600 children or 20 classrooms (figure 2). 

 Excess weight in children of reception age in County Durham is statistically 

significantly higher than England (figure 2).  

 There has been little change in excess weight for 4-5 year olds over time locally 

(0.8%) compared to a slight decline nationally (-1.2%) (figure 3). 

 
Children aged 10-11 

 Over a third of children in County Durham aged 10-11 (37.7%) were measured 

as having excess weight (figure 1 and 2). That is over 2,000 children or 67 

classrooms. Over 22% were measured as obese (figure 2). That is over 1,200 

children, or 40 classrooms. 

 Excess weight in children aged 10-11 in County Durham is statistically 

significantly worse than the England (figure 2).  

 There has been a gradual increase in excess weight over time in County 
Durham (8.0%) and England (9.3%) (figure 3). 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 Significantly worse than England 

 Not significantly different to England 

 Number 
excess 
weight  

% 
excess 
weight 

Number 
obese 

% 
obese 

Number 
excess 
weight 

% excess 
weight 

Number 
obese 

% 
obese 

England  22.6%  9.6%  34.2%  20.0% 

County 
Durham 

1,381 24.1% 590 10.3% 2,024 37.7% 1,214 22.6% 

4-5 year olds in County Durham have excess weight  
(around 1,400 children or 46 classrooms across the county). 
 

10-11 year olds in County Durham have excess weight  

(around 2,000 children or 67 classrooms across the county). 38% 

24% 

4-5 years 10-11 years 
 

Page 104



 

 

 

 
Figure 3: Prevalence of excess weight in children at reception and year 6, County 
Durham and England, 2006-07 to 2016-17.  Source: NHS Digital, NCMP. 
 

 

 

As we know, there are many factors that contribute towards overweight and obesity. Other 

key indicators highlight the challenge of preventing this issue within County Durham.  

 

Figure 4: Selected indicators related to excess weight in children. Source: Child Health 

Profiles, Fingertips, PHE. 

   

County 
Durham 

North 
East 

England 

Low birth weight of term babies 2015 2.8 2.8 2.8 

Breastfeeding initiation 2014/15 57.6 60.1 74.3 

Breastfeeding prevalence 6/8 weeks 2015/16 28.1 31.4 43.2 

Children in poverty (under 16s) 2014 23.9 24.9 20.1 

Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth 2014/15 35.1 28.0 24.8 

 

 

 

7 Obesity is a strategic priority for County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board Healthy Weight Framework 2014 – 
2020 aims to develop and promote evidence based multiagency working and 
strengthen local capacity and capability to achieve a sustained upward trend in 
healthy weight for children, young people and for adults in County Durham.   

 

0

20

40

60

%

England (R) County Durham (R)

England (Y6) County Durham (Y6)

 Significantly worse than England 

 Not significantly different to England 

Page 105



 

 

 

8 The Healthy Weight Alliance is accountable to the County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board, and is County Durham’s main partnership that is tackling the 
healthy weight agenda and taking forward the objectives of the Healthy Weight 
Framework. The overarching purpose of the Healthy Weight Alliance is to develop 
and improve strategic system wide partnerships that are committed to reducing the 
prevalence of obesity in County Durham.  

A whole system approach to addressing obesity nationally and locally  

9 The Government has stated its commitment to tackle obesity and is introducing a 
range of levers including a soft drinks industry levy and reducing the sugar content 
in foods. Locally the challenge is how we build upon national guidance, best 
practice and national developments to bring about real change within our local 
communities. In County Durham, the Healthy Weight Alliance is using national 
plans and guidance to influence from community and public sector levels to ensure 
we address this challenge together.  

10 Obesity is not just a public health or health service challenge; it is underpinned by a 
large number of very different but often interlinked causes. Our work so far makes it 
clear that unhealthy weight impacts on every aspect of the work of the council and 
our stakeholders – on the environment, on local business, on how people use our 
public spaces, on individuals, their families and their communities. 

11 The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence suggest that obesity needs to 
be tackled as a whole system - this is the overall strategic focus for County Durham 
Healthy Weight Alliance. Durham County Council was selected as one of only four 
pilot local authorities in England to take part in a major national programme, funded 
by Public Health England and delivered by Leeds Beckett University, which aims to 
create a whole system approach to obesity.  

12 In County Durham work on this programme began at the end of 2015 and is 
continuing until autumn 2018. This programme focusses on working with the 4 
Local Authorities within the pilot programme to explore their experiences and create 
a route map that is meaningful and feasible for Local Authorities, and which is 
workable for the specific circumstances of obesity. To maximise the use of good 
practice and share this learning more widely Leeds Beckett University are now 
beginning work with a further 6 Local Authorities to share the draft route map to 
gain more feedback and test out feasibility nationally.  

13 In County Durham, work with Leeds Beckett University has identified a need for 
strategic actions that require multiple partners in order to encourage a system wide 
response. As a mechanism to progress this work, four strategic themes have been 
developed around; leading by example, give every child the best start in life, 
improving play and engaging the system.   

The vision for County Durham 

14 Our long term vision is that: ‘In implementing and embedding this work we will halt 
the rise in obesity in County Durham by 2022 and, by focussing resources upon 
addressing inequalities, see a sustained decline in obesity rates locally to below 
England national average by 2025.’    

 

Page 106



 

 

 

Achieving our County Durham vision  
 
15 To achieve our long term vision to halt the rise in obesity in County Durham by 

2022 and, by focussing resources upon addressing inequalities, see a 
sustained decline in obesity rates locally to below England national average 
by 2025 our whole systems ambitions require multi agency drive and commitment 
and we have identified key long term goals within the system where further and 
sustained engagement is essential.  Actions include: 

 Address environments that promote the development of obesity. 

 Promote, support and sustain active travel opportunities. 

 Encourage and enable people to use the local environment to be more 
active. 

 Explore and challenge social perceptions and social norms. 

 Give children the best start in life by addressing excess weight in early years, 
setting children on the path to healthier habits for their future.  

 Influence the local food environment to enable people to make healthier 
choices. 
 

16 From 2017, going forward, our short and medium term goals include:  

1) Work with planning and licensing colleagues to develop public health driven 
policies specifically around hot food takeaways and street trading.  

2) Development of training and support materials to enable licensing and 
environmental health staff to raise awareness of Government Buying Standards 
for Food and Catering within routine discussions with clients.  

3) Support Health & Wellbeing Board and Healthy Weight Alliance partners to 
develop and action pledges made to support the Durham Sugar Smart 
campaign. 

4) Implement and embed the Early Years Food Scheme. 

5) Further embed healthy eating and physical activity within individual school 
improvement plans to support Active 30 campaign, Durham Sugar Smart and 
link into County Durham Oral Health Strategy. 

6) Undertake a review of the Childhood Obesity Pathway. 

7) Support Durham County Council, around the healthy eating and physical activity 
components, to progress within the Better Health at Work Award.  

8) Work with Business Durham to engage the business sector across County 
Durham to inform the development of approaches to tackle obesity.  

9) Work with County Durham Community Foundation to further develop community 
grants to promote healthy eating, physical activity and access to green spaces.   

 

 

Page 107



 

 

 

‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham 2017’ 

17 ‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham 2017’ builds upon the 2015 
annual Director of Public Health Report ‘Obesity. An issue too big to ignore … or 
too big to mention?’ This report: 

 Presents an overview of work developed to address obesity at a national level 
and locally by County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance at a system wide level 
since 2015. 

 Outlines the continuing challenges faced in relation to obesity in County Durham 
and identifies whole systems ambitions and short and medium term goals going 
forward from 2017. 

 Sets out the current national and local context and the evidence base 
underpinning the need for continued action to address obesity. 

 
18 The issues County Durham faces in relation to obesity have not occurred suddenly, 

they have developed out of a gradual combination of processes underpinned by a 
large number of very different but often interlinked causes. Drawing upon learning 
from our work to address teenage pregnancy we can see that over time the very 
clear downward trajectory in rates of teenage pregnancy has been achieved by 
addressing multiple components over a substantial period of time. As with teenage 
pregnancy, no single approach or focus, in isolation, will be effective in tackling 
obesity.  

Proposed outcomes 

19 It is proposed that.  

(a) Hard copies of this document are made available for Health and Wellbeing 
Board members, key stakeholders and the wider audience. 

(b) The document is available electronically and a link to the document 
published on Durham County Council website. 

Recommendations  

 
20 HWB Board are requested  to: 

 
(a) Note the content of ‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham’ 
 2018.    
(b) Continue to provide commitment to and support for the ongoing work to  

address obesity across County Durham. 
(c) Endorse the publication and wider circulation of ‘Working towards a healthy 
 weight in County Durham’ 2018.  
 

 

Contact:  Karen McCabe, Public Health Specialist, Durham County Council 
Tel: 03000 267 676  

  

Page 108



 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Finance – design and print costs for publication of ‘Working towards a healthy weight in 
County Durham’ are within existing resource. 

 

Staffing – N/A. 

 

Risk – N/A. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – ‘Working towards a healthy 
weight in County Durham’ outlines work to date and work currently planned to address 
obesity within County Durham, undertaken by Durham County Council Public Health team 
and partners within County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance.  This work aims to promote 
equality and diversity and seeks to reduce inequality and target resources in accordance 
with need. 

 

Accommodation – N/A. 

 

Crime and Disorder – N/A. 

 

Human Rights – N/A. 

 

Consultation – N/A. 

 

Procurement – N/A. 

 

Disability Issues – N/A. 

 

Legal Implications – Legal advice will be sought if required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Working towards 
a healthy weight
in County Durham

2018

Page 111



The Health and Social Care Act (2012) gave statutory duties for local 
authorities to take appropriate steps to improve population health. This 
included developing interventions focused on healthy weight. 

Obesity is a strategic priority for County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Healthy Weight Alliance is accountable to the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board, and is County Durham’s main 
partnership that is tackling the healthy weight agenda. Our long term 
vision is that in implementing and embedding this work we will halt the 
rise in obesity in County Durham by 2022 and, by focussing resources 
upon addressing inequalities, see a sustained decline in obesity rates 
locally to below England national average by 2025. 

Durham County Council is one of four pilot local authorities in England 
to take part in a national programme, funded by Public Health England 
and delivered by Leeds Beckett University, to create a whole system 
approach to obesity. This programme focusses on working with the pilot 
Local Authorities to explore their experiences and, from these, create a 
‘route map’ that is meaningful and feasible for other Local Authorities. 
In County Durham, work has identified a need for strategic actions 
that require multiple partners in order to encourage a system wide 
response. As a mechanism to progress this work, four strategic themes 
have been developed leading by example; give every child the best 
start in life; improving play and engaging the system.  

As with teenage pregnancy, no single approach or focus, in isolation, 
will be effective in tackling obesity. If we are to achieve our long term 
vision to halt the rise in obesity in County Durham by 2022 and, by 
focussing resources upon addressing inequalities, see a sustained 
decline in obesity rates locally to below England national average 
by 2025 our whole system ambitions require multi-agency drive and 
committment. 

‘Working towards a healthy weight in County Durham 2018 provides an 
update to and builds upon the 2015 annual Director of Public Health 
Report ‘Obesity. An issue too big to ignore … or too big to mention?         
In this report we:

l present an overview of work to address obesity nationally and locally  
 by County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance at a system wide level  
 since 2015

l outline the continuing challenges faced in relation to obesity in   
 County Durham and identify whole systems ambitions. 

l set out the national and local context and the evidence base   
 underpinning the need for continued action to address obesity. 

l identify key long term goals within the system where further and  
 sustained engagement is essential and set out our short and medium  
 term goals going forward.  

Executive 
Summary
Obesity impacts upon 

people’s lives, it effects our 

physical and mental health, 

our quality of life and our 

risk of developing chronic 

diseases. Obesity levels are 

rising nationally and locally; 

without action, the health 

of individuals will continue 

to suffer, health inequalities 

will remain and economic 

and social costs will 

increase to unsustainable 

levels. 

Page 112



1

Foreword . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2

Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3

The current local context . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4

Childhood obesity plan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8

Best start in life . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  14

Increasing play through the County Durham . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16

physical activity framework

Engaging the whole system . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17

The costs and benefits of preventing obesity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  20

Case Studies

Growing Healthy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26

Ready Sett Go. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27

Public Health, Durham County Council . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28

DCC Sustainable and Healthy Food Policy . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  29

Food Durham - Growing Durham . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  29

Amateur Swimming Association (ASA). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  30

Dietwise CIC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  30

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust . . . . .  31

Staff Health & Wellbeing CQUIN Action Plan 

Wellbeing for Life . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  32

References . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  34 
 

Contents

Page 113



2

Obesity continues to impact upon people’s lives.  Across generations 
it effects our physical and mental health, our quality of life and our risk 
of developing chronic diseases. Obesity levels are rising nationally and 
locally, without action, the health of individuals will continue to suffer, 
health inequalities associated with obesity will remain and the economic 
and social costs will increase to unsustainable levels. In 2015 the 
annual Director of Public Health Report – Obesity. An issue too big to 
ignore … or too big to mention? set out the challenges faced in County 
Durham and approaches in place to address obesity.  Working towards 
a healthy weight in County Durham 2018 is a follow up to the 2015 
report. This report:

l presents an overview of work developed to address obesity at a  
 national level and locally by County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance  
 at a system wide level since 2015

l outlines the continuing challenges faced in relation to obesity in  
 County Durham and identifies priority areas to focus upon going  
 forward.  

l sets out the current national and local context and the evidence base  
 underpinning the need for continued action to address obesity. 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/13765/Reducing-Obesity-Director-of-
Public-Health/pdf/ReducingObesityDirectorofPublicHealthAnnualReport.
pdf

Foreword

Page 114



3

Introduction

Obesity is not just a public health or health service challenge; it is 
underpinned by a large number of very different but often interlinked 
causes.  No single measure is likely to be effective on its own in tackling 
obesity.  Globally, the World Health Organisation have identified the 
need to halt the rise of obesity to match the global rates of 2010 by 
2025.  Nationally, the UK Government aims to significantly reduce the 
rate of childhood obesity in England within the ten years to 2025 and is 
committed to introducing a range of levers from 2018 including a soft 
drinks industry levy and reducing the sugar content in foods. To have 
a significant impact, a sustained collaborative approach is needed; 
everyone needs to get involved - doing nothing is not an option.

Locally the challenge is how we build on national guidance and best 
practice to bring about real change within our communities. The County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board Healthy Weight Framework 2014 
– 2020 aims to develop and promote evidence based multiagency 
working and strengthen local capacity and capability to achieve a 
sustained upward trend in healthy weight for children, young people 
and for adults in County Durham by 2020.  

The Healthy Weight Alliance is accountable to the County Durham 
Health and Wellbeing Board and is County Durham’s main partnership 
that is tackling the healthy weight agenda and taking forward the 
objectives of the Healthy Weight Framework. Our work so far makes it 
clear that unhealthy weight impacts on every aspect of the work of the 
council and our stakeholders – on the environment, on local business, 
on how people use our public spaces, on individuals, their families 
and their communities. The overarching purpose of the Healthy Weight 
Alliance is to develop and improve strategic system wide partnerships 
that are committed to reducing the prevalence of obesity in County 
Durham.  

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE] propose 
that obesity needs to be tackled as a whole system. In December 2015, 
The Healthy Weight Alliance submitted a bid to take part in a major 
national pilot, funded by Public Health England and delivered by Leeds 
Beckett University, which aims to create an improved, comprehensive 
approach to tackle obesity - a whole system approach. Durham County 
Council was successful in being selected as one of only four pilot 
local authorities in England. As well as underpinning ongoing work to 
address obesity within County Durham, the combined learning from 
this pilot programme will inform the development of a whole system 
approach toolkit to address obesity that will be available to support 
other local authorities across the UK.  

Our long term vision is 

that in implementing 

and embedding this 

work we will halt the 

rise in obesity in County 

Durham by 2022 and, 

by focussing resources 

upon addressing 

inequalities, see a 

sustained decline in 

obesity rates locally to 

below England national 

average by 2025.

Page 115



4

The current local context

England, along with the rest of the UK, has an unenviable position as a 

world leader in excess weight. Obesity levels are rising both nationally 

and locally. This will have profound long term consequences for the 

health and wellbeing of our communities in County Durham. The World 

Health Organisation regard childhood obesity to be one of the most 

serious global health challenges of the 21st century. Every year, as part 

of the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP), schoolchildren 

in reception (4-5 years) and year 6 (10-11 years) are weighed and 

measured to inform the planning and delivery of local services for 

children. Each year around 11,000 County Durham children are 

included in the programme.  Whilst in County Durham, rates of excess 

weight and obesity in children largely follow national trends, our starting 

point was higher and our rates remain significantly worse than those for 

England.

Figure 1: Excess weight in children, age 4-5 and 10-11, County 

Durham, 2016/17. Source: NHS Digital, NCMP.

Figure 2: Prevalence of excess weight and obesity in children aged 4-5 

years and 10-11 years, County Durham and England, 2016/17.       

 
4-5 year olds in County Durham have excess weight (around 
1,400 children or 46 classrooms across the county).24% 

 
10-11 year olds in County Durham have excess weight 
(around 2,000 children or 67 classrooms across the 
county).

38% 

 4-5 years 10-11 years

Number 
excess 
weight

% excess 
weight

Number 
obese % obese

Number 
excess 
weight

% excess 
weight

Number 
obese % obese

England 22.6% 9.6% 34.2% 20.0%

County Durham 1,381 24.1% 590 10.3% 2,024 37.7% 1,214 22.6%

Significantly worse than England

Not significantly different to England

Page 116



5

 

Children aged 4-5

l Almost a quarter of children in County Durham aged 4-5 (24.1%)  
 were measured as having excess weight in 2016/17 (figure 1 and  
 2). That is almost 1,400 children or 46 classrooms.  Over 10% were  
 measured as obese. That is almost 600 children or 20 classrooms  
 (figure 2).

l Excess weight in children of reception age in County Durham is  
 statistically significantly higher than England (figure 2). 

l There has been little change in excess weight for 4-5 year olds  
 over time locally (0.8%) compared to a slight decline nationally  
 (-1.2%) (figure 3).

Children aged 10-11

l Over a third of children in County Durham aged 10-11 (37.7%)   
 were measured as having excess weight (figure 1 and 2). That is  
 over 2,000 children or 67 classrooms. Over 22% were measured  
 as obese (figure 2). That is over 1,200 children, or 40 classrooms.

l Excess weight in children aged 10-11 in County Durham is   
 statistically significantly worse than the England (figure 2). 

l There has been a gradual increase in excess weight over time in  
 County Durham (8.0%) and England (9.3%) (figure 3).

Figure 3: Prevalence of excess weight in children at reception and 

year 6, County Durham and England, 2006-07 to 2016-17.  

Source: NHS Digital, NCMP.

  1 Excess weight refers to a combined population above the healthy weight range – excess weight = overweight + obese

County Durham (Y6)England (Y6)England (R)

2006/07

%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/172012/132011/122010/112009/102008/092007/08

County Durham (R)

 

 

60

 

40

 

20

 

0

Page 117



6

As we know, there are many factors that contribute towards overweight 

and obesity. Other key indicators highlight the challenge of preventing this 

issue within County Durham.

Figure 4: Selected indicators related to excess weight in children.         

Source: Child Health Profiles, Fingertips, PHE.

Figure 5: Selected indicators on self-reported health behaviours of 15 

year olds. 

Source: Health behaviours in young people – What About YOUth ? survey, Fingertips, PHE.

 

   County North England
  Durham East  

Low birth weight of term babies 2015 2.8 2.8 2.8

Breastfeeding initiation 2014/15 57.6 60.1 74.3

Breastfeeding prevalence 6/8 weeks 2015/16 28.1 31.4 43.2

Children in poverty (under 16s) 2014 23.9 24.9 20.1

Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth 2014/15 35.1 28.0 24.8

Significantly worse than England

Not significantly different to England

   County North England
  Durham East  

% who eat 5 portions or more of fruit and veg per day 2014/15 44.7 46.8 52.4

% physically active for at least one hour per day seven 2014/15 14.0 14.2 13.9

days a week

% with a mean daily sedentary time in the last week over 2014/15 75.4 75.2 70.1

7 hours per day

% who think they’re the right size 2014/15 52.7 51.9 52.4

% reporting low life satisfaction 2014/15 13.0 13.1 13.7

Significantly worse than England

Not significantly different to England

Page 118



7

To complement to the national survey data presented above, figures 

6 and 7 below present local data gathered from the County Durham 

Student Voice Survey for Primary and Secondary Schools (2017)

Figure 6: Selected local data relevant to excess weight in primary 

school children (Years 5 and 6). 

Source: Primary Student Voice Survey 2017.

Figure 7: Selected local data relevant to excess weight in secondary 

school children (Year 7, 9, 11 and 13). 

Source: Secondary Student Voice Survey 2017.

 

There is concern about the rise of  childhood obesity and the implications 

of  such obesity persisting into adulthood. 

 
report that they drink at least 1 energy drink per day30% 

 
report that they are physically active for at least 60 minutes 
every day34% 

 
report that they eat 5 or more pieces of fruit and veg per day59% 

 
report that they take part in after school clubs62% 

 
report that they are physically active for at least 60 minutes 
every day22% 

 
report that they drink at least 1 energy drink per day33% 

 
report that they eat 5 or more pieces of fruit and veg per day47% 

 
report that they take part in clubs outside of school69% 

Page 119



HM Government have set ambitious plans to significantly reduce 

England’s rate of childhood obesity within the next ten years. This plan 

sets out clear goals that represent ‘the start of a conversation, rather than 

the final word’. These goals are:

l Introducing a soft drinks industry levy

l Taking out 20% of sugar in products

l Supporting innovation to help businesses to make their products   
 healthier

l Developing a new framework by updating the nutrient profile model

l Making healthy options available in the public sector

l Continuing to provide support with the cost of healthy food for those   
 who need it most

l Improving the co-ordination of quality sport and physical activity   
 programmes for schools

l Creating a new healthy rating scheme for primary schools

l Making school food healthier

l Clearer food labelling

l Supporting early years settings

l Harnessing the best new technology

l Enabling health professionals to support families

Sugar reduction and product reformulation

A key commitment in the childhood obesity plan was to launch a broad, 

structured sugar reduction programme to remove sugar from everyday 

products. All sectors of the food and drinks industry are challenged to 

reduce overall sugar across a range of products that contribute most 

to children’s sugar intakes by at least 20% by 2020, including a 5% 

reduction in the first year of the programme. This can be achieved through 

reducing sugar levels in products, reducing portion size, or shifting 

purchasing towards lower sugar alternatives. 

Nationally sugar intakes of all population groups are above the 

recommend levels, contributing between 12 to 15% of energy. 

Consumption of sugar and sugar sweetened drinks is particularly high in 

school age children. Sugar consumption tends to be highest among the 

most disadvantaged who also experience a higher prevalence of tooth 

decay and obesity and its health consequences. A tax on sugary soft 

drinks will be introduced in 2018.

What is happening 
nationally to address 
obesity; 

Obesity is a national challenge 

and, if we are to make a 

difference, one that requires 

action from all parts of society. 

Nationally Government 

agencies are taking a variety 

of approaches to impact upon 

this agenda. 

Childhood obesity plan

8
Page 120



9

This levy is aimed at producers and importers of added-sugar soft 

drinks and is designed to encourage reformulation of overall product 

ranges by reducing added sugar content, helping customers choose 

low/no added-sugar products and by reducing portion size. Pure 

fruit juices will be exempt as they do not contain added sugar, as will 

drinks with a high milk content because of their calcium content.

The Department of Education is expected to receive an extra £1bn 

from the sugar tax. In England, the revenue from the levy will be 

invested in programmes to reduce obesity and encourage physical 

activity and balanced diets for school age children. This includes 

doubling the Primary PE and Sport Premium and putting a further 

£10 million a year into school healthy breakfast clubs to give more 

children a healthier start to their day. 

The British Social Attitudes Survey indicates that people do not seem 

to object to collective action designed to reduce obesity, especially 

if that action is seemingly targeted at food manufacturers, they being 

perceived to have a responsibility to try to reduce obesity. Actions 

designed to reduce the promotion of sugary drinks and to make them 

more expensive seem to be particularly popular.

Although the focus of product reformulation is on foods consumed 

by children, the reality is that families eat the same foods. There are 

nine initial categories that will be targeted to reduce sugar levels and 
Page 121



10

improve the health quality of products. Data from the National Diet 

and Nutrition Survey show that the foods that contribute most sugar 

to children’s intakes are: breakfast cereals, yoghurts, biscuits, cakes, 

confectionery morning goods (e.g. pastries), puddings, ice cream 

and sweet spreads. 

Healthier ‘out of home’ catering offers
Children and families need to be supported to make healthier choices 

and it is everyone’s responsibility to ensure that the healthy choice is 

the easy choice. The challenge therefore is to fundamentally change 

the food environment in which children and their families become 

overweight and obese. 

Nationally it is hoped that local councils take action, and build 
on what they are already doing, to encourage independent food 
businesses to implement simple changes that will make it easier for 
children and families to choose healthy food.

The Government has produced minimum mandatory catering 
standards for central government departments and their agencies 
which are also recommended for use in local authorities. The 
Government Buying Standards for Food and Catering Services can 
be used as a starting point to assess the availability, procurement, 
price and prominence of healthier ingredients, food products and 
catering practices.

Page 122



11

Food business and catering services are encouraged to make 

healthy, ethical and informed decisions about the type of products 

they are using, for example buying vegetables that have not already 

been cooked in salt and ensuring the origin of meat and fish are from 

sustainable sources where possible. They are also encouraged to 

comply with the Government Buying Standards for Food.  

Marketing
The Committee for Advertising Practice announced new rules 

banning the advertising of high fat, salt or sugar food and drink to 

children up to age 16, (raised from age 12), across all non-broadcast 

media including online and social media. The aim is to impact upon 

children’s food and drink choices, preference and parents purchases. 

Locally organisations can follow this example and strongly consider 

where they promote poor quality food, especially across the public 

sector. 

The NHS in England
From this year, there is a ban on the sale of certain products in 

hospitals and an added fee on all drinks with added sugar e.g. fruit 

juice, sweetened milk-based drinks and sweetened coffees. Monies 

obtained from this will fund health and wellbeing programmes and 

Trusts patient charities. Pilot studies have proved very effective. 

Page 123



Sustainability and transformation partnerships

NHS England has asked NHS organisations to work together 

on improvement plans for their area, called Sustainability and 

Transformation Plans (STPs) to tackle three challenges:

1. Improving the health and wellbeing of the population,

2. Improving the quality of care that is provided,

3. Improving the efficiency of NHS services.

 

The following section of this report presents examples of some of the 

work developed by the Healthy Weight Alliance, to date, at a system 

wide level, to address obesity within each of these strategic themes:

Leading by example
Leading by example is an opportunity to work with Health and 

Wellbeing Board partners to continually improve the health of their 

workforces and our residents. The childhood obesity plan states that 

every public sector setting’s food environment should be designed so 

that the healthy choice is the easy choice. 

The food offer in Durham County Council has been reviewed, 

Government Buying Standards for food are being adopted, the 

healthy choice is more readily available and food labelling is 

improving so employees and visitors can make informed choices. 

Vending machines where possible, have had their branding removed, 

in order to limit product promotion.  

Durham County Council has a significant workforce, the 

overwhelming majority of whom live in County Durham. Any efforts 

to impact the health of Durham County Council’s workforce will have 

the dual benefit of a healthier workforce and residents. Leading by 

example is an opportunity to work with wider partner organisations 

who are also interested in improving health opportunities for their 

workforces and County Durham residents’. As a major employer in the 

county, this could present leverage to influence Health and Wellbeing 

Board Partners to follow the example set.

What is happening 
in County Durham to 
address obesity:

Work with Leeds Beckett 

University, since 2015, has 

identified a need for strategic 

actions that require multiple 

partners in order to encourage 

a system wide response. As 

a mechanism to progress this 

work, strategic themes have 

been developed around:

l leading by example

l give every child the best 

start in life

l increasing play through the 

County Durham physical 

activity framework

l engaging the whole system

12
Page 124



13

The food offer in County Hall has been reviewed and work is 

continuing to ensure that healthy choices are more readily available 

and more attractively promoted. Food labelling is improving so 

colleagues can make informed choices about the food they eat. Food 

suppliers have attended County Hall to promote their healthy options 

and internal communications have promoted the benefits of healthy 

eating.

Holiday Hunger is an issue that a number of Area Action Partnerships 

[AAPs] and County Councillors have started to examine when working 

with partners to provide school holiday activity. Public health funded 

a programme in the East of the county in 2015 which has been further 

developed and funded in 2016 through a number of AAPs. This saw 

several holiday schemes across the county incorporate the ethos of 

holiday hunger and alongside their activities include snacks, picnics, 

quick meals or family cooking sessions.  

Digital technology interventions have been implemented to 

encourage physical activity within the workforce. Stepjockey used 

smartphone technology to encourage stair use across County Hall. 

Encouraging everyday physical activity is a national priority and this 

programme led to 30,000 calories being burned across County Hall, 

with the unrecorded amount of activity anticipated to be significantly 

higher.

The 2016/17 annual Director of Public Health report, 
‘Work and You’ 
focuses on the workplace and its impact upon health. Good 

employment opportunities are critical to population health and 

wellbeing. The workplace can play an important role in promoting a 

healthy weight such as providing healthy options during the working 

day, and encouraging physical activity. As well as health benefits 

there are benefits to business too as employees in good health can 

be three times more productive. Many businesses already promote 

healthy lifestyles and consider the health of their employees. One of 

the recommendations within this report was that, as a minimum, the 

30 largest employers (those with 250+ staff) in County Durham should 

sign up for the Better Health at Work Award.  Durham County Council 

has recently completed the Bronze stage of this award. This award 

recognises the achievements of these business and helps them move 

forward in a structured and supported way.  

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Work-and-you

Director-of-Public-Health-annual-report-2016-17/pdf/

PublicHealthAnnualReport2016-17.pdf

Durham Food 

Partnership has been 

successful achieving 

sustainable fish city 

status for Durham City. 

Page 125



14

Best start in life 

Children’s life chances are heavily influenced by their development in 

the first five years of life with 80% of brain development occurring by 

the age of 3. Early intervention has the potential to improve a number 

of child outcomes. Durham County Council is part of a system 

led improvement programme which will facilitate local authority 

prioritisation and reflection to optimise services from conception to 

two years. Early work has identified a need to focus on maternal and 

infant obesity. This highlights the local efforts to attempt to connect 

our system so that it is collectively working towards tackling an 

agenda.

Tackling the issues which result in people, of all ages, having 

excess weight and becoming obese is a key priority for the two 

Clinical Commissioning Groups in County Durham.  Each (CCG) 

has their own Sustainability and Transformation Plans but they share 

a prevention plan which has a focus on reducing levels of obesity. 

Giving every child the best start in life underpins the prevention 

approach, with key links into maternal and childhood obesity given 

the impact upon child development, the risk of obesity and the 

associated health complications in later life. It is important the local 

system works together to tackle obesity, as individual, isolated 

approaches to aspects of the agenda have a limited impact on the 

whole population. 

Breastfeeding remains a priority and its impact on obesity is critical. 

UNICEF accreditation, breastfeeding cafes, and peer supporters 

are examples of the ongoing efforts. Health colleagues in County 

Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust are leading the way 

in maternity, working in close partnership with Harrogate and District 

NHS Foundation Trust.  Following the successful re-assessment in 

June 2017, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and 

Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust are currently working 

towards the prestigious UNICEF Baby Friendly Gold award. There is 

still much to do in schools and communities to change breastfeeding 

attitudes and Durham County Council, along with others within the 

public sector, have a key role still to play in promoting breastfeeding.

Page 126



15

Work is currently underway to develop an Early Years Food Scheme 

to offer to early years providers across the County. This programme 

aims to increase the food and nutrition knowledge, skills and 

confidence of the early years workforce and improve the approach to 

and provision of food for children in early years settings. 

In partnership with Newcastle University a PhD studentship has 

been developed which will assist in understanding the challenges of 

weight gain in infancy. This three year programme aims to support 

professional practice development that is informed by professionals 

and parents. 

Schools have a powerful impact upon this age range and present 

an opportunity to continually explore methods to promote a healthy 

weight. The school food plan is being rolled out across County 

Durham and currently there is a great uptake of school meals across 

primary schools. However, this is not every school and anyone with 

an interest in the quality of their school’s food is encouraged to 

promote the plan. 

The FISCH programme is based upon NICE guidance for a tier 2 

lifestyle weight management programme. It focuses on reducing 

excess weight in children and is aimed at stabilising weight and 

preventing young people from requiring specialist care. It is the 

only childhood weight management programme commissioned by 

Durham County Council and is one of the few remaining tier 2 weight 

management services in the North East. This approach aims to 

impact upon the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) 

levels of overweight and obesity. 

The Healthy Weight Alliance has supported the continued 

development of the Durham Dash and the Sedgefield Dash school-

based athletic events. Area Action Partnerships, culture and sport 

and public health supported these popular school physical activity 

celebration events.

Page 127



16

Increasing play through the County 
Durham physical activity framework

Durham County Council Culture and Sport have the lead on the 

development of a physical activity framework for County Durham. A 

physical activity board, Active Durham, has been convened which 

will oversee the framework implementation, and the Healthy Weight 

Alliance is represented at this board to ensure the two agendas are 

aligned and synergistic. The groups are working to develop shared 

objectives and outcomes. 

The slow to 20 for safer streets 

programme reduces traffic casualties 

and makes our communities safer 

places to play. Road safety education 

and cycling schemes are included to 

equip children with the skills they need. 

Encouraging greater levels of community activity is a key component 

in the Beat the Street campaign which targeted pilot sites across 

County Durham during spring 2017. This programme used digital 

technology to create a game whereby friends, schools, workplaces 

or communities competed against each other through levels of 

physical activity. This has shown positive results and it is hoped that 

by aligning with the variety of successful programmes in the county; it 

will continue to boost and sustain levels of activity.

AAPs are instrumental in improving opportunities for physical activity 

within their communities. The ‘Ready Sett Go’ programme in South 

West Durham, aims to improve physical literacy amongst early years 

and work is now ongoing to consider how to expand the programme 

across County Durham.

The Active Durham partnership aims to encourage daily active 

minutes, ‘Active 30’ in all schools in County Durham. Following 

recommendations from the Childhood Obesity Plan, the partnership 

aim to work with schools to encourage 30 minutes of activity every 

day. 

slow to 20 for safer streets

Page 128



17

Engaging the whole system

The Healthy Weight Alliance and County Durham Community 

Foundation have developed a match funded community grant 

to encourage community based initiatives, adopting systems 

methodology, to develop sustainable obesity programmes. The 

funding to be allocated totals just under £300,000. Over half of this 

funding has already been allocated and is supporting communities 

and community organisations to develop locally focussed system led 

approaches to address obesity. Three, 2-year projects were funded 

in this initial allocation, these are:

l East Durham Trust – to develop the Run East Durham Project 

l Durham Community Action - to develop the Gilesgate Edible 

Estates Project 

l Groundwork - to develop the Healthy Parks Healthy People - 

Trimdon Project

A further funding call, to enable the remaining funding to be 

allocated, will take place early 2018.  

Primary care is an important setting. In 2016, 21 Healthy Living 

Pharmacies in County Durham were involved in a pilot pharmacy-led 

Slimming World referral scheme. Over 2200 clients engaged in the 

programme and average weight loss was around 9.5lb. 

Continuing to work towards a healthy 
weight in County Durham

Obesity continues to present a major challenge for County Durham. 

Levels of overweight and obesity within child and adult populations 

across the county remain unacceptably high and there is still 

much to do. The issues County Durham faces in relation to obesity 

however have not occurred suddenly, they have developed out of a 

gradual combination of processes underpinned by a large number 

of very different but often interlinked causes. The evidence base 

underpinning a whole system approach to obesity is clear and 

whilst we thank all partners and acknowledge both the work already 

developed and the continuing commitment to challenge obesity and 

the underlying factors within County Durham, we restate the call to 

action to address obesity. 

Drawing upon learning from our work to address teenage pregnancy 

we can see that over time the very clear downward trajectory in rates 

of teenage pregnancy has been achieved by addressing multiple 
Page 129



18

components over a substantial period of time. As with teenage 

pregnancy, no single approach or focus, in isolation, will be effective 

in tackling obesity.

To achieve our long term vision to halt the rise in obesity in County 

Durham by 2022 and, by focussing resources upon addressing 

inequalities, see a sustained decline in obesity rates locally to below 

England national average by 2025, our whole systems ambitions 

require multi agency drive and commitment and we have identified 

key long term goals within the system where further and sustained 

engagement is essential. 

Actions include: 

l address environments that promote the development of obesity

l promote support and sustain active travel opportunities

l encourage and enable people to use the local environment to be  

 more active

l explore and challenge social perceptions and social norms

l give children the best start in life by addressing excess weight in  

 early years, setting children on the path to healthier habits for their  

 future

l influence the local food environment to enable people to make   

 healthier choices

 

 

 

 

Page 130



19

From 2018, going forward, our short and 
medium term goals include: 

1. Work with planning and licensing colleagues to develop public 

health driven policies specifically around hot food takeaways and 

street trading 

2. Development of training and support materials to enable licensing 

and environmental health staff to raise awareness of Government 

Buying Standards for Food and Catering within routine 

discussions with clients 

3. Support Health & Wellbeing Board and Healthy Weight Alliance 

partners to develop and action pledges made to support the 

Durham Sugar Smart campaign

4. Implement and embed the Early Years Food Scheme

5. With schools, develop standards to further embed healthy eating 

and physical activity within whole school ethos which will support 

and promote emotional resilience, support the development of 

Active 30 campaign, Sugar Smart Durham and link into County 

Durham Oral Health Strategy.

6. Undertake a review of the Childhood Obesity Pathway

7. Support Durham County Council, around the healthy eating and 

physical activity components, to progress within the Better Health 

at Work Award 

8. Work with Business Durham to engage the business sector 

across County Durham to inform the development of approaches 

to tackle obesity 

9. Work with County Durham Community Foundation to further 

develop community grants to promote healthy eating, physical 

activity and access to green spaces.  

The third and final section of this report is a recap of the impact of 

obesity in relation to physical and mental wellbeing and the impacts 

to the wider elements within the system emphasizing the need for 

work to address obesity to remain a key system wide priority going 

forward. 

Page 131



20

The costs and benefits of 
preventing obesity

Obesity develops when 

energy intake from food 

and drink consumption 

is greater than energy 

expenditure through the 

body’s metabolism and 

physical activity over time. 

The complex nature of obesity 

however means that it is 

difficult to remove the impact 

of one from the other. Whilst 

levels of activity contribute 

towards obesity, obesity also 

impacts upon levels of activity 

(obese people are less likely 

to be active) and the nature of 

this relationship is unknown. 

With 7 out of 10 adults in 

County Durham overweight 

or obese, it is difficult to view 

the challenges of obesity, 

physical activity and food in 

isolation, as it is unlikely that 

improvements can be made in 

one area in isolation from the 

others. 

Obesity and social attitudes

Obesity impacts upon many areas of life, not merely on the 

individual’s health. Although there is a widespread recognition that 

obesity is harmful to health, the British Attitude Survey highlighted 

that many people fail to appreciate the full range of the risks it 

poses. Most people appear to regard obesity, at least in part, as 

an individual medical problem, and there is new and substantial 

evidence that obese people themselves are stigmatised, not least 

through a widespread belief that people who are overweight could 

lose weight if they wanted to. Furthermore there is a perception 

that prejudice against obese people is highly prevalent in terms of 

employment prospects. People however are not necessarily good 

at spotting obesity either in themselves or in others, while being 

somewhat overweight at least is something that many (especially 

men) appear inclined to tolerate. Separately the recent Health Survey 

for England found that 9 out of 10 mothers and 8 out of 10 fathers of 

an overweight child described them as being ‘about the right weight’.

Obesity

The economic costs associated with obesity are great. Nationally 

we spend more each year on the treatment of obesity and diabetes 

than we do on the police, fire service and judicial system combined. 

The costs to the wider economy dwarf the costs to the NHS. Tackling 

obesity has an economic benefit to a significant volume of public life.

Obesity and the workplace

There is a relationship between obesity and increased absenteeism 

from work for health reasons including frequent medical 

appointments. On average, obese workers take four extra sick 

days per year. As we consume a third of our daily calories at work, 

businesses have a key opportunity to create an environment that 

supports healthier food and drink choices and a healthier workforce. 

Encouraging employees to be more active also has significant 

business benefits. Physically active employees are more productive 

and less likely to:

Page 132



0%

O
b

es
it

y 
p

re
va

le
n

ce

5%

10%

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+

Men

With LLTI No LLTI

Women

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

l take sick leave (being active can reduce chances of depression 

by 30% and back pain by 25%).

l have an accident at work 

l suffer from major health problems

Obesity and adult social care
In England more than 15 million people have a long term condition. 

The care of people with long term conditions accounts for 70 per 

cent of total health and social care spend. Obesity is associated with 

a number of long term conditions that place a significant burden on 

the social care system.  These include mental health problems, liver 

disease, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, muscular skeletal 

disease, some cancers, and respiratory disease.  

Obese individuals are around nine times more likely to develop 

type 2 diabetes than the non-obese population and around 85 per 

cent of diabetics are either overweight or obese. Diabetes UK have 

estimated that the total cost of caring for people with diabetes in 

adult social care settings in England is £830 million per year. It is 

therefore likely that a substantial proportion of these social care costs 

are associated with excess weight. As the prevalence of obesity, 

especially severe obesity, along with associated long term conditions 

increases in the population, health and social care costs are likely to 

rise.

Figure 8: Prevalence of obesity among adults aged 18 years and 

over with and without a Limiting Long term Illness (LLTI) by age and 

sex. 

Source: Health Survey for England, 2006-2010.

21
Page 133



22

Obesity and ageing 
County Durham has an ageing population (figure 9) with the greatest 

proportional increase over time being residents within the 85+ age 

band, Office for National Statistics projections suggest that by 2039 

over 43% of County Durham’s population will be aged 50+. 

Figure 9 Population projections for County Durham, 2014 to 2039, 

selected age bands, and proportional changes to those populations 

over time. 

Source: ONS mid 2014 population projections. 

Figure 10 Population projections for County Durham, 2014 to 2039, 

selected age bands. 

Source: ONS mid 2014 population projections.

Age group County Durham

  2014 2039

Total pop (1,000’s) 517.8 566.0

50+ 206.4 241.4

65+ 101.5 149.8

85+ 11.7 28.7

%50+ 39.9 42.7

%65+ 19.6 26.5

%85+ 2.3 5.1

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 (
00

0s
)

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

0

50

100

150

200

250

300
50+ No 65+

50+ No 65+

No 85+

50+

0 50 100

% increase 2014-2039

150 200

65+

No 85+

85+

Page 134



23

Excess energy intake greatly increases the risk for obesity, chronic 

diseases and disabilities as people grow older. Yet, participation 

in regular, moderate physical activity can delay functional declines 

and it can reduce the onset of chronic diseases in both healthy and 

chronically ill older people. Being active can help older people remain 

as independent as possible for the longest period of time. It can also 

reduce the risk of falls.

In older people, malnutrition can be caused by limited access to 

good quality food, poor food choices (e.g. eating high fat foods), 

socioeconomic hardship, a lack of knowledge about nutrition, disease 

and the use of medications, tooth loss, social isolation, cognitive 

or physical disabilities that inhibit people’s ability to buy foods and 

prepare them and a lack of physical activity. If ageing is to be a 

positive experience, longer life must be accompanied by continuing 

opportunities for health, participation and security. 

Obesity and physical health
Obesity on average reduces life expectancy by six to seven years. 

The Department of Health recommends that adults should undertake 

150 minutes of physical activity each week. Meeting recommended 

levels of physical activity can reduce the risk of heart disease, stroke 

and type 2 diabetes by up to 50% and avoid 1 in 11 early deaths.

Page 135



24

Obesity and  
mental health

A connection between 

childhood obesity and 

depression can form at a 

young age and continue into 

adulthood. Public Health 

England social attitudes survey 

revealed 56% of those classified 

as obese say they are unhappy. 

Individuals who suffer from both 

obesity and common mental 

health disorders may face 

particular risks to health and 

well-being, as it is likely that the 

conditions may perpetuate each 

other. Research shows obesity 

and poor diets can cause 

mental health disorders such as 

depression whilst mental health 

disorders can be a causal factor 

of obesity; such as the use of 

food as a coping mechanism

 

Obesity and the environment
Street cleaning cost local government £778m in 2015/16. A significant 

portion of this will be for avoidable litter clear-up; money that could 

have been spent on vital public services. Over the past decade, 

there has been a relatively steady rise in the percentage of all sites 

affected by fast food related litter, from around 20% in 2004/5 to over 

30% in 2014/15. Also 50% of main roads and 58% of industry and 

warehousing sites were found to have fast-food related litter present; 

this could be linked with a significant rise in the number of fast food 

outlets over the same period. Tackling obesity not only reduces 

impacts across the public sector, but a more active population and a 

better quality food environment will likely bring a multitude of benefits 

to our communities. Planning authorities can do much to influence the 

built environment to improve health and reduce the extent to which it 

promotes obesity. 

The importance of the built environment for travel

The overall costs to society from road transport are substantial. It 

has been estimated that half of the UK’s £10bn cost per annum 

of air pollution comes from road transport. The Cabinet Office has 

estimated that excess delays, accidents, poor air quality, physical 

inactivity, greenhouse gas emissions and some of the impacts of 

noise resulting from motorised road transport costs English urban 

areas £38-49 billion a year. Recent analysis of data from the Active 

People Survey shows that people who cycle for travel purposes 

(rather than simply recreation) are four times as likely to meet physical 

activity guidelines as those who don’t. Each additional hour spent in 

Obesity and school 
academic performance
Promoting the health and wellbeing of students in schools and 

colleges has the potential to improve their educational outcomes 

and their health and wellbeing outcomes. Pupils with better health 

and wellbeing are likely to achieve better academically.  Harmful 

aspects of overweight and obesity are stigmatisation and low self-

esteem. Obese children are more likely to be absent from school than 

children that are a healthy weight.  Physical activity is associated with 

academic achievement. As well as benefits associated with improved 

health and fitness, physical activity can also help to build confidence 

and social skills, improve sleep, concentration and learning. Physical 

activity has been linked to improved classroom behaviour across the 

whole school setting.

Page 136



25

a car per day was associated with a 6% increase in the likelihood 

of obesity. Health-promoting transport systems are pro-business 

and support economic prosperity. They enable optimal travel to 

work with less congestion, collisions, pollution, and they support a 

healthier workforce.  The built environment should support healthy 

choices. The choice to walk and cycle is strongly influenced by urban 

settings and transport policy, and planners have a crucial role in 

ensuring residents have cycling and walking options. It is not just how 

walkways are planned that makes a difference; their design can also 

encourage people to walk more frequently.

The importance of the built environment for play

Proximity to plentiful, good quality green space has an important 

influence on the health of local populations and accessible, good 

quality green space is linked to better and more frequent use of 

green spaces. Accessible green space is considered to be that 

which is located close to residents’ homes, easy to walk to, physically 

accessible, safe to use, and provides well maintained facilities. For 

play spaces to be used by children, the safety, functionality and 

accessibility of the recreational area is important to parents, as well 

as their perceived quality of the areas.

The importance of the built environment to support 
healthy choices 

The local public sector and local food businesses have great 

influence over the lives of local communities and the food choices 

available. Overall, food consumed out of home tends to be less 

healthy than that prepared and consumed within the home and is 

associated with fat intake and body fatness.  By working together and 

in partnership with the local community we can positively influence 

the food environment, to promote and increase availability of healthier 

food choices, enabling us all to live longer, healthier lives.

 

 

Page 137



26

Growing Healthy  
This project working through 

schools to engage pupils and 

to make links with the wider 

community was developed in 

2011 working with five schools. 

This was used as a basis to 

develop a larger programme 

working with 20 schools over 

two years from September 

2015-July 2017.

 
 

The project was designed to be flexible to work in any school 

context. It links the benefits of learning outdoors and physical 

activity with an enhanced understanding of growing food along with 

how to use the produce effectively. 

From 2015 ten primary schools were supported over the course 

of a school year developing new growing areas or revamping 

existing ones along with teacher training and working with groups 

of children to enhance their knowledge and skills. The second year 

of the programme has focussed on supporting a variety of schools 

and settings. 

A flexible approach has met the various needs of schools to 

provide appropriate curriculum based activities and learning 

resources. Schools involved now have new or enhanced growing 

areas to continue growing and health related activities in the future.

Pupils and staff enjoy learning through growing, often 

learning lots of skills and knowledge without realising it as 

well as being physically active. 

Growing Healthy  
Education Durham / Outdoor and 
Sustainability Education Specialists

Case Studies

Page 138



27

Ready Sett Go 
After taking part in the Ready 

Sett Go programme, 81% of 

pupils achieved either expected 

or above average physical 

development levels for their age. 

By comparison, selected 

schools which were not part 

of the pilot found that on 

average the percentage figures 

achieving/exceeding expected 

levels rose from 25% on entry to 

61% at exit.

A high quality Early Years Physical Development programme was 

developed in the Three Town AAP areas nursery schools. Through 

the use of physical activity and play delivery led by a qualified coach, 

more children in the area could possess the necessary fine and gross 

motor skills to develop and enjoy physical activity. This would help 

them obtain an active lifestyle through childhood and into adulthood 

and reduce the risk of obesity and associated health risks.

413 pupils took part in the programme across the 16 different schools 

and 27 classes. On average across the 16 schools, 23% of early 

year’s children were achieving or exceeding physical development 

levels that were expected for their age on entry to the school/nursery. 

 

Ready Sett Go             
Early Years Physical Development 
Programme

Page 139



Public Health,  
Durham County Council 
A pharmacy-led Slimming World 
referral scheme

21 HLPs provided 2242 eligible clients (aged 18 and above; BMI 25 

and above) with a referral letter to Slimming World in order to access 

a free 12 week course (2,242 clients represents a 98% successful 

referral rate from pharmacy).

Data from Slimming World in May 2017 showed that, at the 

end of the 12 week course, the clients who then went on to 

attend a local Slimming World course:

l Reduced their average Body Mass Index (BMI) from 35.2 to 33.6.

l Had an average weight loss of 9.6lbs.

For those that ‘completed’ the course (i.e. attended 10 out of 12 

sessions)

l The average BMI reduced from 35.4 to 33.1.

l The average weight loss was 13.6lbs.

l 67% of completers achieved a 5% weight loss, and 15% of   

 completers achieved a 10% weight loss.

Questionnaires issued before and after the programme highlighted 

the positive changes in behaviours:

  Before  After 10  

   weeks

I ate a lot of takeaways / fast food 72% 17%

I ate a lot of unhealthy snack foods  88% 23%

at work and at home

I tended to avoid any moderate activity 65% 45%

I went for walk a lot / I go for walks a lot 69% 93%

In July 2017, this work was published in the Journal of Perspectives in 

Public Health – see http://journals.sagepub.com/home/rsh.

The increasing prevalence 

of obesity needs effective 

approaches for weight loss in 

primary care and community 

settings in line with NICE 

Public Health Guidance 

53 ‘Weight management: 

lifestyle services for 

overweight or obese adults’ 

recommendations. In 2016, 

21 Healthy Living Pharmacies 

(HLPs) in County Durham 

were involved in a pharmacy-

led Slimming World referral 

scheme.

Case Studies

28
Page 140



29

The policy provides a context in which the current food agenda is 

delivered. 

To embrace a ‘health’ agenda message with one of ‘sustainability’ but 

aims to align the two concepts as one.

Policy comprises three elements and builds on current local practice:

l Corporate Procurement – applying and promoting sustainable   

 buying standards for food and catering.

l Catering Managers – driving menu standards

l Communications – getting the message across

 

DCC Sustainable and 
Healthy Food Policy 

The purpose of the Growing Durham project is to create a network 

of new and diverse community growing schemes across County 

Durham, linking these schemes with existing projects. Growing 

Durham wants to:

l See as many people as possible producing some of their own   

 food

l Improve access to fresh produce where this is difficult

l Provide opportunities for everyone to participate in food production  

 and enjoy the benefits this brings including better mental and   

 physical health, education, and community resilience 

Participation in food growing has multiple benefits, including proven 

physical and mental health benefits. In the longer term it can result 

in improved diets (increased consumption of fruit and veg) and 

increased physical activity that can contribute towards healthy 

weight.

 

Food Durham - Growing 
Durham 

More than 33 active groups 

(and 300+ people) have been 

involved spanning a wide variety 

of models and approaches 

including a community orchard, 

a garden set up and run by 

residents of a supported living 

home, community gardens, 

single plot gardens, and a 

Children’s Centre project. From 

August 2017 the programme 

will develop one or two Edible 

Estates projects, working with 

partners on an estate to develop 

green spaces for growing and 

with an emphasis on health 

improvement, exploring the 

opportunities for working with 

health services. Adopting an 

approach of facilitation and 

enabling has maximised our 

resources and ensured that 

ownership and activity remains 

firmly in the hands of the 

community participants. 
Page 141



County Durham was a year one pilot area for the ASA’s Dementia 

Friendly Swimming. The project aimed to enhance the swimming 

experience of those living with dementia and their carers, targeting 

the pool environment while delivering low intensity exercise, 

relaxation sessions and structured motivational swimming lessons.

Sessions are currently being delivered in several pools across 

County Durham with specially trained staff to support those people 

living with dementia.

Dementia Friendly Swimming links extremely well with other 

work taking place in County Durham to create dementia friendly 

communities as part of the County Durham and Darlington 

Dementia Strategy. This highlights the cross cutting benefits of 

physical activity, and the need for wide partnership approaches. 

Amateur Swimming 
Association (ASA) 
Durham County Council and the 
Alzheimer’s Society

30

County Durham was a year 

one pilot area for the ASA’s 

Dementia Friendly Swimming. 

The project aimed to enhance 

the swimming experience of 

those living with dementia 

and their carers, targeting 

the pool environment while 

delivering low intensity 

exercise, relaxation sessions 

and structured motivational 

swimming lessons.

Food mood and attitude tackles the ‘why’ of eating and weight 

management issues.  It has been designed to complement and run 

alongside existing programmes already available to residents that 

already tackle the ‘what’ and ‘how much’ of weight management.

The project explores people’s relationship with food and aims 

to create a safe and non-judgemental environment for people to 

discuss and examine unhelpful food habits and behaviours that 

stifle weight management progress.

Dietwise CIC  
Food Mood and Attitude programme

Case Studies

time for self

better 
physical 
health

better 
mental 
health

focus & 

attention

motivation

sleep

Mindfulness

Page 142



31

Staff Health and Wellbeing (SH&WB) is a key priority for County 

Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT). A SH&WB 

Strategy has been written and ratified and an Action Plan developed 

and ratified to support and reinforce the SH&WB Strategy. Key 

priorities of the Strategy and the Action Plan are to improve the health 

and wellbeing of CDDFT employees in order to reduce sickness 

absence, improve patient care as well as improve patient and staff 

experience and satisfaction. This includes ensuring staff are engaged 

in regard to their own health and wellbeing thus reducing sickness 

absence rates; which will be achieved by promoting collaborative 

working relationships and work environments that encourage 

wellbeing, as well as meeting CQUIN targets and NICE guidelines. 

The CDDFT Action Plan also demonstrates that County Durham 

and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust provide a Quality, Safe 

Occupational Health Service to all employees in line with SEQOHS 

(Safe, Effective, Quality, Occupational Health Service) Standards.

This Action Plan outlines the two broad themes within the NHS 

Healthy Workforce Programme:

l Focus on Improving the culture within CDDFT, specifically   

 regarding health and wellbeing

l Introducing an improved set of preventative and early intervention  

 schemes for staff  (including building upon existing schemes)

 

 

County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust Staff Health & Wellbeing 
CQUIN Action Plan 
 

The Action Plan is detailed 

against 4 Key Objectives 

1. Introducing Health and    

 Wellbeing Schemes in order   

 to improve staff morale and   

 enhance staff engagement   

 in influencing health    

 and wellbeing and promoting   

 Physical Activity of Staff

2. Improving Support to Staff   

 with Musculoskeletal (MSK)   

 issues (including improved   

 access to physiotherapy    

 services)

3. Introducing Mental Health   

 Initiatives for Staff

4. Staff Training & Information

Page 143



32

a) One-to-one support

Health Trainers work with local people over eight one-to one 

sessions to set a wellbeing plan, which includes setting small 

achievable goals, focusing on individual needs and identifying 

a range of support e.g. healthy eating, mini-healthchecks, being 

more active, stop smoking support, alcohol and drug awareness, 

mental health and wellbeing, accessing local services including 

housing, crisis services and welfare advice and reducing social 

isolation.

b) Group Support

Wellbeing Development Officers work with local people in friendly 

group sessions, which are varied and typically last for an hour and 

cover; healthy eating and cooking on budget, physical activity/get 

active, Improving mental wellbeing, reducing social isolation and 

loneliness, diabetes support group, social singing and  dementia 

friendly groups.

c) Community Development

l Wellbeing workers know what is available in the local area and 

support  people to access, groups, activities and services they 

want and need e.g. housing, health.

l Local people are supported to volunteer with the service with 

some  becoming Community Health Champions and many 

gaining qualifications and friends.  

l Connecting local people and organisations supports 

community groups to form and develop so they can set up their 

own activities based upon their needs.

The WBfL service was 

developed in 2014 to move 

away from single ‘lifestyle’ 

programmes to provide a 

wellbeing approach, based 

on the Marmot Review 2010.  

Currently, WBfL delivers the 

following services under one 

overall approach:

 

Wellbeing for Life
 

Case Studies

Page 144



l Case studies demonstrated 

the social value of the service, 

e.g. reducing isolation, 

increasing confidence, self-

esteem, connecting with the 

community.

l There was some indication 

that inequalities in these 

indicators, and also in weight 

and BMI, might be reducing 

over time. In other words, 

the gaps in average weight, 

BMI, self-rated health and 

wellbeing between those living 

in the 30% most deprived 

areas and those living in all 

other areas were smaller at 

follow-up than at baseline. 

l Achieved a social return 

on investment of between 

£3.59 and £5.95 for every 

£1 spent on WFL, producing 

estimated long-term public 

sector savings of at least 

£12,664,874

d) Training and capacity building

WBfL provides a training and capacity service for professionals, 

volunteers and community members. The service provided 

Making Every Contact Count (MECC) training for the County 

Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue (F&R) service and 

ongoing support which enabled F&R to be able to provide the 

successful safe and wellbeing visits programme in County 

Durham. (www.hits.cdd.nhs.uk)

Other training includes the Five Ways to Wellbeing, 

group work skills, motivational interviewing, mental health 

awareness and dementia awareness

The Service was evaluated by Durham University the evaluation 

which took place between June 2015 and January 2017 found 

the service to have achieved significant improvements. Key 

findings are:

l Improvements observed in all measures of weight, BMI, 

blood pressure, physical activity, fruit & vegetable intake, 

alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, self-rated health, 

quality of life, mental wellbeing and self-efficacy. 

l Amongst those who lost weight, the average weight loss was 

7.5lbs (3.4kg) - one in four had lost a clinically significant 

amount. 

l There were significant reductions in the prevalence of 

obesity (62.9% vs 58.0%) and high blood pressure (27.5% 

vs 16.7%). 

l Physical activity had increased by an average of 105.6 

minutes per week at completion relative to the baseline 

levels; much of this increase was maintained at six months 

(85.2 minutes) and 12 months (61.3 minutes).

l The largest improvements tended to be seen in those with 

the ‘worst’ results at baseline - those with lowest self-rated 

health at baseline, with most need.

l Significant improvements in self-rated health & mental 

wellbeing were maintained. 

33

for life

Page 145



34

References
Alcohol concern. Alcohol and calories. 2010.  Available at:                    
http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/ woocommerce_
uploads/2015/02/Alcohol-and-calories-final.pdf

Bell, E.A., Rolls, B.J. Energy density of foods affects energy intake across 
multiple levels of fat content in lean and obese women. American Journal 
Clinical Nutrition, 2001. 73, pp. 1010-1018.

Bloom. S. Hormonal Regulation of Appetite. Short Science Review. 
Foresight Tackling Obesities: Future Choices. Obesity Reviews, 2007. 8 
(s1): 67-72.  Available at: http://www.foresight.gov.uk

British Heart Foundation. Portion Distortion report 2013. Available from: 
https://www.bhf.org.uk/publications/policy- documents/portion-distortion-
report-2013

Buck D, Frosini F. Clustering of unhealthy behaviours over time 
Implications for policy and practice. 2012.  Available from:  http://www.
kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/clustering-of-
unhealthy-behaviours-over-time-aug-2012.pdf

Data.Gov.UK. Health Survey for England. https://data.gov.uk/dataset/
health_survey_for_england

Department of Health. Childhood Obesity: a Plan for Action. (2016) 
(updated 2017). https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-
obesity-a-plan-for-action#history

Department of Health. Healthy Lives Healthy People. 2011. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/213720/dh_130487.pdf

Diabetes UK, 2015. Diabetes: Facts and Stats [online]. Available from: 
<https://www.diabetes.org.uk/Documents/Position%20statements/
Facts%20and%20stats%20June%202015.pdf

Drewnowski, A., Specter, S.E. Poverty and obesity: the role of energy 
density and energy costs. American Journal Clinical Nutrition, 2004. 79, 
pp. 6-16.

Drewnowski, A., Darmon, N., The economics of obesity: dietary energy 
density and energy cost. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2005. 
82(suppl), pp. 265S-273S.

Drewnowski, A., 2004. Obesity and the Food Environment Dietary Energy 
Density and Diet Costs. American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 2004. 
27, pp. 154-162.

Durham County Council. Obesity an issue too big ignore … or too big to 
mention? (2015) Report of the Director of Public Health County Durham 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s61899/Public%20
Health%20Annual%20Report%202015%20FINAL.pdf

Durham County Council. Work and You. 2016/17 Director of Public 
Health Annual Report. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/
Work-and-you-Director-of-Public-Health-annual-report-2016-17/pdf/
PublicHealthAnnualReport2016-17.pdf

Durham County Council. Healthy weight strategic framework for County 
Durham 2014 – 2020. 

Durham University. The HYPER! (Hearing Young People’s Views on 
Energy Drinks: Research) Study. (internet). Available from:  https://www.
dur.ac.uk/public.health/projects/current/hyper/

Erikkson, J., Forsen, T., Osmond, C. and Barker, D. 2003. Obesity from 
Cradle to Grave. International Journal of Obesity. 2003. 27:722-727

European Food Information Council. Stress and food intake.(internet) 
2016. Available from: 
http://www.eufic.org/article/en/artid/Stress_and_food_intake/

Gatineau M, Dent M. Obesity and Mental Health. Oxford: National Obesity 
Observatory. 2011.  Available at: http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/
vid_10266_Obesity%20and%20mental%20health_FINAL_070311_MG.pdf

Government Office for Science. Foresight Tackling Obesities: Future 
Choices - Project report. [internet]. 2007. Available from:  
http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/foresight/docs/obesity/17.pdf

Grimm ER, Steinle NI. Genetics of Eating Behavior: Established and 
Emerging Concepts. Nutrition reviews. 2011;69(1):52-60.

Harvey S, N. Glozier N, Carlton O. Mykletun A, Henderson M, Hotop M, 
Holland-Elliott K. Obesity and sickness absence: results from the CHAP 
study. Occupational Medicine. 2010. 60,5:362-368

Health & Social Care Information Centre. Health Survey 
for England – 2014: Trend tables. 2014. Available from:                                                 
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB16077.

Health & Social Care Information Centre. National Child Measurement 
Programme data source: Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
Available from: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/ncmp

House of Commons Health Committee.  Childhood obesity – brave and 
bold action. First report of Session 2015 – 2016. The Stationary Office: 
London 

H M Government Health and Social Care Act 2012
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/pdfs/ukpga_20120007_en.pdf

Jones NRV, Conklin Al, Suhrcke M, Monsivais P. The growing Price gap 
between More and Less Healthy Foods: Analysis of a Novel Longitudinal 
UK Dataset. PLoS ONE 2014. 9 (10). 

Lang, T. and Rayner, G. Overcoming policy cacophony on obesity: an 
ecological public health framework for policymakers. Obesity Reviews, 
2007. 8: 165-181

Leeds Beckett University – A Whole Systems Approach to Tackle Obesity. 
(2017)  http://www.leedsbeckett.ac.uk/wholesystemsobesity/

Leiber CS. Alcohol: Its Metabolism and Interaction With Nutrients.’ Annual 
Review of Nutrition Vol. 20: 395-430, July 2000.  Available at: http://www.
annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annur ev.nutr.20.1.395

Lim SS et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and 
injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 
1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 
2010. Lancet; 2012.

Liverpool Public Health Observatory Wellness Services – Evidence 
based review and examples of good practice. 2010. Available from:                 
http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=105856

Local Government Association. Healthy weight, healthy futures: local 
government action to tackle childhood obesity (2016) Local Government 
Association: London

Local Government Association & Public Health England. Building the 
foundations:  Tackling obesity through planning and development (2016). 
LGA: London 

London Food Board & Chartered Institute of Environmental Health.  Mayor 
of London Takeaways Toolkit. 2012. Chartered Institute of Environmental 
Health: London.

Page 146



McCormack, B. and Stone, I. Economic Costs of Obesity and the Case 
for Government Intervention. Short Science Review. Foresight Tackling 
Obesities: Future Choices. Obesity Reviews, 2007. 8(s1):161–164        
(http://www.foresight.gov.uk).

Milsom KM, Tickle M, Blinkhorn A S. Dental pain Journal Oral Science 
[Internet]. 2015; 123(2):88–95. Available from: http://doi.wiley.
com/10.1111/eos.12166

Monsivais, P., Drewnowski, A. The Rising Cost of Low-Energy-density 
Foods. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 2007. 107, (12), pp. 
2071-2076.

Moynihan PJ, Kelly SAM. Effect on caries of Restricting Sugars 
Intake: Systematic Review to Inform WHO Guidelines. Journal 
Dental Res [Internet]. 2014 Jan;93(1):8-18. Available from:                                        
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24323509

MorengaL Te, Mallard S, Mann J. Dietary sugars and body weight: 
systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials and 
cohort studies. BMJ [Internet]. 2013;7492 (January):1–25. Available from: 
http://www.bmj.com/content/346/ bmj.e7492?view=long&pmid=23321486

National Audit Office. Tackling Obesity in England. 2001. London: The 
Stationery Office.

NatCen British Social Attitudes Survey 33, Public health England Attitudes 
to Obesity. Findings from the 2015 British Social Attitudes survey.          
http://www.bsa.natcen.ac.uk/media/39132/attitudes-to-obesity.pdf

National Diet and Nutrition Survey 2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/national-diet-and-nutrition-survey-results-from-years-1-to-4-
combined-of-the-rolling-programme-for-2008-and-2009-to-2011-and-2012

Morris, S. Body Mass Index and Occupational Attainment. Journal of 
Health Economics, 2006. 25:347-364.

National Institute for Care and Health Excellence, Workplace health. NICE 
advice[LGB2] July 2012

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence NICE. Clinical 
Guidance: Obesity: identification, assessment and management. (2014)                   
nice.org.uk/guidance/cg189

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence NICE. Public Health 
Guideline: weight management lifestyle services for overweight or obese 
children and young people (2013) nice.org.uk/guidance/ph47

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Preventing obesity and 
helping people to manage their weight. NICE advice [LGB9] 2013.

National Obesity Observatory. Why invest in obesity. 2015 . Available 
from: https://www.noo.org.uk/slide_sets

National Obesity Observatory. Adult Obesity and Socioeconomic Status. 
2010. Available from: http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_7929_
Adult%20Socioeco%20Data%20Briefing%20October%202010.pdf

National Obesity Observatory. Child Diet Factsheet. 2012. Available 
from: http://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/ 160215_1143//Child-
dietfactsheetDec2015.pdf

National Obesity Observatory. Knowledge and attitudes towards healthy 
eating and physical activity: what the data tell us. 2011. Available at: 
http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/doc/vid_11171_Attitudes.pdf

National Obesity Observatory. Obesity and alcohol: an overview. 2012.  
Available at: http://www.noo.org.uk/uploads/ doc/vid_14627_Obesity_
and_alcohol.pdf

Nawrot P, et al . Effects of caffeine on human health. Food Additives and 
Contaminants, 20: 1-30. 2003

NHS Choices. (internet). 2015 ; Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/
conditions/obesity/pages/introduction.aspx

Nomisma-Arete Consortium. External scientific report. Gathering 
consumption data on specific consumer groups of energy drinks. 
European Food Safety Authority: Parma, Italy. 2013

Oddy W, O’Sullivan T. Energy drinks for children and adolescents.         
BMJ, 340: 64. 2009

Pan L, Sherry B, Park S, Blanck HM. The association of obesity and 
school absenteeism attributed to illness or injury among adolescents in 
the United States, 2009. Adolescent Health. 2013 Jan;52(1):64-9.

PANSI, 2014. Diabetes [online]. Available 
from: http://www.pansi.org.uk/index.

35
Page 147



Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

publichealth@durham.gov.uk

42108

Page 148



 

 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the 

forthcoming presentation on the Prevention at Scale Work. Gordon Elliott will 
deliver a presentation to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 25 
January 2018. 

 
Background 

 
2 The County Durham Partnership agreed in late 2016 to focus on prevention 

and investigate how the work of all partner organisations and thematic 
partnerships is contributing to this area of work.  
 

3 Alongside this, Durham was successfully awarded one of 15 national pilot 

areas for the LGA Prevention at Scale offer. This provides 20 days of a support 

manager and expert advice and support to a local area to deliver at scale a 

preventative approach for a particular area of specific focus which will result in 

a significant change in health outcomes for local people. The focus in Durham 

will be Mental Health. 

 
Recommendations 
  
4 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 
a) Receive the forthcoming presentation at the HWB meeting on 25 

January 2018. 
 

Contact:  Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement 
Tel:                03000 263605 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Prevention at Scale 
 

 
 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director Adults and Health Services,  
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health and Gordon Elliott, Head of 
Partnerships and Community Engagement, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council  

Page 149

Agenda Item 11



 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Implications 

 
Finance  
None 
 
Staffing 
None 
 
Risk 
None 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 
 
Accommodation 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None 
 
Human Rights 
None 
 
Consultation 
None 
 
Procurement 
None 
 
Disability Issues 
None 
 
Legal Implications 
None 
 
 

Page 150



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
Fast Track Plan - Transforming Care for 
People with a Learning Disability 
 

 

 
 

Report of Donna Owens, Commissioning and Delivery Manager, 

NHS North Durham CCG & NHS Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG   

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on the 
Transforming Care Programme and local implementation. 

Background 

2 Following the Winterbourne View scandal a national programme was 
launched aimed at reducing reliance on long stay learning disability hospitals. 
In 2015 NHS England announced that the North East and Cumbria would be 
one of five national Fast Track areas for Transforming Care for people with a 
learning disability. The programme would be all age and would also develop 
to include people with Autism. 

3 Since 2015 work has been undertaken to understand the current picture in 
relation to learning disabilities in the North East and Cumbria – a significant 
amount of work has been done to map out the system and its stakeholders. 

4 The focus for the North East and Cumbria has been on reducing reliance on 
in-patient beds, and increasing community based capabilities, the aims being: 

 Less reliance on in-patient admissions. 

 Developing community alternatives. 

 Prevention and support to avoid crisis. 

 Better management of crisis when it happens. 

 Better, more fulfilled lives. 

 
5 A transformation plan was developed across the North East and Cumbria 

which identified that by improving community infrastructure, supporting the 
workforce and avoiding crisis by focusing on earlier intervention and 
prevention, the area would be able to support people in the community more 
effectively thus avoiding the need for hospital admission.   

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



6 The plan focuses on a systematic reduction and closure of learning disability 
assessment and treatment beds over the five years to March 2019. 

7 The Transforming Care Programme highlights the importance of local 
partnership working between commissioners. 

Progress 

8 Following the launch of the national plan (Building the Right Support) and 
subsequent roll out in 2016/17, The North East and Cumbria received an 
additional £1.2M of national transformation funding to support local delivery of 
its plan.  A number of key developments and achievement which should be 
acknowledged. These include: 

 Workforce - the production of the Workforce Strategy; establishment of 
the Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) hub and Leadership Training 
Programme(s), accompanied by a comprehensive work plan. 

 A Community Model/Framework published, with nine Local 
Implementation Groups (LIGs) confirming their existing local operating 
model and future vision. 

 The Secure Outreach Team (SOTT) specification was agreed and the 
commissioning of this service initiated by NHS England specialised 
commissioning.   

 Rethinking advocacy project has concluded with learning and 
outcomes utilised to inform the next steps of reshaping advocacy at 
local level. 

9 The Programme has demonstrated positive progress against delivery of its 
local plan through achievement of planned trajectories and bed closures. It is 
however acknowledged that there remains a lot of work to do which will 
require a more collaborative approach. On this basis a South of the Region 
Implementation Group has been established covering Durham, Darlington and 
Teesside. This Implementation Group is overseen by an executive Hub 
chaired jointly by a Local Authority Director of Social Care and a CCG Director 
with senior membership from partners including Tees Esk and Wear Valley 
Trust and the Independent Sector.   

10 A delivery plan has been produced which focuses on three key areas for 
development, to build upon the progress already achieved locally: 

 Crisis Care and Early Intervention  

 Workforce Development  

 Coproduction and Culture 

 

Page 152



11 We know that people can be effectively supported to live as independently as 
possible in mainstream housing, or supported housing in the community, 
without creating institutional models of housing and care. The national service 
model states that people should be supported to live as independently as 
possible in settled accommodation in the community, rather than living long-
term in institutionalised settings. 
 

12 One of our collective ambitions is to significantly increase housing options and 
choices for people that also support person centered care and positive 
support approaches. Working together we have identified inpatients through 
Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) who will be discharged within the next 
two years and we are progressing plans to enable timely discharges. Critical 
to success is housing and accommodation, which must be available and 
responsive to local needs, accompanied by personalised care and support 
arrangements.  
  

13 To support our joint commissioning ambitions a number of local developments 
have been progressed incorporating innovative design and coproduction 
based on the identified needs of people who are either inpatients currently or 
whose needs and potential are not being met fully in the community. These 
developments represent a crucial response to the needs of people whose 
needs may be challenging to existing provision and whose quality of life can 
be greatly enhanced.    
 

14 A number of discharges have been enabled through the joint working between 
Health and Social Care Commissioners, ensuring that people are supported 
to live safely and with appropriate support within the community. This work 
has also included examples of innovative ways of supporting people to 
prevent an unnecessary admission to hospital.  
 

15 An example of how the creative use of safe space/time out accommodation 
has been used successfully in Durham is outlined below: 

 

George was living in a residential care home. One Friday afternoon he 
reached a point of crisis and assaulted a member of staff. It was possible that 
criminal charges would be pressed, and he needed a place of safety over the 
weekend.  
George spent a month in the time out service, where he was given intensive 
support from the multi-disciplinary team. After a month he was ready to move 
on. He was fully involved in the decision about where he would live and he is 
now living in a much more suitable home, he has his own flat. He is doing 
well, and is no longer considered to be ‘at risk’ on the joint Local Authority and 
CCG Dynamic Risk Register. 

 
16 CCGs continue to provide weekly assurance updates to NHS England and 

partners in relation to the patients that are currently being supported within 
inpatient settings. A summary of the achieved and planned discharges is set 
out below.  
 
 

Page 153



  Total inpatients and planned discharges  
 

CCG Total inpatients as at 
Nov 17 

Discharges  

Achieved Planned 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

 CCG NHS 
Specialised 
Commissioning 
(SC) 

CCG SC CCG SC CCG SC CCG SC 

DDES 4 9 5 2 4 0 1 0 1 1 

North 
Durham 

4 13 4 4 3 0 1 0 0 3 

Total 8 22  9  6  7 0  2  0 1 4 
 

 
Financial Update 
 
17 A financial workstream is in place across the region with membership from 

local authorities and CCGs. This group have been developing financial 
models based on the current and forecasted spend to determine the impact of 
developing community based care and ensure that this does not  
disproportionality impact on either partner.     
    

18 NHS England has offered non-recurrent transition funding to support the 
Learning Disabilities Transformation Programme and achievement of targets 
for 2017/18 and 2018/19.  The Learning Disability Executive Steering Group 
has agreed that this transition funding should be held by Local Authorities who 
will host the funds on behalf of their Collaborative Commissioning Hub who 
will determine and agree exactly how funds will be used.  
 

19 The proposals that have been developed and submitted for funding for the 
South Hub are:  

 
Proposal Full Cost (includes match funding)  

1 Intensive In Reach Support 
(Durham/Darlington/Tees) 

£450,000 

2 Life Designs Development including 
Co-production and Culture 
(Durham/Darlington/Tees) 

£25,000 (non-recurrent) 

3 Discharge Co-ordinator/s 
(Durham/Darlington/Tees) 

£70,000 

4 Time Out Accommodation – Tees  £29,000 

5 Time Out Accommodation – 
Durham - accommodation retainer 

£26,000 

 TOTAL £600 

 
20 The allocation this year is £832,000 and next year £1,070,00. £300,000 has 

been allocated for the South of the Region Hub, of which Durham Council are 
partners. Capital funding is also being made available nationally. £250,000 
has been identified within plans for both North Durham CCG and DDES CCG. 
A submission has been made to this fund for the Durham area to support the 
development of a further safe space accommodation model. 

Page 154



 
21 Partners are being supported to develop capital submissions, particularly in 

relation to children and young people and with a focus on preventing 
avoidable admissions and supporting people through to adulthood. 

 
Recommendations  

 

22 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the content of the report and local progress 

(b) Continue to support the collaborative development of new models of 
community care and support for this client group 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board Sponsor: Nicola Bailey 
 
Contact:  Donna Owens - Commissioning and Delivery Manager, 
NHS North Durham CCG & NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
CCG   
Tel: 0191 3744168 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



 

 
 

Finance: Increased resources required to support people in the community. Cost 
pressures have been identified for both CCGs and Local Authorities.  
 
Staffing. None specific to this paper. Workforce planning is being undertaken across 
the Region 
 
Risk Failure to develop the community infrastructure will result in people not being 
supported effectively in the community and at risk of being admitted unnecessarily to 
inpatient provision or to out of area accommodation 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty None specific to this paper. 
 
Accommodation. New models of community based housing and support are 
required to deliver the Transformation Programme. 
 
Crime and Disorder None specific to this report 
 
Human Rights None Specific to this report 
 
Consultation None specific to this report 
 
Procurement New models of community based housing and support are required to 
deliver the Transformation Programme. 
 
Disability Issues Improving provision and choice for people with a learning disability 
and/or Autism 
 
Legal Implications None specific to the report 
 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 156



 

 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
25 January 2018 
 
North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group, and Tees Esk Wear Valley NHS 
Foundation Trust – Partnership for 
Learning Disabilities and Mental Health 
 

 

 
 

Report of Mike Brierley, Director of Corporate Programmes, 
Operations and Delivery, NHS North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 
progress of the development of the Accountable Care Partnership (ACP) for 
Learning Disabilities (Health funded). 

Background 

2 The ACP has been in development since April 2017. All five Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in Durham, Darlington and Tees are signed 
up to the first phase of the development for Learning Disabilities.   

3 The ACP has been developed as a system wide response to the following key 
areas for concern: 

 Lack of assurance on quality. 

 Need to bring together the expertise –for our most complex people. 

 Need to get it right for the future. 

 Emptying beds but not checking back. 

 Pressure to deliver transforming care requirements (enhanced high 
cost community services). 

 Fragmented system (multiple providers, multiple commissioners). 

 Challenge to deliver system transformation in context of above. 

 Escalating cost pressures in Learning Disabilities (LD) (Continuing 
Healthcare (CHC), Individual Packages of Care (IPOCs), sec 117s). 

 Mental Health five year FV drive for greater transformation and 
integration. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 13



 

 

 

4 The initial scope of the ACP in the first year is initially LD Specialist Packages 
of Care, CHC/117/Joint Packages (NHS funding).  Future scope of the ACP 
could include all mental health and learning disability provision. 

5 Three key workstreams are in place to manage the delivery of the ACP; Case 
Management, Quality & Contract Management and Finance. 

6 Case Management - The number of cases in the initial scope is 63. 41 of the 
63 planned cases have been reviewed. Out of the 63 planned cases, three 
have now been removed; one was removed due to it not being funded by 
local CCGs, the other two were removed as they have a primary diagnosis of 
mental health (a predominant diagnosis of autism which is not a learning 
disability).  A total of 41 out of the remaining 59 reviews have been 
completed, with a view to all cases being reviewed by mid-November. 

7 Key findings from the reviews have been: 

(a) Family members of the individual patient cases had raised concerns 
about moving an individual on from where they currently reside (out of 
area placements). Conversations have begun to provide reassurance 
to the individual concerned and their family/advocates. One positive 
example given was that Case Management had helped a family 
understand that the original set up was right at the time of the care 
package being put in place, but on review needs to change for the 
individual’s best interest, which is a positive outcome. 

(b) 8 out of the 41 have had positive placements without any issues. 

(c) 10 cases requiring action around care provision. 

(d) 2 cases around safeguarding actions. 

(e) 5 cases around medication changes. 

(f) 16 cases around care plan adjustments. 

(g) 5 cases requiring physical health changes. 

(h) 2 cases with Deprivation of Liberty issues raised. 

(i) 3 cases having a court of protection issue. 

(j) 1 case having a guardianship issue. 

(k) 15 packages require alternative care or more independence, however, 
currently the process isn’t there to progress this. 

8 There remains a lack of clarity around processes and finance around 
continuing healthcare and related packages (joint, section 117). This could be 
a significant risk and therefore requires further understanding and work to be 
done. 

 

Page 158



 

 

 

9 The Contract Management Workstream has a plan focussed on five key 
areas: 

(a)  Setting up a contract register identifying all providers delivering 
 learning disability services.  
 

(b)  Evaluating the quality of the contracts currently in place, ensuring they 
 are up to the expected standard and split by provider. 
 

(c)  Establishing strong working relationships between Provider 
 Management and Case Management.  
 

(d)  Gaining an understanding of the reporting mechanisms in place with 
 providers at present, how these are monitored and ensure 
 improvements is made if required. 
 

(e)  Establishing an assurance framework and reporting process.  

10 The Contract Management Workstream is currently focussed on 
understanding the CHC contracting process, some key issues highlighted to 
date are: 

(a)  Providers were identified and circa 400 individual contracts in place 
 due to locality arrangements. This needs to be addressed by reducing 
 the number of contracts on a ‘one contract per provider’ basis.   
 

(b)  The volume of contracts with lack of resource means the full 
 contractual process cannot be carried out (monitoring).   
 

(c)  Service specifications within the contracts are not split by mental health 
 or learning disabilities, but instead split by residential and domiciliary.   
 

(d)  It is evident that financial links are lacking. As a result, there are no 
 contractual levers.  
 

(e)  There is a lack of interaction between the CHC contracting team and 
 the CHC locality managers/team. 

11 The Provider forum that has been established has been expanded from 
including just the providers involved in the original scope to providers who are 
linked into the broader local authority provider forums. 

12 A scoping exercise around the Section 256/76 agreements will take place at 
the next Contract Workstream meeting. 

13 The Finance workstream is currently attempting to get clarity on a budget date 
transfer. A key risk remains around the level of which Tees Esk Wear Valley 
Foundation Trust (TEWV) as lead partner for the ACP will be able to mitigate 
future financial pressures. Growth/risk-share proposals for learning disability 
budgets have been developed and the ACP Board have approved the sign off 
for wave 1 – the ring-fence. There are differing opinions of what level of 

Page 159



 

 

 

budget should be in for CHC (Mental Health (MH)/LD/Physical Disability (PD)) 
across CCGs. This is to be monitored closely across 2017/18 then establish a 
budget in Jan/Feb for 2018/19 based on the 2017/18 forecast outturn. All five 
CCGs have signed up to this approach.  

14 The ACP Board recommended that people in transitions will form part of the 
next wave/phase for the ACP.  It is noted that that there are different 
arrangements in differing local authorities regarding what is considered the 
age group classified as, in transition, as well as other complications. The ACP 
Operational Group is tasked with working through and identifying the key 
issues with transitions, inform on local variances, and understand what is 
available at present.   

15 Benefits measures - given the incremental development of the ACP it was not 
possible to agree on programme benefits before operational work 
commenced. As the Adult Learning Disabilities operational work has been 
undertaken it has become possible to discern the likely positive impacts of the 
emerging case review, contract review and other work. Key measures have 
also been developed and agreed for each of the outcome areas. The logic 
model is shown in Appendix 2. 

Recommendations  

16 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a)  Note the progress of the ACP, with particular focus on the outputs of 

 the workstreams and outcomes of the case review process to date. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board sponsor: Nicola Bailey 
 
Contact:  Mike Brierley, Director of Corporate Programmes, Operations & 
Delivery, NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  
Tel: 0191 374 4175         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – None 

 

Staffing – Resources will be mapped from commissioner (including commissioning 
support services) and provider staff. 

 

Risk – All risks are managed by the ACP board. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – None  

 

Accommodation – None 

 

Crime and Disorder – None 

 

Human Rights – N/A 

 

Consultation – N/A 

 

Procurement – N/A 

 

Disability Issues – N/A 

 

Legal Implications – All contracts will remain with the CCGs.

Page 161



 

 

 

Accountable Care Partnership Logic Model 
 
INPUTS/ACTIONS   OUTPUTS        OUTCOMES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improved 
clinical 

outcomes 

Increased level of 
staff training 

Improved safety 

Improved 
service user and 

carer 
experience 

Reduced 
placement 
breakdown 

Improved Value 
for Money 

Increased service 
user coproduction 
(including via 
advocates / carers) 
including Carers 
Assessments and 
care plans. 

Improved 
contracting and 

contract monitoring 
Reduced DoLS 
legal fees and 

fines 

More frequent and 
clinically informed 
placement reviews 

RPIWs 

Review Panel with 
clinical 

representation 

Contract 
monitoring visits to 

providers 

Clarify recipients of 
ALD NHS, CHC 

and S117 
packages and 

spend on these 

Advocacy 

Page 162


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2017
	6 Local Maternity System Prevention Priorities - Report and Presentation of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	7 Area Action Partnership Links - 6 Month Update Report - Report of Area Action Partnership Co-ordinator, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	8 Healthy Child Programme Board Update -  Report and Presentation of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	9 Health Protection Assurance 2017/18 - Joint Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council, Deputy Director of Health Protection, North East Public Health England and Consultant  in Health Protection, North East Public Health England
	Appendix 3 Health Protection Dashboard HCAIs
	Appendix 3 Health Protection Dashboard Standard Group
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 4 - Annual Report 2016-17
	Protecting the population of the North East from communicable disease and other hazards
	Annual Report 2016/17
	About Public Health England
	www.gov.uk/phe
	Follow us on Twitter @PHE_uk
	Content
	Foreword
	1 Introduction
	1.1 This report
	1.2 Health protection arrangements
	1.3 Field Epidemiology Services
	1.4 The PHE Public Health Laboratory Service in Newcastle upon Tyne and York
	1.5 Education and Training
	1.6 Delivering health protection

	2 Prevention – communicable disease
	2.1 Immunisation and vaccine-preventable diseases
	2.2 Planning

	3 Surveillance – communicable disease
	3.1 Data flows
	3.2 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI) surveillance
	3.3 Surveillance of sexually transmitted infections (STIs)
	3.4 Surveillance of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD)

	4 Control – specific diseases
	4.1 Meningococcal meningitis and septicaemia
	4.2 Invasive Group A streptococcal disease (iGAS) and scarlet fever
	4.3 Gastrointestinal infections including food poisoning
	4.4 Influenza
	4.5 Surveillance of sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and HIV
	4.6 Hepatitis B and C infections
	4.8 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease (IPD)
	4.9 Healthcare associated infection (HCAI)
	4.10 Antimicrobial Resistance
	5.7 Overview
	5.8 Numbers and types of incidents
	5.9 Hospital incidents/outbreaks
	5.10 Gastrointestinal illness in care homes
	5.11 Overview of gastrointestinal infectious disease outbreaks

	6 Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR)
	7 Communications team
	8 Environmental issues
	9 Improving the quality of health protection services
	10.2 Audits undertaken by the Health Protection Team
	10.3 Research and Development

	Appendix 1:  Notifications and other Reports of Infectious Disease in North East residents in 2016

	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 5 - Health Protection Plan on a page

	10 Working Towards a Healthy Weight in County Durham - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 10 - Appendix 2 - Healthy weight in County Durham booklet

	11 Prevention at Scale - Joint Report and Presentation of Corporate Director Adults and Health Services and Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, Transformation & Partnerships, Durham County Council
	12 Fast Track Plan - Transforming Care for People with a Learning Disability - Report of Commissioning and Delivery Manager, NHS North Durham CCG & NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 	<br/>
	13 North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group and Tees Esk Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust - Partnership for Learning Disabilities and Mental Health -Report of  Director of Corporate Programmes, Operations and Delivery, NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

